
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: June 14, 2022, City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer, Alaska 
Regular City Council Meeting 

June 14, 2022, at 6:00 PM 
City Council Chambers 

231 W. Evergreen Avenue, Palmer 
www.palmerak.org 

AGENDA 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. ROLL CALL

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
1. Approval of Consent Agenda

a) Action Memorandum No. 22-033: Direct the City Manager to Engage a Cooperative
Services Agreement for Limited Fire Dispatch Services

b) Action Memorandum No. 22-036: Accepting Board Member Josh Tudor’s Resignation
from the Planning and Zoning Commission

c) Introduction and set public hearing date of June 28, 2022, for Ordinance No. 22-003,
Amending the Palmer Municipal Code, Title 4, Section 4.30.070 to Allow for Cancellation of
Approved Leave to Address Resignations Submitted After Leave is Approved

d) Introduction and set public hearing date of June 28, 2022, for Ordinance No. 22-004,
Amending the Palmer Municipal Code 2.04.031 and 2.05.020, Pertaining to Eligibility of
Council Members and the Mayor

2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings
a) May 24, 2022, Regular Meeting Minutes

E. COMMUNICATIONS AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS
1. Scottish Highland Games Presentation – Jeni McDaniel

F. REPORTS
1. City Manager’s Report
2. Mayor’s Report
3. City Clerk’s Report
4. City Attorney’s Report

 Executive Session Overview

G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

H. PUBLIC HEARINGS
1. Resolution No. 22-018, Recognizing Governor Dunleavy, the Alaska Department of

Transportation & Public Facilities, and the Matanuska-Susitna Borough for Vital Traffic and Safety
Improvement that Enhances Our Community

2. Resolution No. 22-019, Recognizing Governor Dunleavy’s Budgetary Support for the Wastewater
Treatment Facility

Mayor Steven J. Carrington 
Deputy Mayor Pamela Melin 
Council Member Richard W. Best 
Council Member Carolina Anzilotti 
Council Member John Alcantra 
Council Member Thomas Ojala IV 
Council Member Joshua Tudor 

City Manager John Moosey 
City Clerk Shelly M. Acteson, CMC 
City Attorney Sarah Heath, Esq. 

1

(Page 3)

(Page 11)

(Page 15)

(Page 19)

(Page 23)

(Page 27)

(Page 29)

(Page 33)



__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska: June 14, 2022, City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 2 of 2 

I. ACTION MEMORANDA
1. Action Memorandum No. 22-034, Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of the

City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection of the Liquor License Renewal of Fred Mayer Store #649,
License #4366

2. Action Memorandum No. 22-035, IT Support Services RFP Award
3. Action Memorandum No. 22-037, Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of the

City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection to Change of Controlling Interest in, Connoisseur Lounge,
LLC Located at 226 West Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2 Marijuana License #27522

J. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

K. NEW BUSINESS

L. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE

M. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

N. EXECUTIVE SESSION – Subjects That Tends to Prejudice the Reputation and Character of
Any Person – City Manager Evaluation ( Note: Action may be taken following the Executive
Session)

O. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS

P. ADJOURNMENT

Tentative Future Palmer City Council Meetings 

Meeting 
Date 

Meeting 
Type Time Notes 

Jun 28 Regular 6 pm 
July 12 Regular 6 pm 
July 26 Regular 6 pm 
August 9 Regular 6 pm 
August 23 Regular 6 pm 
Sept. 13 Regular 6 pm 
Sept. 27 Regular 6 pm 

2

(Page 37)
(Page 51)

(Page 71)



City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 22-033 

 
Subject:  Direct the City Manager to engage a Cooperative Services Agreement for Limited Fire Dispatch 
Services. 
 
Agenda of: June 14, 2022 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: John Moosey, City Manager 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 13,087 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
√ Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 13,087 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
√ Budgeted Line item(s): 01-13-10-6030 
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

3



Attachment(s):  
1.  Cooperative Services Agreement  

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 

The current infrastructure communications network for fire services is and has been problematic.  Essentially 
instant coordination between emergency personnel is not occurring, not by the fault of personnel but system 
configuration. Attempts have been made to resolve this issue within the City of Palmer without necessary 
success. 
The agreement between the City of Wasilla and the City of Palmer, because of the communication system, 
will eliminate this safety conundrum. The contract is for fixed $13,087 annually is for a five-year 
period.  This contract can be terminated by either party with a 180-day written notice. This expense for 
2022 will be handled within the Fire Department budget as previously approved. 

 
Administration’s Recommendation:   
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 22-033. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

4



COOPERATIVE SERVICES AGREEMENT 
Between the 

CITY OF WASILLA and the CITY OF PALMER 
For 

DISPATCH SERVICES 
 
 

A. DEFINITIONS/PURPOSE 

1. Definitions in this Agreement: 

b. “Wasilla” means the City of Wasilla 
c. “Palmer” means the City of Palmer 
d. “parties” means Wasilla and Palmer 
e. “Dispatch Center” means the communications center located in the Matcom 

Department building at 1800 E. Parks Hwy.  

2. Purpose 

This agreement is entered into between the parties to set out the terms and 
conditions under which Wasilla will provide dispatch services for Palmer. The 
Agreement covers operations, staffing, cost allocations, and funding provisions for 
the dispatch center. 

B. TERM 

The term of the Agreement shall be effective upon date of last signature obtained,  thru 
June 30, 2027, subject to the termination provisions of Section L.  

C. SERVICES PROVIDED BY WASILLA 
 

Wasilla shall provide the following services to Palmer and shall pay those costs 
associated there with out of funds derived under this Agreement: 

 
1. Twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week, E911 telephone answering (call-

taking) and dispatching services, including the in-house telephone switch, 
telephone equipment, and devices to include all incoming trunk lines, direct 
inward dialing (DID) lines, broadband internet services, and facsimile (FAX) 
lines not associated with the Enhanced 911 network (E-911). 

 
2. The dispatch facility shall be secure and provided for adequate protection 

against structural breech or compromise, either by natural forces or 
manmade. Additionally, the facility will have adequate space and power 
requirements to fulfill these services and have a back-up power source to 
ensure uninterrupted services. 

 
3. Radio or telephone dispatching of emergency and non-emergency requests for 

services of Palmer Fire Department. The services provided by Palmer Fire 
Department include but are not limited to: 
a. Fire Services – Dispatch for Palmer Fire Department; 
b. Incident Management Team (IMT) – Dispatch of the IMT during a disaster 

situation. 

 

MatCom 
Dispatch 

City of Wasilla 
 

1800 E. Parks Hwy. 
Wasilla, AK  99654 

 
Phone: 907.352.5401 
Fax: 907.357.7877 

www.cityofwasilla.com 
 

 
 

Glenda Ledford 
Mayor 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

MatCom Public Safety 
Dispatch 

 
 

Jacob Butcher 
Communications 

Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5

http://www.cityofwasilla.com/


 
4. Accurate recording and logging of incoming and outgoing emergency calls, 

non-emergency requests for services, and to provide to Palmer such records 
of those calls as Palmer deems necessary. 

 
5. To provide the above services in a manner that does not discriminate based 

on callers, but which may prioritize based on the nature of the call. 
 

 
6. Wasilla shall provide adequate training to the dispatchers to assure their 

proper and competent performance under this Agreement. Such training shall, 
at a minimum, include the following, and all dispatchers shall receive 
instruction or confirmation of proficiency in the following: 

 
a. Basic telephone answering including all functions of the dispatch center 

telephone system; 
b. Use of the computer-aided dispatch (CAD) system(s); 
c. Dispatch Center Policy and Procedures Manual; 
d. Knowledge of Palmer, including the contacts and chain of command of 

Palmer; 
e. Knowledge of the city and community boundaries in the Borough; 
f. CPR, including annual refresher courses as required; 
g. Use of the computer-aided dispatch system and protocols,  
h. U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) Hazardous Materials Reference 

Guide; and 
i. Use of Enhanced 911 (E-911) software and system. 

 
7. Wasilla shall provide reports (including year-to-date totals) to Palmer on an as-

needed basis, to include but not limited to: 
 

a. Total Calls – a report of all calls dispatched by type of service; 
b. Service Area Response Times – a 90% fractile time-formatted report for 

each type of service dispatched, for the following segments of dispatch: 
 

i. Time dispatched to time en-route; 
ii. Time en-route to time on-scene; 

iii. Time on-scene to the time clearing the scene; 
iv. Arrival time at hospital to time available for response; and 
v. Time clearing the scene to time in-quarters. 

vi. Copy of CAD calls with names of victims, witnesses, complaints, 
suspects, redacted for payroll and ANFIRS reasons as soon as the 
call is completed. 

vii. The City of Palmer will designate one person to request and receive 
these files to avoid unauthorized persons viewing and duplications. 
 

8. Wasilla shall coordinate with Palmer the release of dispatch information to the 
public (written documents, recordings of any phone and radio traffic, etc.) 

6



regarding any dispatch information involving Palmer assets. Wasilla shall 
release such items to Palmer upon request. 
 

D. RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES 
 
Wasilla shall perform its obligations pursuant to the terms of this Agreement as 
an independent contractor of Palmer. Palmer shall not supervise or direct Wasilla 
other than as provided in this section. 
 

E. NON-DISCRIMINATION 
 
In performing its duties and obligations under this Agreement, no party may 
discriminate against any person in violation of law.  
 

F. ALLOCATION OF COSTS 
 
Wasilla shall provide Palmer with Wasilla’s written estimates of the total costs of 
operating the dispatch center for the period of this contract. 
 

G. PAYMENTS 
 

1. Palmer agrees to pay to Wasilla for dispatch costs the amounts agreed to 
herein and under any extensions of this Agreement. 

 
2. Palmer shall pay Wasilla quarterly payments according to the following 

schedule: 
  
a. $3,271.75 no later than July 16 
b. $3,271.75 no later than Oct 16 
c. $3,271.75 no later than January 16 
d. $3,271.75 no later than April 16 
 

H. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE OF PARTIES 
 
Either party may terminate this Agreement at any time by giving written notice to 
the other parties of such termination, at least 180 days prior to the effective date 
of the termination. 
 
 

I. MODIFICATIONS TO THE AGREEMENT 
 
The parties may, from time to time, require changes to this Agreement. Such 
changes must be agreed to by all parties, in writing, prior to any change being 
implemented. Any such modifications or changes shall become a part of the 
Agreement.  
 

J. THIRD PARTY BENIFICIARY 
 

7



This Agreement is for the benefit of the parties only and not for the benefits of 
any third party. The parties understand and agree that to the maximum extent 
possible, all activities carried on hereunder concern the establishment, funding, 
use, operation, or maintenance of an enhanced 911 system or are activities 
associated with those actions, and thus receive the immunity provided under AS 
29.35.133 or AS 09.65.070 or both or any other law.  
 

K. ASSIGNMENT 
 
None of the parties to this Agreement shall assign an interest in this contract and 
shall not transfer any interest in the same without the prior written consent of all 
parties to this Agreement. 
 

L. EFFECT OF WAIVER 
 
The failure of any party at any time to enforce a provision of this Agreement shall 
in no way constitute a waiver of the provisions, nor in any way affect the validity 
of this Agreement or any part thereof or the right of any party thereafter to 
enforce each and every protection hereof.  
 

M. SEVERABILITY  
 
If any section or clause of this Agreement is held invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction or is otherwise invalid under the law, the remainder of this Agreement 
shall remain in full force and effect.  
 

N. GOVERNING LAW 
 
Any civil action arising from this contract shall be brought in the Superior Court 
for the Third Judicial District of Alaska at Palmer only. The law of the state of Alaska 
shall govern the rights and obligations of the parties. The common law rule of 
construction against the drafter does not apply to this Agreement. 
 

O.  INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
 
This Agreement is being executed by the parties following negotiations between 
them. It shall be construed according to the fair intent of the language as a whole, 
not for or against any party. The titles of sections in this Agreement are not to be 
construed as limitations or definitions but are for identification purposes only.  
 
NOTICES 
 
Any notice required pertaining to the subject matter of the contract shall be 
personally delivered or mailed by prepaid first class, registered, or certified mail 
to the following addresses: 
 

 To the City of Wasilla:  Copy to:         To the City of Palmer: 
 City of Wasilla   City of Wasilla         City of Palmer 

8



 Communications Manager Mayor          City Clerk 
 1800 East Parks Hwy.  290 E. Herning Avenue      __________________ 
 Wasilla, AK 99654  Wasilla, AK 99654        Palmer, AK 99654  
 

P. CAUSES BEYOND CONTROL 
 
In the event a party is prevented by a cause or causes beyond control of the party 
from performing any obligation under this Agreement, non-performance resulting 
from such cause or causes shall not be deemed to be a breach of contract which 
will render the party liable for damages or give rights to the cancellation of the 
contract for cause. However, if and when such cause or causes cease to prevent 
performance, the party shall exercise all reasonable diligence to resume and 
complete performance of the obligation with the lease practicable delay.  
 
The phrase “cause or causes beyond control,” as used in this section, means any 
one or more of the following causes which are not attributable to the fault or 
negligence of the party and which prevent the performance of the party: fire, 
explosions, acts of God, war, orders or law of duly constituted public authorities, 
and other major uncontrollable and unavoidable events, all of the foregoing which 
must actually prevent the party from performing the terms of the contract as set 
forth herein. Events which are peculiar to a party and would not prevent another 
similar party from performing including, but not limited to, financial difficulties are 
not causes beyond the control of the party.  
 

Q. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
 
This Instrument and all appendices and amendments hereto embody the entire 
agreement of the parties. There are no promises, terms, conditions, or obligations 
other than these contained herein, and this contract shall supersede all previous 
communications, representations, or agreements, either oral or written, between 
the parties.  
 

R. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
The parties acknowledge that they have read and understand the terms of this 
Agreement, have had the opportunity to review the same with counsel of their 
choice, and are executing this Agreement of their own free will.  
 

S. AMENDMENTS, MODIFICATIONS, AND SUPPLEMENTS 
 
The parties may mutually agree to modify the terms of the contract. Modifications 
to the contract shall be incorporated into the contract by duly signed, written 
amendments. 
 
 
 
CITY OF WASILLA 
 

9



 
           
Glenda Ledford, Mayor     Date 
 

 
STATE OF ALASKA ) 

    )SS 
 Third Judicial District ) 
 
   

 On    , 20 , Glenda Ledford, personally appeared before 
me, who is personally known to me to be the signer of the above document, and 
he acknowledged that he signed it. 

 

            
       NOTARY PUBLIC 
       My Commission expires:    

CITY OF PALMER 
 
 
           
_________________, Mayor     Date 
 

 
STATE OF ALASKA ) 

    )SS 
 Third Judicial District ) 
   

 On    , 20 , ___________________________ personally 
appeared before me, who is personally known to me to be the signer of the above 
document, and he acknowledged that he signed it. 

 

            
       NOTARY PUBLIC 
       My Commission expires:    

10



City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 22-036 

 
Subject:  Accepting Board Member Josh Tudor’s Resignation from the Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
Agenda of: June 14, 2022 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Name, Title 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 0.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

11



Attachment(s):  
1. Email from Josh Tudor 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
Palmer Charter Chapter II Section 2.9 requires the City Council to approve resignations by members of boards 
and commissions. 
 
Josh Tudor submitted his resignation on May 19, 2022. 
 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 22-036. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

12



13



14



City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 22-003 

 
Subject:  Amending the Palmer Municipal Code Title 4, Section 4.30.070 to allow for cancellation of approved 
leave to address resignations submitted after leave is approved. 
 
Agenda of: June 14, 2022 
 
Council Action: ☐ Adopted  ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: John Moosey, City Manager 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

15



Attachment(s): 
1. Ordinance No. 22-003 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The City of Palmer provides leave for full-time and part-time employees.   
 
Employees who submit resignations after the approval of extended periods of leave (more than 2 continuous 
weeks) or wish to have extended leave approved with no intention of returning to work (terminal leave), cause 
the City of Palmer to incur additional expenses including retirement, benefits and leave accrual costs and result 
in staffing shortages. 
 
Amending Title 4 to allow the City Manager to cancel and payout accrued leave for employees who resign either 
before, during or after leave is approved. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 22-003 
 
 

16



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance No. 22-003 
 
An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending the Palmer Municipal Code Title 4, Section 
4.30.070 to allow for cancellation of approved leave to address resignations submitted after leave 
is approved. 
 

WHEREAS, Full-time Employees may submit resignations after the approval of extended periods of leave (more 
than 2 continuous weeks); and 
 

WHEREAS, Full-time Employees may wish to have extended leave approved with no intention of returning to work 
(terminal leave); and 

 
WHEREAS, Both scenarios cause the City of Palmer to incur additional expenses including retirement, benefits and 

leave accrual costs and result in staffing shortages. 
 
THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, ORDAINS: 
 
 Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be incorporated into the Palmer 
Municipal Code.  
 
 Section 2. Severability. If any provisions of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or circumstances are 
held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to the other persons or circumstances shall not be affected 
thereby. 
 

Section 3. Palmer Municipal Code Section 4.30.070 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language is 
underlined and deleted language is stricken): 

 
D. The City Manager may cancel the leave and/or payout of accrued leave for employees who resign either before, 
during, or after leave is approved. 

 
Section 4. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 22-003 shall take effect upon adoption by the city of Palmer City Council.  

 
Passed and approved this _____ day of _____, 2022.  
 
 

_________________________ 
Steve Carrington, Mayor 

 
_____________________________ 
Shelly Acteson, CMC, City Clerk 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: City Manager Moosey 

Date:  
Public Hearing:  

Action:  
Vote:  

Yes: No: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

17



18



City of Palmer  
Ordinance No. 22-004 

 
Subject:  Amending the Palmer Municipal Code Title 2, Section 2.04.031 and 2.05.020 Pertaining to Eligibility of 
Council Members and the Mayor 
 
Agenda of: June 14, 2022 
 
Council Action: ☐ Adopted  ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Council Members Best and Melin 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

19



Attachment(s): 
1. Ordinance No. 22-004 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The City of Palmer Council certified the election results of the voter-initiated recall of elected officials for grounds 
of misconduct in office. 
 
Amending PMC 2.04.031 and 2.05.020 would prevent a person who has been recalled from an office or who has 
resigned from office while recall proceedings were pending against them shall be deemed ineligible for all city 
offices, boards, and commissions for two years from the end of the designated term for removal by recall or 
resignation. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 22-004. 
 
 

20



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance No. 22-004 
 
An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Amending PMC 2.04.031 and PMC 2.05.020 Pertaining to 
Eligibility of Council Members and the Mayor 
 

WHEREAS, on May 3, 2022, the City of Palmer certified the Special Election results of the voter-initiated 
recall of elected officials for grounds of misconduct in office; and 
 

WHEREAS, a voter initiated recall is acting as a Referendum in this instance, as it is the final opinion of 
the voters on this subject; and 

 
WHEREAS, results of these voter initiated decision are binding on the governing body and may not be 

changed for two years. 
 
THE CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA, ORDAINS: 
 
 Section 1. Classification. This ordinance shall be permanent in nature and shall be incorporated into the 
Palmer Municipal Code.  
 
 Section 2. Severability. If any provisions of this ordinance or application thereof to any person or 
circumstances are held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and the application to the other persons or 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 
 

Section 3. Palmer Municipal Code Section 2.04.031 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 

 
(c) No person who has been recalled from an office or who has resigned from office while recall 
proceedings were pending against them shall be deemed ineligible for all city offices, boards and 
commissions for two years from the end of the designated term for removal by recall or resignation. 

 
Section 4.  Palmer Municipal Code Section 2.05.020 is hereby amended to read as follows (new language 
is underlined and deleted language is stricken): 
 
(c) No person who has been recalled from an office or who has resigned from office while recall 
proceedings were pending against them shall be deemed ineligible for all city offices, boards and 
commissions for two years from the end of the designated term for removal by recall or resignation. 
 

 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: Council Members Best and 

Melin 
Date: 6/14/2022 

Public Hearing:  
Action:  

Vote:  
Yes: No: 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

21



Section 4. Effective Date. Ordinance No. 22-004 shall take effect upon adoption by the city of Palmer 
City Council.  
 
Passed and approved this _____ day of _____, 2022.  
 

 
_________________________ 
Steve Carrington, Mayor 

 
_____________________________ 
Shelly Acteson, CMC, City Clerk 

22



City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Minutes 

Regular Meeting 
May 24, 2022 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER: 
 
A regular meeting of the Palmer City Council was held on May 24, 2022, in the Council Chambers, Palmer, 
Alaska.  Mayor Carrington called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  
 
B. ROLL CALL: 
 
Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following were present: 

Steve Carrington, Mayor  Richard Best 
 Pamela Melin, Deputy Mayor     
 Carolina Anzilotti      
 
Staff in attendance were the following: 
 
John Moosey, City Manager     Shelly M. Acteson, CMC, City Clerk 
Sarah Heath, City Attorney      Holly Dubose, Deputy City Clerk 
Brad Hanson, Community Development Director  
 
The following new council members were sworn in, then joined the existing council: 
 
John Alcantra 
Thomas Ojala IV 
Joshua Tudor 
 
A recess was taken at 6:06 pm for new council member photos, and the meeting resumed at 6:10 pm. 
 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
The Pledge of Allegiance was performed. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

1. Approval of Consent Agenda 
a) Action Memorandum No. 22-032: Authorize the City Manager to accept the estimate 

to upgrade the Palmer Public Library circulation desk to fulfill the pandemic modifications 
per the Federal FY2022 ARPA Grant application and award. 

2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings 
a) May 3, 2022, Special Meeting Minutes 
b) May 10, 2022, Regular Meeting Minutes 

 

 
 

Main Motion: Approval of Agenda, Consent Agenda and Minutes 
Moved by: Melin 
Seconded by: Anzilotti 
Vote: Approved 
Action: Motion Carried 

23



E. COMMUNICATION AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS 
1. Presentation from the Mat-Su YMCA Advisory Board 

 
Kathleen Shoop spoke on behalf of the local Mat-Su YMCA and gave an overview of some of the 
extracurricular actives they offer to the public and expressed the desire for an Olympic-sized pool and lazy 
river in Palmer. 

 
Deputy Mayor Melin commented on the literacy program and asked if there has been -contact to the 
local senators for support. 
 
The Scottish Highland Games presentation was postponed to the June 14 meeting.  
 
F. REPORTS 
 City Manager’s Report 

 City Manager John Moosey reported on the following: 
• Welcomed new council members 
• Rodeo will be back this year for various dates in June and August  
• IT RFP will be reviewed and approved by June 14th 
• -Felton Street Extension will include a traffic light  
• City of Palmer Council is a voting member for the Chamber of Commerce – a voting delegate 

will need to be selected by the end of this meeting 
• 6.9 million put into budget by the Governor for wastewater project 

 
 Brad Hanson, Community Development Director reported on the following: 

• Overview on the Palmer community clean up event 
• Church on the Rock cleaned up the A-Moosement Park and the Palmer Skate Park 
• Palmer Family Church adopted McKechnie Park  
• Tennis Courts are pending new paving within the next two weeks 
• Sonotubes were replaced on the Train Depot 
• Tree donation by Palmer class of 72’  

 
Mayor’s Report 

 Mayor Carrington reported on the following: 
• Overview of the City of Palmer’s internal structure for new council members  
• Special meeting proposed June 13th @ 5:15pm for joint meeting with the Board of Economic 

Development 
 
Mayor Carrington proposed Deputy Mayor Melin as the delegate to cast the vote on behalf of the city in 
the Chamber election tomorrow. There was no objection. 
 
City Clerk’s Report 
 City Clerk Shelly Acteson reported on the following: 

• No report from the Clerk. 
 

City Attorney Report 
City Attorney Sarah Heath reported on the following: 

• Attorney Health gave an overview of the Open Meetings Act (OMA). 
 
 
 
 

24



G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 

Cindy Hudgins:  
• Congratulated the new City Council Members. 
• Commented on Open Meetings Act and conduct of the council. 

 
Jackie Goforth: 

• Articulated the importance of Open Meetings Act and upholding ethics. 
 

Kim Swanson: 
• Thanked Council for serving. 

 
Mike Chmielewski: 

• Commented on voting rights of the council and proper representation. 
• Suggested that the new council members attend a bike bonding exercise.  
• Encouraged the public to listen to the podcast “Noah Talks Tennis”, that can be found on Radio 

Free Palmers website. 
       

Erik Anderson: 
• Stated he has faith in the Manager, Attorney and Council. 

 
H. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
I. ACTION MEMORANDA 
 
J. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
K. NEW BUSINESS 
 
Mayor Carrington presented Josh Fryfogle and everyone at The People's Paper and Making the Scene 
with a proclamation for 15 years of service to the Mat-Su Valley, and declared May 24, 2022, to be 
Making the Scene, The People's Paper, & The Pass 95.5 Day. 

 
L. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE 

 
1. Felton street extension project scope document. 
 

M. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
      

     Wes Artz: 
• Commented on voting rights of the Council pertaining to the upcoming Chamber election. 

   
N. EXECUTIVE SESSION  

 
O. COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 
Council Member Ojala: 

• Thanked council for nominating and confirming him as a council member. 
 

    Council Member Tudor: 
• Thanked the council and the audience participants.  

25



 
     Council Member Best: 

• Thanked those who have stepped up and sworn in as new council members.Council Member 
Best requested support to direct the Clerk and the Attorney to bring forth legislation to the next 
meeting that would restrict recalled council members from running for council for two years. 
Council Member Anzilotti offered support. 

 
     Council Member Alcantra: 

• Thanked his family. 
• Thanked audience for participation.  
• Spoke in support of the tennis court upgrades. 

 
Council Member Anzilotti: 

• Thanked new council members. 
• Thanked Attorney Health. 
• Will be Absent June 28th meeting, may call via zoom. 

 
Deputy Mayor Melin: 

• Thanked new council members. 
• Thanked Brad Hanson for upcoming project overview. 
• Asked for a timeline of the new sewer project. 
• Asked for consistency with the video recordings of the meeting. 
• Congratulated Josh Fryfogle on his proclamation. 

 
P. ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business before the Council, the meeting adjourned at 7:33 p.m. 
 
APPROVED this 14th day of June 2022. 
 
 
              
       ________________________________________ 
       Shelly M. Acteson, CMC, City Clerk 
 
______________________________________ 
Steve Carrington, Mayor 

26



Mayor’s Report for June 14, 2022 
 

Boards and Commissions  

Planning and Zoning Commission – one application received 

Board of Economic Development – four applications received 

I will be doing interviews soon and tentatively forwarding nominations during the June 28, 2022 
regular meeting. 

Council Member Best submitted an application to represent the City of Palmer on the Mat-Su 
Borough Local Emergency Planning Committee.  

Chamber Board Election Report: Deputy Mayor Pam Melin 

The Chamber Board Election took place: Ronalee Moses, Kelly Dolfi McKay, Christopher, 
Sherman Liefer, Jeff Miller and Dusty Silva are the new board members. 

Dalrymple Law gave an interesting Board and Non-Profit overview, and touched on Roberts 
Rules of Order.  Roberts Rules of Order can be adopted or not by a public entity in part or in 
whole but is does not replace the constitution.  

Senator Shelly Hughes gave an update on legislative successes. 

Upcoming Projects: 

Public hearings for the following ordinances will be held during the June 28 Regular Meeting: 

• Ordinance No. 22-003, Amending the Palmer Municipal Code, Title 4, Section 
4.30.070 to Allow for Cancellation of Approved Leave to Address Resignations Submitted 
After Leave is Approved 

• Ordinance No. 22-004, Amending the Palmer Municipal Code 2.04.031 and 2.05.020, 
Pertaining to Eligibility of Council Members and the Mayor 

 

Upcoming Events: 

The Alaskan Scottish Club is pleased to present the Alaska Scottish Highland Games at the 
Alaska State Fairgrounds Saturday, June 25 and Sunday, June 26 2022! 

Featuring all things Scottish-Bagpipes, Heavy Athletics, Celtic Dance, Drumming, Kilted Mile, 
Scotch Tasting, Tea Tent, Salmon Tossing, Highland Coo, Tug-Of-War, Vendors, Historical 
Demonstrations, Musical Guests, Axe Throwing, Children’s Events and so much there is 
something for everyone to enjoy! 

https://alaskanscottish.org/highland-games/ 

 

27



Informational:  

Gravel Trains | Alaska Railroad  

Gravel Train Traffic Reminder: 

With spring comes Alaska’s construction season, and an associated demand for gravel. The 
Alaska Railroad would like to remind folks traveling to, from and around Palmer that gravel train 
traffic is resuming. The first trains to Palmer in 2022 began running in early May. 

https://www.alaskarailroad.com/corporate/community/gravel-trains 

 
Beautification Awards: 
 
Request that Council Members submit names and addresses of nominees for the 2022 Home 
Beautification Awards to be given during Palmer Pride picnic on July 22. 
 
 

Mayor Steve Carrington 

28

https://www.alaskarailroad.com/corporate/community/gravel-trains


City of Palmer  
Resolution No. 22-018 

 
Subject:  Recognizing Governor Michael Dunleavy, the Alaska Department of Transportation & Public Facilities, 
and the Matanuska-Susitna Borough for Vital Traffic and Safety Improvement That Enhances Our Community.  
 
 
Agenda of: June 14, 2022 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: John Moosey, City Manager 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

29



Attachment(s): 
1. Resolution No. 22-018 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The Matanuska Susitna Borough is making improvements to Felton Street that will allow for efficient traffic flows 
between Bogard Road and the Palmer/Wasilla Highway. Safe routes to schools will be greatly enhanced with the 
Felton Street project. 
 
Vehicle and Pedestrian traffic safety is the highest priority for the City of Palmer. It has been determined that this 
work will serve the public interest and enhance the quality of life for the residents of, and visitors to, the City. 
With direction from Governor Dunleavy, a traffic control light will be installed at the intersection of Felton Street 
and the Palmer/Wasilla Highway. Cooperation between The City and Alaska Department of Transportation & Public 
Facilities will provide for a traffic light at the intersection of Felton Street and Palmer/Wasilla Highway. Significant 
assistance was given from DOT members Wolfgang Junge and Todd Vanhove to complete the safety apparatus 
addition. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Resolution No. 22-018 
 
 

30



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 

 
Resolution No. 22-018 

 
A Resolution of the Palmer City Council Authorizing the City Manager to Recognize Governor 
Michael Dunleavy, the Alaska Department of Transportation & Public Facilities, and the Matanuska-
Susitna Borough for Vital Traffic and Safety Improvement That Enhances Our Community.  
 

  
WHEREAS, the Matanuska Susitna Borough is making improvements to Felton Street that will allow for 

efficient traffic flows between Bogard Road and the Palmer/Wasilla Highway; and 
 
WHEREAS, safe routes to schools will be greatly enhanced with the Felton Street project; and  
 
WHEREAS, vehicle and Pedestrian traffic safety is the highest priority for the City of Palmer; and 
 
WHEREAS, it has been determined that this work will serve the public interest and enhance the quality 

of life for the residents of, and visitors to, the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, with direction from Governor Dunleavy, a traffic control light will be installed at the 

intersection of Felton Street and the Palmer/Wasilla Highway; and 
 
WHEREAS, cooperation between The City and Alaska Department of Transportation & Public Facilities 

will provide for a traffic light at the intersection of Felton Street and Palmer/Wasilla Highway; and  
 
WHEREAS, significant assistance was given from DOT members Wolfgang Junge and Todd Vanhove to 

complete the safety apparatus addition;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council for the City of Palmer would like to honor and 

thank Governor Michael Dunleavy, the Alaska Department of Transportation & Public Facilities, and the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough for this vital traffic and safety improvement that enhances our community. 
 
Approved by the Palmer City Council this ____ day of ___________, 2022. 
 
 

________________________ 
Steven J Carrington, Mayor 

 
_____________________________ 
Shelly Acteson, MMC, City Clerk 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: Manager Moosey 

Date: 6/14/2022 
Action:  

Vote:  
Yes: No: 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

31



32



City of Palmer  
Resolution No. 22-019 

 
Subject:  Recognizing Governor Michael Dunleavy’s Budgetary Support for the Wastewater Treatment Facility. 
 
Agenda of: June 14, 2022 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Name, Title 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

33



Attachment(s): 
1. Resolution No. 22-019 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The City of Palmer completed Phase I of its required Wastewater Treatment Plant improvements in 2018 
expending $12 million; and 
 
Under a US Federal Government Consent Decree, Phase II was ordered and is anticipated that the entire Phase 
II project will reach an additional $12 million; and 
 
These two projects are an outsize burden to carry for a utility of 2,318 service connections; and 
 
Our customers include Matsu Regional Medical Center, and Matsu College and many others who reside outside 
the city limits of Palmer; and  
 
Governor Michael Dunleavy included the vital City of Palmer Phase II project in the 2023 Governor’s Budget; and  
 
The significant expense of these two major water pollution control projects falling on the backs of a limited 
customer base were unsustainable; and  
 
Significant rate increases for the City’s water pollution control monthly charges have increased and would continue 
to greatly increase; and  
 
The City of Palmer requested assistance from Governor Dunleavy regarding this negative impact on our users for 
this essential municipal service; and  
 
Governor Dunleavy responded by assigning a significant amount of his 2022-23 budget to meet the City of Palmer’s 
needs; and 
 
The Palmer City Council desires to express our sincere thanks and gratitude for this generous assistance.  
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Resolution No. 22-019 
 
 

34



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF PALMER, ALASKA 
 

Resolution No. 22-019 
 
A Resolution of the Palmer City Council recognizing Governor Michael Dunleavy’s budgetary 
support for the Wastewater Treatment Facility. 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Palmer completed Phase I of its required Wastewater Treatment Plant 
improvements in 2018 expending $12 million; and 
 
WHEREAS, under a US Federal Government Consent Decree, Phase II was ordered and is anticipated 
that the entire Phase II project will reach an additional $12 million; and 
 
WHEREAS, the significant expense of these major water pollution control projects falling on the backs of 
a limited customer base of 2,318 service connections was unsustainable; and  
 
WHEREAS, significant rate increases for the City’s water pollution control have occurred and would 
continue to greatly increase; and  
 
WHEREAS, our customers include Matsu Regional Medical Center, Matsu College and many others who 
reside outside the city limits of Palmer; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Palmer requested assistance from Governor Dunleavy regarding this negative 
impact on our users for this essential municipal service; and  
 
WHEREAS, Governor Dunleavy responded by assigning a significant amount of his 2022-23 budget to 
include the vital Phase II project and meet the City of Palmer’s needs; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Palmer City Council desires to express our sincere thanks and gratitude for this generous 
assistance.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Palmer City Council hereby recognizes Governor Michael 
Dunleavy’s budgetary support for the Wastewater Treatment Facility. 

 
Approved by the Palmer City Council this ____ day of ___________, 2022. 
 

________________________ 
Steven J Carrington, Mayor 

 
_____________________________ 
Shelly Acteson, MMC, City Clerk 
 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY 
Introduced by: Manager Moosey 

Date: 6/14/2022 
Action:  

Vote:  
Yes: No: 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

35



36



City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 22-034 

 
Subject:  Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of the City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection 
of the Liquor License renewal of Fred Meyer Store #649, license #4366. 
 
Agenda of: June 14, 2022 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: John Moosey, City Manager 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $  
 

This legislation (√): 
√ Creates revenue in the amount of: $ unknown 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

37



Attachment(s):  
1. #4366 Liquor License Review Form 
2. #4366 New LGB Renewal Notice 
3. #4366 Complete Renewal Packet 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
Fred Meyer Store #649 has applied for a Package Store license renewal. Per State law a local governing body 
may protest the approval of an application pursuant to AS 04.11.480 by providing the applicant with a clear and 
concise written statement of the reason for the protest or may voice a non-objection to a request. 
 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:   
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 22-034. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 22-035 

 
Subject:  Authorize the City Manager to negotiate and execute a two-year contract, with the option to renew up 
to three one-year options with Alaska Communications Systems, Inc. for IT Support Services, not to exceed 
$169,000 for the first year. 
 
 
Agenda of: June 14, 2022 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: John Moosey, City Manager 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 169,000.00 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
√ Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 169,000.00 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
√ Budgeted Line item(s): 01-01-05-6095 Computer Services   
√ Not budgeted  Additional $16,000 for 2022 

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

 
 

Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

51



Attachment(s):  
1. City of Palmer Agreement 
2. ACS State Business License 
3. Palmer Business License  

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The service agreement with the city’s current IT service provider, Ampersand/AlasConnect, will expire June 30, 
2022; no additional renewals remain on the contract. 
 
The City Manager issued a Request for Proposal on April 8, 2022. 
 
Three proposals were received. All three were reviewed and rated based on the criteria listed in the Request for 
Proposal. Alaska Communications Services, Inc scored the highest. 
 
The city entered into discussions with Alaska Communications Systems, Inc, the most qualified proposer, and 
those discussions resulted in a fair and reasonable contract. 
 
The first year of the contract is in the amount of $169,000. If the city renews the contract for three (3) additional 
one (1) year terms as outlined in the RFP, the rate for each of those years will be $156,000. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:   
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 22-035. 

52



DRAFT
Contract Type 

☒ New    ☐ Amendment / Order to Contract ID #    ☐ Renewal, Effective Date Type Here

☐Co-terminus with Existing Agreement, Date Type Here

Business/ Customer Information
 

Business Name: City of Palmer Account Number: 

Billing Address Line 1: 231 W. Evergreen Ave Service Street Address*: 231 W. Evergreen Ave 

Billing Address Line 2: Service Address – Line 2:    

City/State/Zip: Palmer, AK, 99645 Service City/State/Zip*:  Palmer, AK, 99645 

Contact Phone Number: 907-761-1314 Order Contact: John Moosey  

Contact Email: jmoosey@palmerak.org *If different from Billing Address:

Scope of Services Inside wiring: ☐ Yes 
Products and Services 

ConstantlyOn IT 

Service Descriptions Attachments 

ConstantlyOn IT 
System Administrator 
ConstantlyOn IT Minimum Security 
Requirements and Agreements

Exhibits 

Not Applicable 

Cost are incremental to any existing services: 
Term 2 year.             Monthly Recurring Charges: $13,000.00 Initial Non-Recurring Charges: $13,000.00 

☐ Letter of Authorization (For Local and Long Distance Carrier Changes)
I desire to change the Services marked below to Alaska Communications for the numbers listed on the Service Order. I authorize orders to be
placed for me on my behalf by Alaska Communications.

☐ Local Telephone Service       ☐In-State Long Distance      ☐Out-of-State Long Distance
☒ I agree that Alaska Communications may provide Customer Proprietary Network Information detail to me at my request, without prior password
authentication, based on the methods specified in the Privacy section of the ACSA.
☒ Yes! I would like to receive information on Alaska Communications’ products, promotions, and services.
☒ Yes! I would like to receive information from Alaska Communications’ contractual affiliates on products, promotions, and services.
☒I acknowledge that I have read and understand the ACSA and all applicable exhibits and attachments, including the pricing applicable to all
Services I have chosen.
I am authorized to sign this ACSA and agree to be bound by it. I UNDERSTAND AND AGREE THAT EARLY TERMINATION MAY RESULT IN EARLY
TERMINATION CHARGES.
☒ I AGREE TO THE ALASKA COMMUNICATIONS TERMS AND CONDITIONS AT
ALASKACOMMUNICATIONS.COM/BUSINESSTERMSANDCONDITIONS AS THEY MAY BE AMENDED.

53



DRAFT
Customer    Alaska Communications 

Signature: Signature: 

Name: Name:      

Business Name: City of Palmer Business Name: Alaska Communications  

Date: Date:      

Service Details 

ConstantlyOn IT with Onsite System Administrator

The term of the professional services agreement is two years, with three one-year options unilaterally available to the City of Palmer. The agreement may be         
terminated at the convenience of the City of Palmer at any time.

Service dates of 7/1/2022 - 6/30/2024

This agreement covers the City of Palmer City Hall location at 231 W. Evergreen Ave., Palmer, AK, 99645. City of Palmer Operations of Library, Public Safety, Public 
Works and Administration are included in this support agreement.  

Attachments 
Service Description - System Administrator 
Service Description - ConstantlyOn IT 
Customer Agreement - Minimum Security Requirements 

CHANGES TO TERMS CONDITIONS, SERVICES DESCRIPTIONS, EXHIBITS, AND THIS FORM GO HERE AND REQUIRE LEGAL DEPARTMENT APPROVAL. INITIALS OF 
LEGAL TEAM REP (REQUIRED IF TEXT IS ENTERED BELOW) __________ Date _______
“Type here”   

54



DRAFT
    Service Description 

System Administrator 
Attachment to Alaska Communications Services Agreement 

Onsite System Administrator with Constantly On IT (COIT) Support 
The onsite System Administrator service will work in conjunction with our Constantly On IT 
services to provide direct onsite support for customer IT Network and providing end user support. 
The Constantly On IT Service Description is applicable in conjunction with the Service Description. 

(a) Provision of Services. Alaska Communications will provide one regularly scheduled
System Administrator for 40 hours per week (using best efforts to give Client prior notice of any 
change to the employee’s regular schedule) with allowance for up to 3 weeks of paid time off and 
necessary training for designated onsite employee.  Support coverage during scheduled and 
unscheduled time off for the System Administrator will be provided by the COIT Help Desk during 
the term of this agreement.  Customer shall furnish the onsite System Administrator with 
appropriate work space at City of Palmer office locations and access to information, systems, 
resources and cooperation to provide services under this Agreement. 

(b) Incident and Request Management.  Alaska Communications will provide Information
Technology support for City of Palmer locations, defined during onboarding of services, for hardware, 
systems, and Microsoft operating systems.  The onsite System Administrator will serve as the primary 
point of contact for reporting incidents and/ or requests for assistance.  Tickets will be logged in a 
professional services automation (PSA) tool managed by Alaska Communications which will allow for 
customer reporting related to ticketing metrics. 

(c) COIT Help Desk. Alaska Communications remote help desk will be available for escalated
trouble request where additional expertise from our Tier II or Tier III level subject matter experts is an 
available resource. 

(d) Proactive Support. Alaska Communications COIT Proactive Team will provide proactive
support, such as monitoring backup jobs for completion status, monitoring anti-virus software for issues, 
and proactive maintenance on covered system such as deploying required feature packs, hot fixes, 
firmware updates, anti-virus software database updates, etc. Software upgrades are not considered 
proactive.  COIT Proactive Team will work in conjunction with onsite System Administrator to engage in 
troubleshooting and remediation of identified issues. 

(e) Communication. Methodology for requests for assistance will be identified during
customer onboarding to Alaska Communications services.  Possible methods to deliver request for support 
to Alaska Communications may include: (i) sent by email to the Remote Help Desk; or (ii) communicated 
by telephone to a customer provided phone number or by calling the Alaska Communications COIT 
number. Tickets will be assigned tracking numbers and Alaska Communications will respond to Service 
Requests in the order received, or if an Incident, based on the severity of the incident. 

Onsite System Administrator will communicate regularly with COIT Help Desk, Technical Account Manager 
and Customer on matters relating to Customer’s computer network(s) and information technology 
equipment. 

55



DRAFT
(f) New Equipment, Software and Projects. The onsite System Administrator will provide

support for configuration and setup of new computer equipment.  Projects that can be performed within 
the capacity, scope and expertise of the onsite System Administrator will also be coordinated as such 
during solution planning and costing.  Complex projects will be quoted at contracted rates utilizing 
appropriate technical subject matter experts based on the scope of the project.  All projects will follow the 
project process of Scoping, Assessment, Design and Implementation.  All major projects will go through a 
peer review process with Alaska Communications project engineers.  

(g) Vendor Management.  On behalf of Customer, Alaska Communications System
Administrator will serve as point of contract for Information Technology vendors, that customer has 
ongoing contract.  Alaska Communications will track vendor work order requests and regularly update the 
Customer on progress.  Customer understands the resolution time needed for issues requiring vendor 
assistance cannot be controlled by Alaska Communications, Alaska Communications serves only as local 
assistance for the vendor.  Any effort with vendor outside of regular business hours are in addition to the 
Monthly Recurring Cost agreed upon in the ACSA. 

56



DRAFT
Service Description 

ConstantlyOn IT 
Attachment to Alaska Communications Services Agreement 

1. ConstantlyOn IT Service

A. The Services

The Services include Network Monitoring, Vendor Management, Remote Help Desk support, and 
Proactive Support as described below.  Regular business hours are 7:00 AM through 6:00 PM 
Alaska Time, Monday through Friday, excluding Alaska and federal holidays observed by Alaska 
Communications.  Services are provided for the locations and number of covered users specified in the 
Alaska Communications Services Agreement (ACSA).  If Customer’s network structure or equipment use is 
beyond that normally encountered for the number of users covered, Alaska Communications reserves the 
right to upwardly adjust the Monthly Recurring Charge (MRC). 

(a) Network Monitoring. Alaska Communications will monitor the customers local area
network(s) identified in the ACSA.  Only those devices that can be monitored via WMI/SNMP will be 
included.  Should that monitoring expose any problems, Alaska Communications will endeavor to 
promptly address them remotely within regular business hours.   

(b) Vendor Management.  On behalf of Customer, Alaska Communications will serve as point
of contact for Information Technology vendors, that customer has ongoing contracts with, for covered 
systems under the ACSA.   Alaska Communications will track vendor work order requests and regularly update 
the Customer on progress.  Customer understands the resolution time needed for issues requiring vendor 
assistance cannot be controlled by Alaska Communications, Alaska Communications serves only as the 
local assistance for the vendor.  Any effort with vendor outside of regular business hours are in addition to 
the MRC agreed upon in the ACSA.  Additionally, extended troubleshooting activities with vendor and work 
not directly related to problem resolution such as assisting vendor in configuring and using remote access 
capability or the acquisition, installation and configuration costs of any tools, software or hardware, may 
be in addition to the MRC agreed upon in the ASCA.   

(c) Remote Help Desk. Alaska Communications will provide Information Technology support
for hardware, systems, and Microsoft operating systems covered by the ACSA.  Alaska Communications will 
provide help desk services for end user support questions, and where possible, troubleshoot hardware & 
software, through remote means. 

(d) Proactive Support.  Alaska Communications will provide proactive support, such as
monitoring backup jobs for completion status, monitoring anti-virus software for issues, and proactive 
maintenance on covered system such as deploying required feature packs, hot fixes, firmware updates, 
anti-virus software database updates, etc.  Software upgrades are not considered proactive. 

(e) Inc ident  and  Service Requests. Any need for assistance will be initiated by a covered
user by creation of a “Trouble Ticket” to be delivered to Alaska Communications as follows: (i) sent by 
email to the Remote Help Desk; or (ii) communicated by telephone.  Customer may also choose to have a 
single representative in Customer’s organization forward all covered end-user assistance requests to 
Alaska Communications by the methods listed above. Tickets will be assigned tracking numbers and Alaska 
Communications will respond to Service Requests in the order received, or if an Incident, based on the 

57



DRAFT
severity of the incident.  See Annex A “Response Times” table for reference on the service’s expected 

   response times based on ticket type and severity.  

(f) Onsite Service Call.  On occasion, a customer may request an onsite visit for a service call
that cannot be easily resolved remotely.  Customer and Alaska Communications will determine together if 
the onsite visit is necessary, and if so, a clear statement of work in the form of a service ticket will be 
created.  Once onsite, the Alaska Communications technician assigned to the service ticket will perform 
the tasks in the service ticket only.   Onsite visits are restricted to the customer business locations that are 
included in the ACSA.  Alaska Communications reserves the right to dispatch technicians to solve any 
trouble ticket or service request. 

(g) Onsite Service Call – No Trouble Found. In the event that Alaska Communications furnishes
a technician onsite, in response to Customer’s service request, and Customer is not able to identify or 
reproduce the problem at issue, the Customer agrees to pay Alaska Communications for its services at 
Alaska Communications’ standard labor rates at the time of the service. 

(h) Hardware, Systems, and Microsoft Operating System Software Support. Throughout the
entire term of the ASCA, all software supported must be genuine, fully and properly licensed, and vendor 
supported.  Any hardware, system, or software failing to meet the above conditions will not be 
supported under Services described in this document and, if Alaska Communications determines that the 
failure substantially impairs its ability to provide services hereunder, Alaska Communications may 
terminate the ASCA immediately.  Alaska Communications acknowledges that in certain rare cases 
hardware, systems and operating systems not under warranty or support must remain in use based on 
vendor and/or business requirements.  In those cases, any support provided by Alaska Communications 
will not be subject to the Response and Resolution Times targets in Annex A.  Any additional costs 
associated with this support may be in addition to the MRC agreed to in the ASCA. 

(i) Breach, Viruses and Infection Remediation Efforts.  Although it is impossible to prevent
all security incidents, good security practices can reduce the likelihood of an incident and its severity. 
Alaska Communications may suggest security steps a customer may take to reduce this likelihood.  It is 
strongly recommended to consider these suggestions as Alaska Communications provides no included 
breach or virus infection remediation with this service, rather the focus is on prevention.  In the event of a 
breach or virus infection, Alaska Communications may, at its discretion, provide some modest recovery 
efforts up to 1 times MRC for ConstantlyOn IT services covered by the ACSA, such as restoring lost files 
from a known good back up, but in no case will in-depth recovery and/or forensics be included in the 
monthly recurring charge. 

B. Conditions to Provision of ConstantlyOn IT Services

Customer will ensure that its network, systems and hardware meet the conditions outlined in Section 1 
A (h) above and additionally comply with each of the following requirements: 

(a) Customer-provided anti-virus products (used in lieu of the standard Alaska
Communications included product in this Service) must be a currently licensed, updated and vendor-
supported server-based antivirus solution protecting all servers, desktops, notebooks/laptops, and email. 

58



DRAFT
(b) Customer’s environment must have a currently licensed, vendor-supported server-based,

cloud based, or dedicated appliance- based backup solution that can be monitored and sends notifications 
regarding job failures and successes.  The selection of data to be backed up, retention requirements and 
recovery time objectives will be determined by a Customer-defined selection list created with the 
assistance of Alaska Communications.   

(c) Customer’s environment must have a licensed, vendor-supported, enterprise class
hardware firewall between the internal network and the internet.  As each business may have its own 
unique inbound/outbound security requirements, Alaska Communications expects the customer to 
participate in the definition of the firewall security policies applied.  Alaska Communications’ role is to 
advise only, to assist in applying the defined policies to the firewall, and to assist in revising those policies 
as customer needs require. 

(d) Customer should have a static IP address assigned to the Internet facing interface on the
firewall to permit or allow Virtual Private Network (VPN) access for required remote support capability; This 
is recommended for each client location.  Without this static IP address, Alaska Communications ability to 
perform remote support is severely impacted and Alaska Communications would not expect to be able to 
achieve the resolution times detailed in Annex A. 

(e) The physical environment where Customer’s servers and/or networking hardware are
installed should be compatible with the manufacturer’s recommendations for proper ventilation, cooling 
and power.  In addition, proper earthquake and flood damage mitigation mechanisms should be in place. 
The environment must also provide ConstantlyOn IT staff the ability to work uninhibited by space 
restrictions. 

(f) Customer must provide administrative access to all systems requiring support covered by
the ACSA, whether it is an on-premise system, or in the cloud.  In cases where this administrative access 
requires an account that may require costs to acquire, customer is responsible for those costs.   

(g) Customer will notify Alaska Communications of all instances and locations containing
Personal Healthcare Information (“PHI”), electronic Personal Healthcare Information (“ePHI”), Payment 
Card Industry Data Security Standard information (“PCI-DSS”), Personally-Identifiable Information (“PII”) 
and any other protected information.  This information is used by Alaska Communications solely to 
determine where data may be subject to increased security scrutiny and protection. 

It is recommended that customer maintain at least one spare PC, either desktop or laptop or both.  If a 
covered employee has a complete PC failure, without a spare, the time to return that person to full 
working order will be dictated by the speed at which a replacement can be acquired, a length of time 
Alaska Communications has no control over.   

C. Exclusions from ConstantlyOn IT Services

The Services provided by Alaska Communications to Customer do not include: 

(a) After the start of the service, any equipment, hardware, parts and software not disclosed
to Alaska Communications during the onboarding process; 

59



DRAFT
(b) The costs to acquire, configure and install new or replacement equipment, hardware or

parts, licensing or software and any associated delivery or shipping charges of any kind; 

(c) The costs to acquire technology vendor support contracts or warranties to support customer
equipment and software; 

(d) Equipment, hardware, parts and software not covered by any vendor or manufacturer
warranties or support agreement; 

(e) Wiping, re-imaging, and rebuilding of existing PC’s for redistribution.  This is
considered a new or replacement PC under the terms of the ACSA and costs to complete will be in addition 
to the MRC agreed to in the ASCA. 

(f) Any hardware, software, or systems whose intended purpose is for in home use.

(g) Any hardware, software, or systems whose failure or defect was caused by improper use;

(h) All service and repairs made necessary by the alteration or modification of equipment,
other than that authorized by Alaska Communications, including alterations, software installations or 
modifications of equipment made by Customer’s employees or anyone other than Alaska Communications; 

(i) All maintenance of applications software packages, whether acquired from Alaska
Communications or any other source; 

(j) All programming (modification of software code) and program (software) maintenance,
unless already covered; 

(k) Training of any kind;

(l) If customer is asked to perform an audit or self-audit on regulation compliance, Alaska
Communications will assist where possible solely by providing information on covered systems under the 
ASCA as it relates to Information Technology.  Alaska Communications will not provide data on compliance 
in other areas such as but not limited to, policies or employee training.  Additionally, the cost associated 
with Alaska Communications assisting in this effort will be in addition to the MRC; 

D. Additional Covered Users and/or Business Locations

If Customer wishes to add additional covered users and/or physical business locations to those currently 
covered under the current ACSA, Alaska Communications must be notified of the additions and obtain 
Alaska Communications’ prior written consent.  Any addition of covered users and/or business locations 
not originally included in the current ASCA may require an adjustment to Customer’s MRC for 
ConstantlyOn IT services.  Once per year, Alaska Communications and customer will perform a true up to 
determine if any users or locations currently supported, or needing support, are not currently identified 
as covered by the current ASCA.   Any additions may result in an adjustment to Customer’s MRC for 
ConstantlyOn IT services covered by the ACSA.  Any changes will be captured in an Addendum document 
to the ASCA currently in force.

60



DRAFT
Annex A 

Support Tiers and Response/Resolution Times 

Alaska Communications Support Tier levels are as follows: 

Support Tier Description 

Tier 1 Support All support incidents begin in Tier 1, where the initial 
trouble ticket is created, the issue is identified, and clearly 
documented, and basic hardware/software troubleshooting is 
initiated. 

Tier 2 Support All support incidents that cannot be resolved with Tier 1 
Support are escalated to Tier 2, where more complex support on 
hardware/software issues can be provided by more experienced 
Engineers. 

Tier 3 Support Support I n c i d e n t s  t h a t  c a n n o t  b e  r e s o l v e d  by T i e r  2  
Support are escalated to Tier 3, where support is provided by the 
most qualified and experienced Engineers who have the ability 
to collaborate with 3rd Party (Vendor) Support Engineers to 
resolve the most complex issues. 

Alaska Communications’ target response and resolution times, during regular business hours, for each priority 
level are as follows: 

Trouble Priority Response time Resolution time* 

Service not available (All users affected, 
functions, and systems unavailable 
causing significant business impact). 

1 Within 1 Hour Reasonable 
Efforts to resolve within 2 hours 

Significant degradation of 
service (large number of users or 
business critical functions affected, 
able to work with exceptions). 

2 Within 2 Hours Reasonable 
Efforts to resolve within 4 hours 

Small service degradation (Business 
process can continue with effort, one or 
a few users affected).  

3 Within 4 Hours Reasonable 
Efforts to resolve within 16 hours 

Service Requests (typical service 
requests include asks from a user for 
information, advice, a standard change, 
or access to a service). 

4 Within 8 Hours Resolution times vary as they are 
based on the nature of the request 
and amount of effort to resolve. 

*Resolution times do not include time waiting for assistance from vendors on affected systems and/or
responses for additional information or problem testing by customer that may be required by Alaska
Communications.

61



DRAFT
Annex B 

Service Rates 

*All times noted are Alaska Standard
Time and exclude the observance of
the following holidays:

New Year's Day  
Memorial Day  
Independence Day  
Labor Day  
Thanksgiving  
Friday after Thanksgiving 
Christmas  

**One hour minimum, thereafter, 
Service is billed in 30-minute 
increments. 

Labor Rate 

Remote Management/Help Desk 
7am-6pm M-F* INCLUDED 

Ongoing Network Alerting (active 
response is limited to 7am-6pm M-F*) INCLUDED 

Onsite ConstantlyOn IT Labor (Only for 
hardware and software issues affecting 
properly supported and warranted 
systems.  8am-5pm M-F*) 

INCLUDED 

No Trouble Found Fee** $150/hr. 

Afterhours Support** $225/hr. 

Non ConstantlyOn IT Service and 
Project Labor 

$150/hr 

Travel Labor (Any potential required 
travel labor will be determined based on 
location of service) 

$75/hr. 

62



DRAFT
Annex C 

Deployment Schedule 

This exhibit is intended to be a brief overview of a typical deployment schedule for implementation of the 
services defined within this contract and is to be further defined and negotiated by both parties AFTER 
contract execution. 

* 

Task Responsible Party 
Alaska Communications receives Contract Alaska Communications and Customer 

Customer can utilize Alaska Communications IT 
services until the on-boarding process is finalized 
at our standard rates.  Services provided before 
onboarding is complete could be limited in our 
abilities to provide support as defined in this 
document, as all service requirements are not in 
place. 

Customer 

Information Technology Assessment Starts Alaska Communications Engineer 

Information Technology Assessment Completion Alaska Communications Engineer 

Internal (peer-peer) Alaska Communications 
meeting to review Information Technology  
Assessment 

Alaska Communications Engineer and 
Staff 

Alaska Communications Meeting with Customer 
to introduce Technical Account manager and 
review of Information Technology Assessment to 
include identification of items of a critical nature 
and remediation recommendations. 

Alaska Communications Staff and 
Customer 

Alaska Communications finalizes On-Boarding 
activities 

Alaska Communications Engineer 

Customer signs LOA’s for Vendor 
Management provides authorized employees list 
for billable service requestor and provides 
employee directory & priority employee listing. 

Customer 

Full ConstantlyOn IT support starts Alaska Communications and Customer 

63



DRAFT
Annex D 

Covered Features 

This exhibit is intended to be a reference of included and excluded support features of ConstantlyOn IT.  
This list is for reference only and is not to be considered an absolute representation of all covered or 
excluded features. 

Feature Included Excluded 

Remote Support X 
Technical Account Manager X 
Compute Support 

Desktops X 
Laptops X 
PC Peripherals X 
Printers/Scanners X 
Physical Servers X 
Virtualized Servers X 
Storage Arrays X 

Proactive Maintenance 
Service/Feature Packs X 
Hot Fixes/Patching X 
Firmware Updates X 

Networking 
Wired/Wireless Routers/Access 
Points X 
Hotspots/Guest Wireless X 
Network Printing X 
Switches X 
Firewalls X 
Managed Routers X 

Anti-Virus/Malware Mitigation 
Anti-Virus Software Provided X 
Proactive AV Software Updating X 
Modest Reactive Virus/Malware 
removal – See Section 1 A (i) for 
details X 
Large Scale Incident 
Recovery/Forensics 

X 

64



DRAFT
Data Backup Systems Support 

Monitoring Backup Process X 
Perform Simple File Restore 
Operations* X 
Disaster Recovery Assistance X 

Miscellaneous Equipment 
Tablets and Mobile Devices X 
Business Audio-Visual Equipment X 
Point of Sales Equipment/Systems X 
Telephone Equipment/Systems X 

Email Client Support 
Current Vendor Supported Clients X 

Email Server Support 
Microsoft Exchange X 
Microsoft 365 X 

Internet Tools 
Social Media Applications X 
Web Browsers  X 

Operating System Support* 
Windows Desktop Operating Systems X 
Microsoft Server Operating Systems X 
*Support typically is restricted to
Operating Systems supported by
Microsoft

Microsoft 365 
Tenant/Administration Support** X 
Microsoft Azure 
Tenant/Administration Support** X 
Non-Microsoft Cloud based 
Applications Administration 
Support** X 
Server Based Application Support 
(e.g. SQL, IIS) X 
Other Apps e.g. Adobe X 

* Simple File restores are define as file/folder data that can easily be restored via the in-place backup system using the data in the 
backup selection list.  Complete disaster recovery or the need to recover an entire system just to recover a simple file/folder are
excluded. 

**Administration of cloud-based services include routine tasks such as adding new users, helping with passwords, assigning 
application licenses etc.  Advanced administration such as configuring and maintaining SharePoint are excluded. 

65



DRAFT
ConstantlyOn IT 
Minimum Security Requirements and Client Agreement 

ConstantlyOn IT Minimum Security Requirements 
Impacts from cyberattacks are both far reaching and costly with damages that can include; data 
extortion/ransomware, business reputation, and trust, as well as customer loyalty. Alaska 
Communications is committed to working with our ConstantlyOn IT clients to create an IT environment 
with layers of security to provide protection for your business resources and data. This approach 
combines multiple mitigating security controls such as: 
• an anti-virus application
• a firewall
• an anti-spam application
• email encryption
• web filtering
• back-up solution with offsite replication
• local area network monitoring and alerting
• guest wireless network segregated from production network
• authorized personnel activity accounting (network administrative accounts)
• end-user awareness training
• end-user general policy management of password requirements, account lockouts and not using
shared accounts
• upgrade, replacement or retirement of non-supported legacy systems
• physical environment security

This list is not all inclusive, and your organization may have additional security controls based on 
regulatory compliance requirements specific to your business. Your organization may utilize some or all 
these security tools and policies. (See back)   

It is impossible to prevent all security incidents. Good security practices can reduce the likelihood of an 
incident and its severity. Alaska Communications' Managed IT services includes an extra annual 
allotment of one time your monthly ConstantlyOn IT charge to assist with remediating security incidents' 
regardless of the root cause of the incident. If at the time of an incident, you are in full compliance with 
the security recommendations provided by Alaska Communications on page two then this allotment will 
be increased to up to two times your ConstantlyOn IT monthly charges. Compliance with these 
requirements may involve a change to your network or network access policies, which will be 
coordinated in advance. 

Customer             Alaska Communications

Signature: Signature: 

Print Name: Print Name: 

Business Name: Business Name: Alaska Communications  

Date: Date: 

66



DRAFT
ConstantlyOn IT Minimum Security Requirements and Client Agreement

Please review the table below and indicate your acknowledgment with initials. 

Please select one of the following: 
□ I agree to meet the above minimum security requirements to the best of my ability with the
understanding that I can request assistance in any of these areas from the COIT helpdesk at any time.

Initial: 
□ I do not agree to the following minimum-security requirements (list by number):

Initial:    Number: 

Initial:    Number: 

Initial:    Number: 

Initial:    Number: 

Initial:    Number: 

Initial:    Number: 

# Minimum Requirement What this means to you Risk of non-compliance COIT 
1 Passwords must be a minimum of 

8 characters; contain standard 
complexity, and changed every  
90 days. 

User must maintain complex 
passwords which are 
changed when prompted 

Attackers can use dictionary and 
brute force attacks to guess your 
password 

2 Accounts locked out for 24 hours 
after 5 invalid logon attempts to 
systems and Microsoft 365 

User must call COIT helpdesk 
to unlock account 

Attackers can use dictionary and 
brute force attacks to guess your 
password 



3 Firewall/UTM policy to block all 
unsecured inbound connections 

Transparent to user Reduces attack surface of system(s) 
exposed to potential attackers 

4 Wireless networks to be 
configured with WPA2 or stronger 
encryption; guest WLAN access 
must be segregated from 
production network 

Wireless networks must use 
transport encryption stronger 
than WEP and WPA to 
prevent unauthorized use 

Minimizes attacker ability to use 
brute-force techniques to gain 
unauthorized wireless access 

5 Each user must use his/her 
account; no sharing or group 
accounts permitted. 

Each user has his or her own 
account 

Allows COIT technicians to 
investigate security incidents 

6 Non-supported legacy systems 
must be upgraded, migrated, 
unsupported, or retired. 

Any computers running, for 
example, Windows 7, must 
be decommissioned, 
upgraded to Windows 10, 
or migrated to newer 
hardware 

Protects customer by ensuring that 
attackers cannot exploit old 
software that cannot be patched 



67



Alaska Business License # 1091156

Alaska Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development
Division of Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing 

PO Box 110806, Juneau, AK 99811-0806

This is to certify that

ALASKA COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES, INC.
600 TELEPHONE AVENUE, ANCHORAGE, AK 99503

owned by

ALASKA COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES, INC.

is licensed by the department to conduct business for the period

December 29, 2020 to December 31, 2022 
for the following line(s) of business:

54 - Professional, Scientific and Technical Services

This license shall not be taken as permission to do business in the state without having
complied with the other requirements of the laws of the State or of the United States.

This license must be posted in a conspicuous place at the business location. 
It is not transferable or assignable.

Julie Anderson 
Commissioner

68



ANNUAL         BUSINESS         LICENSE

LICENSE         NUMBER

013242

CITY         OF         PALMER
231         W.         EVERGREEN         AVE.,         PALMER,         AK         99645

12/31/2022

THIS         LICENSE         IS         GRANTED         TO:

ALASKA         COMMUNICATIONS         SERVICES,         INC.
DBA:
600         TELEPHONE         AVE
ANCHORAGE,         AK                  99503

ISSUE         DATE EXPIRATION         DATE

NOT         TRANSFERABLE

POST         AT         ALL         TIMES         IN         A         CONSPICUOUS         LOCATION

06/07/2022 12/31/2022

ANNUAL         BUSINESS         LICENSE

LICENSE         NUMBER

013242

CITY         OF         PALMER
231         W.         EVERGREEN         AVE.,         PALMER,         AK         99645

12/31/2022

THIS         LICENSE         IS         GRANTED         TO:

ALASKA         COMMUNICATIONS         SERVICES,         INC.
DBA:
600         TELEPHONE         AVE
ANCHORAGE,         AK                  99503

ISSUE         DATE EXPIRATION         DATE

NOT         TRANSFERABLE

POST         AT         ALL         TIMES         IN         A         CONSPICUOUS         LOCATION

06/07/2022 12/31/2022

69



70



City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 22-037 

 
Subject:  Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of the City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection 
to Change of Controlling Interest in, Connoisseur Lounge, LLC Located at 226 West Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2 
Marijuana License #27522 
 
 
Agenda of: June 14, 2022 
 
Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________ 
 ☐ Defeated 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: John Moosey, City Manager  
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
  Public Works     

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ Unknown 
 

This legislation (√): 
ⱱ Creates revenue in the amount of: $ Unknown 
 Creates expenditure in the amount of: $  
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
 Not budgeted   

 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

71



Attachment(s):  
1. Connoisseur Lounge Controlling Interest Change Application 

 
 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
Connoisseur Lounge has applied for change of controlling interest on their Marijuana License. Per State law a local 
governing body may protest the approval of an application by providing the applicant with a clear and concise 
written statement of the reason for the protest or may voice a non-objection to a request. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 22-037. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

72



What is this form? 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Marijuana Establishment 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 

550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 

marijuana .licensi ng@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 

Phone: 907.269.0350 

Form MJ-17c: License Transfer Application 

This form must be used to initiate a transfer of ownership of a marijuana establishment license under 3 AAC 306.045. This transfer 
application must be completed and submitted to AMCO's main office, along with all necessary supplemental documents and fees 
listed in Form MJ-17b: License Transfer Application Checklist, before a transfer of ownership, including a change that affects the 
controlling interest of an entity, will be considered by the Marijuana Control Board. 

Please note that licensees seeking to change controlling interest of an entity that owns multiple licenses must submit 

a separate completed copy of this form and the required supplemental documents and fees for each license. 

Section 1 -Transferor Information 

Enter information for the current licensee and licensed establishment 
Licensee: 

License Type: 

Doing Business As: 

Premises Address: 

The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC I License Number: I 27522 

Retail Marijuana Store 
The Connoisseur Lounge 
226 W. Evergreen Avenue 

City: Palmer I State: I Alaska I ZIP: 199645 
Email: mattchambers907@gmail.com 
Local Government: City of Palmer 

D Regular ownership transfer ( ✓ I Transfer of controlling interest in the licensed entity

Section 2 -Transferee Information 

Enter information for the new applicant seeking to be licensed. The business license# should be issued for the DBA listed below, and 
held by the transferee 

Licensee: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC I Alaska Entity # I 10145944 
Mailing Address: 10400 E Bradley Lake Avenue 
City: Palmer I State: I Alaska I ZIP: 199645 
Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 
Business License#: 2116208 I Business Phone: 190?-244-8329 

Designated Licensee: Mathew Chambers 
Contact Email: mattchambers907@gmail.com I Phone# I9o7-244-8329 

[Form MJ-17c] (rev 09/27/2018) Page lof4

73



..,,,\"1\4',,..,,,, 

::: .... "'. � 
AMCO 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-17c: License Transfer Application 

Section 3 - Entity Ownership Information 

This section must be completed by any entity. including a corporation, limited liability company (LLC), partnership, or limited 

partnership, that is applying for a license. Sole proprietors should skip to Section 4. If any entity official is another entity, you must 

include the AK Entity# of that entity in the Entity Official Name field, attach a separate completed copy of this page that breaks down 

the ownership information for that entity, and submit the supplemental documents and fingerprint fees listed on Form MJ-17b 

required for each individual entity official. Entity documents must be submitted for each entity listed on this form. 

If more space is needed, please attach additional completed copies of this page. 

• If the applicant is a corporation, list each officer or director, and owner of any of the corporation's stock.

• If the applicant is a limited liability company, list each member holding any ownership interest and each manager.

• If the applicant is a Partnership or limited partnership list each partner holding any interest and each general partner
I 

Entity Official Name: 

Title(s): 

Email: 

Mailing Address: 

City: 

Entity Official Name: 

Title(s): 

Email: 

Mailing Address: 

City: 

Entity Official Name: 

Title(s): 

Email: 

Mailing Address: 

City: 

Entity Official Name: 

Title(s): 

Email: 

Mailing Address: 

City: 

Entity Official Name: 

Title(s): 

Email: 

Mailing Address: 

City: 

[Form MJ-17c] (rev 09/27/2018) 

Mathew Chambers 
Manager/Member I Phone: l 907-244-8329
mattchambers907@gmail.com 
10400 E Bradley Lake Avenue 
Palmer I State: lAlaska

Trisha Torborg 
Member I Phone: I 907-841-7773
trish 9@hotmail.com 
10400 E. Bradley Lake Avenue 
Palmer I State: f Alaska

Sara Jean Berberich 
Member I Phone: 1907 -841-1005 

sbeairsto@live.com 
PO Box 733 
Palmer I State: !Alaska 

I Phone: I 

I State: l 

I Phone: I 

I State: I 
License#

27522 

I %Owned: 166

I ZIP: 199645 

I % Owned: j 24

I ZIP: j99645 

I % Owned: l 1 0

I ZIP: 199645 

I %Owned: I

I ZIP: l 

I %Owned: l 

I ZIP: 1
Page 2 of4 

74



75



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-17c: License Transfer Application 

Section 4 - Other Licenses 

Ownership and financial interest in other marijuana establishments: 

Does any representative or owner named as a transferee in this application have any direct or indirect 
financial interest in any other marijuana establishment that is licensed in Alaska? 

If ''Yes", disclose which individual(s) has the financial interest, which license number(s), and license type(s): 

Mathew Chambers has financial interest in cultivation license 13487 

Section 5 - Authorization 

Communication with AMCO staff: 

Does any person other than a licensee named in this application have authority to discuss this license with 
AMCO staff? 

If "Yes", disclose the name of the individual and the reason for this authorization: 

jJDW, LLC - Attorney Jana Weltzin and staff 

Section 6 - Transferee Certifications 

Read the line below, and then sign your initials in the box to the right of the statement: 

I certify that all proposed licensees (as defined in 3 AAC 306.020) have been listed on this application. 

Completed copies of all required documents and fees listed on Form MJ-17b are attached to this form. 

Yes No 

0D 

Yes No 

0D 

Initials 

I certify that I understand that providing a false statement on this form or any other form provided by AMCO is grounds 
for rejection or denial of this application or revocation of any license issued. 

I agree to provide all information required by the Marijuana Control Board in support of this application. 

As an applicant for a mariju 
with AS 17.38 and 3 

a establishment license, I declac�,uooffr'1�nalty of unsworn falsification that I have read and am familiar 
nd that this form, includi�g-ti���-;chedules and statements, is true, correct, and complete.

/ _.-�t Of AL,4_j;·.. \ 
: ..

. � a !ft·.. �
Ii n n r _ n 

; • :� ': � U xm'cJ.dOJvt-{; A� 
:: "' . --� • ;',., � Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska.
� o ·.1-o �,.._, .: 

Mathew Chambers 
�t,;.�o/··.{1RY �'u�'::-;�

c::,,
,yf 

'•t1,/fs1o'N'iii\<:i:.��---- My commission expires: OS- � 7-r;}5
Printed name of transferee 

[Form MJ-17c] {rev 09/27/2018) 

,,,,f .IIAY 11\,,,, l,\ ,,,.,,.,,,,,, '1/1""'
Subscribed and sworn to before me this (}!_1- day of 

License# 27522 

Jo:d. 
Page3of4 

76



77



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 

550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 

marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 

Phone: 907.269.0350 

Form MJ-17d: Unaltered Operating Plan and/or Premises 

Diagram Affidavit 

What is this form? 

An operating plan and/or diagram affidavit is required to be submitted by the transferee for any marijuana establishment transfer 
license application where the transferee is not making changes to the operating plan and/or premises diagram approved by the 
Marijuana Control Board, in the course of the transfer application, per 3 AAC 306.045(e). By completing this form you are certifying 
that no changes will be made to the operating plan and/or premises diagram that have been previously submitted and approved for 
this license. This form replaces the information required by regulations 3 AAC 306.020(b)(8), 3 AAC 306.020(c), 3 AAC 306.315(2), 3 
AAC 306.420, 3 AAC 306.520(2) and (3), and 3 AAC 306.615 if no changes are being made to your operating plan or diagram during 
the transfer. 

Section 1 - Establishment Information 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed, as identified on the license transfer application. 

New Licensee: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC I License Number: I 27522 

License Type: Retail Marijuana Store 
Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 
Premises Address: 226 W. Evergreen Avenue 
City: Palmer I State: I Alaska I ZIP: 199645 

Section 2 - Certification 

You must be able to certify at least one of the statements below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the 
applicable box(es) to the right: Initials 

I certify that there will be no changes to the operating plan for this license. fDZJ If the above statement is certified you will not be required to submit forms MJ-01 and MJ-03, MJ-04, MJ-05 or MJ-06. � 

I certify that there will be no changes to the premises diagram for this license. r_ J' 
If the above statement is certified, you will not be required to submit form MJ-02. L � 

l decla

Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska 

ew Chambers 
Printed name of transferee 

20Q(. 

[Form MJ-17d] (rev 2/20/2019) Page 1 of 1 

78



79



80



IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I execute the certificate and affix the Great
Seal of the State of Alaska effective October 23, 2020.

Julie Anderson 
Commissioner

Alaska Entity #10145944

State of Alaska 
Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development 

Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing

Certificate of Organization
 
 

The undersigned, as Commissioner of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development of the State of
Alaska, hereby certifies that a duly signed and verified filing pursuant to the provisions of Alaska Statutes has
been received in this office and has been found to conform to law.

ACCORDINGLY, the undersigned, as Commissioner of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development,
and by virtue of the authority vested in me by law, hereby issues this certificate to

 

The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC

81



Articles of Organization
Domestic Limited Liability Company

Web-10/23/2020 9:52:15 AM

1 - Entity Name

Legal Name:  The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC

2 - Purpose

To own and operate a specialized retail store and any lawful purpose

3 - NAICS Code

452990 - ALL OTHER GENERAL MERCHANDISE STORES

4 - Registered Agent

Name:  Mathew Chambers

Mailing Address:  10400 E Bradley Lake Ave, Palmer, AK 99645

Physical Address:  10400 E Bradley Lake Ave, Palmer, AK 99645

5 - Entity Addresses

Mailing Address:  10400 E Bradley Lake Ave, Palmer, AK 99645

Physical Address:  10400 E Bradley Lake Ave, Palmer, AK 99645

6 - Management

The limited liability company is managed by a manager.

7 - Officials

Name Address % Owned Titles

Jana Weltzin Organizer

Name of person completing this online application

This form is for use by the named entity only. Only persons who are authorized by the above Official(s) of the named entity may make
changes to it. If you proceed to make changes to this form or any information on it, you will be certifying under penalty of perjury that you
are authorized to make those changes, and that everything on the form is true and correct. In addition, persons who file documents with
the commissioner that are known to the person to be false in material respects are guilty of a class A misdemeanor. Continuation means
you have read this and understand it.

Name:  Jana Weltzin

Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development 
Division of Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing 
PO Box 110806, Juneau, AK 99811-0806 
(907) 465-2550 • Email: corporations@alaska.gov 
Website: corporations.alaska.gov

 COR
FOR DIVISION USE ONLY

Page 1 of 1
82



Entity Name:  The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC

Entity Number:  10145944

Home Country:  UNITED STATES

Home State/Prov.:  ALASKA

Physical Address:  10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER,
AK 99645

Mailing Address:  10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER,
AK 99645

Registered Agent information cannot be changed on this form. Per
Alaska Statutes, to update or change the Registered Agent
information this entity must submit the Statement of Change form
for this entity type along with its filing fee.

Name:  Mathew Chambers

Physical Address:  10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER,
AK 99645

Mailing Address:  10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER,
AK 99645

Domestic Limited Liability Company

Initial Biennial Report

Officials: The following is a complete list of officials who will be on record as a result of this filing.

Provide all officials and required information. Use only the titles provided.
Mandatory Members: this entity must have at least one (1) Member. A Member must own a %. In addition, this entity must provide
all Members who own 5% or more of the entity. A Member may be an individual or another entity.
Manager: If the entity is manager managed (per its articles or amendment) then there must be at least (1) Manager provided. A
Manager may be a Member if the Manager also owns a % of the entity.

Full Legal Name Complete Mailing Address % Owned

Mathew Chambers 10400 E Bradley Lake Ave, Palmer, AK 99645 50  X  X 

Elizabeth Warren 10400 E Bradley Lake Ave, Palmer, AK 99645 50  X  X 

If necessary, attach a list of additional officers on a separate 8.5 X 11 sheet of paper.

NAICS Code:  452990 - ALL OTHER GENERAL MERCHANDISE STORES

New NAICS Code (optional):  
 

This form is for use by the named entity only. Only persons who are authorized by the above Official(s) of the named entity may make
changes to it. If you proceed to make changes to this form or any information on it, you will be certifying under penalty of perjury that you
are authorized to make those changes, and that everything on the form is true and correct. In addition, persons who file documents with
the commissioner that are known to the person to be false in material respects are guilty of a class A misdemeanor. Continuation means
you have read this and understand it.

Name:  Jana Weltzin

Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development 
Division of Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing 
PO Box 110806, Juneau, AK 99811-0806 
(907) 465-2550 • Email: corporations@alaska.gov 
Website: corporations.alaska.gov

 COR
FOR DIVISION USE ONLY

M
an

ag
er

M
em

be
r

Entity #: 10145944 Page 1 of 1

AK Entity #: 10145944
Date Filed: 10/23/2020

State of Alaska, DCCED

83



AK Entity #: 10145944
Date Filed: 11/23/2020

State of Alaska, DCCED

84



85



OPERATING AGREEMENT 
OF 

The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

86



This Operating Agreement (“Agreement”) is dated effective _________, 2020, among The Connoisseur 
Lounge, LLC, an Alaska limited liability company (the “Company”), and the interest holders of the 
Company set forth on Schedule 2.1. 

SECTION 1 DEFINITIONS 

Unless defined elsewhere in this Agreement, capitalized terms used in this Agreement will have the 
meanings ascribed to them in the attached Appendix A. 

SECTION 2 COMPANY 

2.1 Company Information.  Schedule 2.1 sets forth the following Company information: 

(a) the name of each Interest Holder, and whether the Interest Holder is a Member or an
Assignee;

(b) the number of Units owned by each Interest Holder;

(c) each Interest Holder’s contribution to the Company, together with the date and value of
the contribution;

(d) the value of each Interest Holder’s Capital Account;

(e) the name of each Manager;

(f) the tax matters member of the Company; and

(g) the address of the Company and each Interest Holder.

2.2 Amendment.  The Company will promptly amend and restate Schedule 2.1 to account for 
any changes in the information set forth on Schedule 2.1 resulting from matters that occur in 
accordance with the Act, the Articles of Organization, and this Agreement.  Upon an 
amendment, the Company will promptly deliver to each Member a copy of the amended and 
restated Schedule 2.1.  

2.3 Approval of Acts of Organizer.  The Company and the Members approve, ratify, and 
confirm all acts previously taken by the organizer of the Company in connection with filing 
the Articles of Organization. 

SECTION 3 PURPOSES AND POWERS 

3.1 Purposes.  The Company may own and operate a marijuana retail store, and other related 
businesses, all in accordance with the laws of the State of Alaska, the Alcohol and Marijuana 
Control Office (AMCO), the City of Palmer and the Matanuska-Susitna Borough.  The 
Company will not conduct or promote any other business.   

3.2 General Powers.  Subject to the Act, the Company may have and exercise all powers and do 
every act not inconsistent with law which is necessary or convenient to promote and effect 
any and all of the purposes for which the Company is organized. 

SECTION 4 MANAGEMENT AND MANAGEMENT RIGHTS OF MEMBERS 

4.1 Management.  The Company is a manager-managed limited liability company. 

December 11

87



4.2 Rights of Managers.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any matter relating to 
the business of the Company will be exclusively decided by a Majority of Managers. 

4.3 Designation and Removal.  A Manager: 

(a) must be designated, appointed, elected, removed, or replaced by a vote, approval, or 
consent of a Majority of Units; and 

(b) holds office until a successor has been elected and qualified, unless the Manager sooner 
resigns or is removed. 

(c) The members hereby designate, appoint, and elect Mathew Chambers as Manager of 
the Company.  

4.4 Matters Requiring Consent of All Members.  The following matters of the Company 
require the consent of all of the Members: 

(a) the amendment of the Articles of Organization, except that the Company may file 
articles of merger or articles of conversion to effectuate a merger or conversion of the 
Company approved by the Members; 

(b) the amendment of this Agreement, except that the Company may amend Schedule 2.1 
in accordance with Section 2.2 without the consent of the Members; and 

(c) the compromise, as among the Interest Holders, of an obligation to make a contribution 
under Section 5.2(b) or to return money or other property paid or Distributed in 
violation of any provision of the Act. 

4.5 Matters Requiring Consent of a Majority of Units.  The following matters of the Company 
require the consent of a Majority of Units: 

(a) the sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, or transfer or disposition of any real 
property, or of all, or substantially all, of the Company’s property; 

(b) the merger of the Company with any other entity; 

(c) subject to Section 4.17(g), a transaction involving an actual or a potential conflict of 
interest between a Member or Manager and the Company; 

(d) a change in the nature of the Company’s business;  

(e) the admission of an Assignee as a Member under Section 11.1; 

(f) the consent to dissolve the Company under Section 13.1(b); and 

(g) any other matter specified in the Articles of Organization or this Agreement as 
requiring Member approval if no number or percentage of Members is otherwise stated. 

4.6 Meeting of Members. 

(a) The Company will hold a meeting of Members: 

(1) on call of the Managers; or 

88



(2) if the holders of at least 10% of the Units sign, date, and deliver to the Company  
one or more written demands for the meeting. 

(b) A Members’ meeting may be held in or out of the State of Alaska at the Company’s 
principal office or at any other place fixed by the Managers.  The Managers may 
determine that a Members’ meeting will occur solely by means of remote 
communication. 

4.7 Action by Members Without a Meeting. 

(a) Action required or permitted to be taken by the Members may be taken without a 
meeting if the action is taken by all the Members. 

(b) The action taken under this Section 4.7 must be evidenced by one or more written 
consents describing the action taken, signed by all the Members, and delivered to the 
Company for inclusion in the minutes or filing with the Company records. 

(c) Action taken under Section 4.7(a) is effective when the last Member signs the consent, 
unless the consent specifies an earlier or later effective date. 

(d) A consent signed under this Section 4.7 has the effect of a meeting vote and may be 
described as such in any document.  

4.8 Notice of Members’ Meeting.   

(a) The Company must notify Members of the date, time and place of each Members’ 
meeting not earlier than 60 days nor less than 10 days before the meeting date.   

(b) Notice of a meeting need not include a description of the purpose or purposes for which 
the meeting is called. 

(c) If a Members’ meeting is adjourned to a different date, time or place, notice need not 
be given of the new date, time or place if the new date, time or place is announced at 
the meeting before adjournment.   

4.9 Waiver of Notice of Members’ Meeting. 

(a) A Member may at any time waive any notice required by this Agreement.  The waiver 
must be in writing, be signed by the Member entitled to the notice and be delivered to 
the Company for inclusion in the minutes for filing with the Company records. 

(b) A Member’s attendance at a meeting waives objection to lack of notice or defective 
notice of the meeting, unless the Member at the beginning of the meeting objects to 
holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting. 
   

4.10 Participation at Members’ Meeting. 

(a) Members and proxy holders that are not physically present for a Members’ meeting 
may participate in the meeting, be deemed present in person and vote if the Managers 
authorize participation by remote communication.  Participation by remote 
communication is subject to guidelines and procedures that the Managers adopt.  The 
Company must maintain a record of the vote or other action of a Member or proxy 
holder that participates in a Members’ meeting by remote communication. 

89



(b) The notice of each meeting of Members at which the Managers authorize participation 
in the manner described in Section 4.10(a) must state that the Managers authorize 
participation by remote communication and must describe how a Member may notify 
the Company of the Member’s desire to participate in the meeting by remote 
communication. 

4.11 Meeting of Managers.  In the event that The Company has more than one Manger, the 
Managers may hold regular or special meetings in or out of the State of Alaska.  The 
Managers may permit any or all Managers to participate in a regular or special meeting by, or 
conduct the meeting through, use of any means of communication by which all Managers 
participating may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting.  A Manager 
participating in a meeting by this means is deemed to be present in person at the meeting. 

4.12 Action by Manager Without a Meeting.  Action required or permitted to be taken by the 
Manager may be taken without a meeting. If there are more than one Manager, action 
required or permitted to be taken by the Manager if the action is taken by all Managers. 

4.13 Notice of Managers’ Meeting.  Regular meetings of the Manager(s) may be held without 
notice of the date, time, place or purpose of the meeting.  Special meetings of the Managers 
must be preceded by at least two days’ notice of the date, time and place of the meeting.  The 
notice need not describe the purpose of the special meeting. 

4.14 Waiver of Notice of Managers’ Meeting.  A Manager may at any time waive any notice 
required by this Agreement.  A Manager’s attendance at or participation in a meeting waives 
any required notice to the Manager of the meeting unless the Manager at the beginning of the 
meeting, or promptly upon the Manager’s arrival, objects to holding the meeting or 
transacting business at the meeting and does not thereafter vote for or assent to action taken at 
the meeting.   

4.15 Proxy.  A Member or Manager may appoint a proxy to vote or otherwise act for the Member 
or Manager by signing an appointment instrument, either personally or by the Member’s or 
Manager’s attorney-in-fact.     

4.16 Agency Power.  Each Manager is an agent of the Company for the purpose of its business.  
Subject to Section 4.4 and Section 4.5, any Manager may sign and deliver any instrument in 
the Company’s name, including but not limited to any instrument transferring or affecting the 
Company’s interest in real property. 

4.17 Duties and Standard of Conduct. 

(a) The only fiduciary duties a Manager owes to the Company and the Members are the 
duty of loyalty and the duty of care set forth in Section 4.17(b) and Section 4.17(d). 

(b) A Manager’s duty of loyalty to the Company and the Members includes the following: 

(1) to account to the Company and hold for it any property, profit or benefit derived 
by the Manager in the conduct and winding up of the Company’s business or 
derived from a use by the Manager of Company property; and 

(2) except as provided in Section 4.17(f) and Section 4.17(g), to refrain from dealing 
with the Company in a manner adverse to the Company and to refrain from 
representing a person with an interest adverse to the Company, in the conduct or 
winding up of the Company’s business. 

90



(c) A Manager will not violate the Manager’s duty of loyalty to the Company and the 
Members by: 

(1) competing with the Company in the conduct of the business of the Company 
before the dissolution of the Company; or 

(2) entering into or engaging in, for the Manager’s own account, an investment, 
business, transaction or activity that is similar to the investments, businesses, 
transactions or activities of the Company. 

(d) A Manager’s duty of care to the Company and the Members in the conduct and 
winding up of the business of the Company is limited to refraining from engaging in 
grossly negligent or reckless conduct, intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of 
law. 

(e) A Manager will discharge the duties to the Company and the Members under the Act or 
under this Agreement and exercise any rights consistent with the obligation of good 
faith and fair dealing.  

(f) A Manager does not violate a duty or obligation under the Act or under this Agreement 
merely because the Manager’s conduct furthers the Manager’s own interest.  

(g) A Manager may lend money to or transact other business with the Company, provided 
that any loan or transaction between the Manager and the Company must be authorized 
or ratified by a Majority of Units after full disclosure of all material facts. 

(h) Loans and other transactions between the Company and a Manager are binding on the 
parties in the same manner as transactions between the Company and persons who are 
not Managers, subject to other applicable law.  

(i) A Member who is not also a Manager owes no duties to the Company or the other 
Members solely by reason of being a Member. 

4.18 Limitation of Liability and Indemnification.  

(a) Except as otherwise provided in Section 4.18(b), the Company will: 

(1) indemnify any person for acts or omissions as a Member or Manager; and 

(2) eliminate the liability of a Member or Manager to the Company or the Members 
for damages from such acts or omissions.  

(b) The Company may not indemnify a person for acts or omissions as a Member or 
Manager or eliminate the liability of a Member or Manager for: 

(1) any breach of this Agreement; 

(2) any breach of the Manager’s duty of loyalty to the Company or the Members; 

(3) acts or omissions not in good faith which involve intentional misconduct or a 
knowing violation of law; 

(4) any unlawful Distribution under AS 10.50.320; or 

91



(5) any transaction from which the Member or Manager derives an improper 
personal benefit. 

4.19 Liability of Members and Managers.  The debts, obligations, and liabilities of the 
Company, whether arising in contract, tort, or otherwise, are solely the debts, obligations, and 
liabilities of the Company.  A Member or Manager is not personally liable for a debt, 
obligation, or liability of the Company solely by reason of being or acting as a Member or 
Manager.  

SECTION 5 CONTRIBUTIONS 

5.1 Contributions.  The contributions of a Member to the Company may consist of cash, 
property, services rendered, or a promissory note or other obligation to contribute cash or to 
perform services. 

5.2 Liability for Contributions. 

(a) A promise by a Member to contribute to the Company is not enforceable unless it is set 
out in writing and signed by the Member. 

(b) The obligation of an Interest Holder to make a contribution may be compromised only 
by consent of all Members. 

5.3 Initial Contributions.  Each Member will, on or before the date of the Member’s 
contribution set forth on Schedule 2.1: 

(a) contribute to the Company the contribution of the Member set forth on Schedule 2.1; 
and 

(b) deliver to the Company such deeds, bills of sale, certificates of title, assignments, and 
other documents that the Company may reasonably request for the contribution, in 
form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company. 

5.4 Additional Contributions.  No Interest Holder is required to make any additional 
contributions to the Company.  

5.5 No Interest on Contributions.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, no Interest 
Holder will be paid any interest on any contribution. 

5.6 Return of Contributions.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, no Interest 
Holder will have the right to receive any return of any contribution.  

SECTION 6 CAPITAL ACCOUNTS 

6.1 Maintenance of Capital Accounts.  The Capital Accounts of the Interest Holders will be 
determined and maintained throughout the full term of the Company in accordance with the 
capital accounting rules of Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv). 

6.2 Basic Rules.  Except as otherwise provided in Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv), each Interest 
Holder’s Capital Account will be: 

(a) increased by: 

(1) the amount of money contributed by the Interest Holder to the Company; 

92



(2) the fair market value of property contributed by the Interest Holder to the 
Company (net of liabilities secured by such contributed property that the 
Company is considered to assume or take subject to under IRC § 752); and 

(3) allocations to the Interest Holder of Profit, including income and gain exempt 
from tax and income and gain described in Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(g), but 
excluding income and gain described in Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(4)(i);  

(b) decreased by: 

(1) the amount of money Distributed to the Interest Holder by the Company; 

(2) the fair market value of property Distributed to the Interest Holder by the 
Company (net of liabilities secured by such Distributed property that such 
Interest Holder is considered to assume or take subject to under IRC § 752); 

(3) allocations to the Interest Holder of expenditures of the Company described in 
IRC § 705(a)(2)(B); and 

(4) allocations of Loss, including loss and deduction described in Treas Reg § 1.704-
1(b)(2)(iv)(g), but excluding items described in Section 6.2(b)(3) and loss or 
deduction described in Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(4)(i) or Treas Reg § 1.704-
1(b)(4)(iii); and 

(c) otherwise adjusted in accordance with the additional rules set forth in 
Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv). 

6.3 Section 704(c) Considerations.  In cases where IRC § 704(c) and Treas Reg § 1.704-3 apply 
to Company property, the Interest Holders’ Capital Accounts will be adjusted in accordance 
with Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(g) for allocations to them of income, gain, loss, and 
deduction – including depreciation, depletion, amortization, or other cost recovery – as 
computed for book purposes, with respect to the property. 
 
 
 

6.4 Revaluations of Property.   

(a) Subject to Section 6.4(b), the Capital Accounts of the Interest Holders will be increased 
or decreased to reflect a revaluation of Company property on the Company’s books 
upon the occurrence of any of the following events: 

(1) a contribution of money or other property – other than a de minimis amount – to 
the Company by a new or existing Member as consideration for Units; 

(2) a Distribution of Company property – other than a de minimis amount – by the 
Company to an Interest Holder as consideration for Units; or 

(3) the liquidation of the Company. 

(b) Adjustments to Capital Accounts under this Section 6.4 may be made only if: 

(1) the adjustments are based on the fair market value of Company property – taking 
IRC § 7701(g) into account – on the date of adjustment; 

93



(2) the adjustments reflect the manner in which the unrealized income, gain, loss, or 
deduction inherent in such property – that has not been reflected in the Capital 
Accounts previously – would be allocated among the Interest Holders if there 
were a taxable disposition of such property for such fair market value on that 
date;  

(3) the Interest Holders’ Capital Accounts are adjusted in accordance with 
Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(g) for allocations to them of depreciation, 
depletion, amortization, and gain or loss, as computed for book purposes, with 
respect to such property; and 

(4) the Interest Holders’ distributive shares of depreciation, depletion, amortization, 
and gain or loss, as computed for tax purposes, with respect to such property will 
be determined so as to take account of the variation between the adjusted tax 
basis and book value of such property in the same manner as under IRC § 704(c) 
and Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(4)(i).  

6.5 Transfers of Units.  Upon a sale, exchange, gift, or other transfer of Units by an Interest 
Holder, the Capital Account of the Interest Holder that is attributable to the Units will carry 
over to the transferee. 

6.6 Section 754 Elections.  Upon adjustment to the adjusted tax basis of Company property 
under IRC § 732, IRC § 734, or IRC § 743, the Capital Accounts of the Interest Holders will 
be adjusted as provided in Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m). 

6.7 Negative Capital Account Balances.  No Interest Holder will be obligated to restore a 
negative Capital Account balance.  

SECTION 7 ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES 

7.1 Allocation of Profits and Losses.   

(a) After giving effect to the allocation provisions set forth on Schedule 7.1, Profits and 
Losses will be allocated among the Interest Holders in proportion to their Units.  

7.2 Transfer of Units.  If an Interest Holder sells, exchanges, or liquidates some or all of the 
Interest Holder’s Units, then to the extent permitted by IRC § 706, Profits and Losses will be 
allocated between the former Interest Holder and the Interest Holder’s successor-in-interest as 
follows: 

(a) the Company taxable year with respect to the Units will close on the date of such sale, 
exchange, or liquidation;    

(b) the former Interest Holder will be allocated the amount of the Profits and Losses 
attributable to the Units for the Company taxable year ending with the date of such 
sale, exchange, or liquidation; and 

(c) the Interest Holder’s successor-in-interest will be allocated the amount of the Profits 
and Losses attributable to the Units after the date of such sale, exchange, or liquidation.   

7.3 Distributions In Kind.  The Profits or Losses attributable to any asset in kind that is 
Distributed to one or more Interest Holders: 

94



(a) will be determined as if the asset had been sold at its fair market value before the 
dissolution and winding up of the Company; and 

(b) will be allocated as provided in Section 7.1. 

SECTION 8 DISTRIBUTIONS 

8.1 Allocation of Interim Distributions.  Distributions of cash or other assets of the Company 
before the dissolution and winding up of the Company will be allocated among the Interest 
Holders as follows: 

(a) first, in proportion to their Units, until each Interest Holder has received the amount 
due and owing to the Interest Holder under Section 8.2(a); 

(b) next, in proportion to their Unreturned Capital Contributions, until each Interest Holder 
has received Distributions in an amount equal to the Interest Holder’s Unreturned 
Capital Contribution; and 

(c) next, in proportion to their Units.   

8.2 Right to Interim Distributions.  Except as provided in AS 10.50.185 or AS 10.50.320, and 
subject to Section 8.1, an Interest Holder is entitled to receive Distributions from the 
Company before the dissolution and winding up of the Company as follows: 

(a) on or before March 31 of each calendar year, the Income Tax Distributions for the 
previous calendar year; and 

(b) to the extent and at such other times as a Majority of Managers may determine. 
 
 

8.3 Distribution In Kind.  

(a) No Interest Holder, regardless of the nature of the Interest Holder’s contribution, has 
any right to demand and receive any Distribution from the Company in any form other 
than cash. 

(b) No Interest Holder may be compelled to accept a Distribution of any asset in kind from 
the Company to the extent that the percentage of the asset Distributed to the Interest 
Holder exceeds a percentage of that asset that is equal to the percentage in which the 
Interest Holder shares in operating or liquidating Distributions, as the case may be, 
from the Company. 

(c) The value of any asset in kind that is Distributed will be the fair market value of the 
asset as of the date of Distribution. 

(d) If an asset in kind is Distributed to more than one Interest Holder, the Interest Holders 
will own the asset as tenants in common. 

8.4 Limitations on Distribution.   

(a) A Distribution may be made by the Company to any Interest Holder only if, after 
giving effect to the Distribution, in the judgment of the Managers: 

95



(1) the Company would be able to pay its debts as they become due in the ordinary 
course of business; and 

(2) the fair value of the total assets of the Company would at least equal the sum of: 

(A) its total liabilities; plus 

(B) the amount that would be needed, if the Company were to be dissolved at 
the time of the Distribution, to satisfy the preferential rights upon 
dissolution, if any, of other Interest Holders that are superior to the rights 
of the Interest Holders receiving the Distribution. 

(b) The Managers may base a determination that a Distribution is not prohibited under 
Section 8.4(a) either on: 

(1) financial statements that the Managers reasonably believe have been prepared on 
the basis of accounting practices and principles that are reasonable in the 
circumstances; or 

(2) a fair valuation or other method that the Managers reasonably believe is 
reasonable in the circumstances. 

(c) For purposes of this Section 8.4, the amount, if any, by which a liability as to which the 
recourse of creditors is limited to specific property of the Company exceeds the fair 
value of the specific property will be disregarded as a liability of the Company. 

(d) The effect of a Distribution under Section 8.4(a) is measured for purposes of this 
Section 8.4: 

(1) in the case of a Distribution by purchase, retirement, or other acquisition of all or 
a portion of an Interest Holder’s Units, as of the earlier of the date the money or 
other property is transferred or debt incurred by the Company or the date the 
Interest Holder ceases to be an Interest Holder with respect to the Units 
purchased, retired, or otherwise acquired; 

(2) in the case of any other Distribution of indebtedness, as of the date the 
indebtedness is Distributed; and 

(3) in all other cases, as of the date a Distribution is authorized if the payment occurs 
within 120 days after the date of authorization or the date the payment is made if 
it occurs more than 120 days after the date of authorization. 

SECTION 9 WITHDRAWAL 

9.1 Withdrawal.  A Member has no power to withdraw voluntarily from the Company.   

9.2 Expulsion.  A Member may not be expelled from the Company. 

SECTION 10 CESSATION OF MEMBERSHIP 

10.1 Cessation of Membership.  A Member will cease to be a Member in the Company only 
upon the occurrence of a Call Option Triggering Event with respect to the Member. 

10.2 Effect of Cessation. 

96



(a) Except as otherwise provided in Section 10.2(b), following the cessation of 
membership:   

(1) the holder of the former Member’s Units will be an Assignee with respect to the 
Units; 

(2) except as otherwise provided in AS 10.50.305 or AS 10.50.320, until the 
Assignee becomes a Member, the Assignee has no liability, duty, or obligation as 
a Member solely as a result of the cessation; and  

(3) the former Member is not released from liability as a Member accruing or arising 
prior to the cessation solely as a result of the cessation, and is not relieved of any 
fiduciary duties the former Member otherwise may continue to owe the Company 
or the other Members. 

(b) If the Member who ceases to be a Member is the only Member of the Company, the 
holder of the former Member’s Units will become a Member simultaneously with and 
upon the cessation of membership.  

SECTION 11 ASSIGNEES 

11.1 Admission of Assignee as Member.  An Assignee may become a Member upon the consent 
of a Majority of Units. 

11.2 Rights of Assignee Who Becomes Member.  

(a) An Assignee who becomes a Member has the rights and powers, and is subject to the 
restrictions and liabilities, of a Member under the Act, the Articles of Organization, and 
this Agreement.  An Assignee who becomes a Member also is liable for any obligations 
of the former holder of the Assignee’s Units to make contributions under AS 
10.50.280.  

(b) Whether or not an Assignee becomes a Member, the former holder of the Assignee’s 
Units is not released from the former holder’s liability to the Company to make 
contributions under AS 10.50.280. 

SECTION 12 ISSUANCE OF UNITS 

12.1 Issuance of Units.  As of the Date of this Agreement, the Company has issued 100 units and 
shall not issue any more units unless unanimous approval of all Interest Holders.  The 
Company may issue Units, options, or other rights to acquire Units to a person after the date 
of this Agreement, and admit the person as a Member with respect to issued Units, upon the 
consent of Majority of Managers:  

(a) if the person is a party to this Agreement; 

(b) if the person becomes a party to this Agreement by signing a Joinder Agreement; or 

(c) with respect to options or other rights to acquire Units, if the exercise of the option or 
other right is contingent upon the person becoming a party to this Agreement by 
signing a Joinder Agreement. 

97



12.2 Consent.  Each party to this Agreement consents to a person that is issued Units, options, or 
other rights to acquire Units by the Company becoming a party to this Agreement if the 
person signs a Joinder Agreement.   

SECTION 13 DISSOLUTION 

13.1 Dissolution.  The Company will be dissolved and its affairs will be wound up upon the first 
to occur of the following:  

(a) upon reaching the time for dissolution, if any, specified in the Articles of Organization; 

(b) by the consent of a Majority of Units; 

(c) intentionally left blank; 

(d) at such time as the Company has no Members; 

(e) upon administrative dissolution by the Secretary of State under AS 10.50.408, but only 
after the two-year period for reinstatement in AS 10.50.408 expires; and 

(f) upon entry of a judgment of judicial dissolution under AS 10.50.405 or AS 10.50.408. 

13.2 Distribution of Assets Upon Dissolution.  Upon the winding up of the Company, the assets 
of the Company will be Distributed and applied in the following priority: 

(a) to the extent permitted by law, to creditors, including Interest Holders and former 
Interest Holders who are creditors, in satisfaction of liabilities of the Company other 
than liabilities for Distributions to Interest Holders under Section 8.2; 

(b) to Interest Holders and former Interest Holders in satisfaction of the Company’s 
obligations for Distributions due and owing under Section 8.2; and 

(c) after giving effect to the allocation provisions under Section 7.1, to each Interest 
Holder in an amount equal to the Interest Holder’s positive Capital Account balance. 

13.3 Effect of Dissolution; Winding Up.  

(a) Upon dissolution, the Company continues its existence, but may not carry on any 
business except that which is appropriate to wind up and liquidate its business and 
affairs, including: 

(1) collecting the Company’s assets; 

(2) disposing of the Company’s properties that will not be Distributed in kind to the 
Interest Holders; 

(3) discharging or making provision for discharging the Company’s liabilities; 

(4) Distributing the Company’s remaining property among the Interest Holders in 
accordance with Section 13.2;  

(5) adopting a plan of merger; and 

(6) doing other acts necessary to wind up and liquidate the Company’s business and 
affairs. 

98



(b) The Managers may wind up the Company’s affairs. 

SECTION 14 ACCOUNTING, TAXES, REGULATION AND BANKING 

14.1 Books of Account.  The Company will keep complete and accurate books of account and 
records in a manner sufficient to effect and carry out this Agreement.  The books of account 
and records will be kept in accordance with sound accounting practices consistently applied.  

14.2 Taxable Year.  The Company will have a taxable year ending on December 31. 

14.3 Bank Accounts.  All Company funds will be deposited in one or more bank accounts in the 
Company’s name.  The Managers will determine the banks, the types of accounts, and the 
individuals who have authority with respect to the accounts.  Company funds will not be 
commingled with the funds of any Member(s) or Manager(s).  Notwithstanding the above, if 
Managers are not able to obtain bank accounts for deposit of Company funds, Managers will 
hold Company funds in a secure vault, safe or other method of safe keeping. 

14.4 Tax and Regulatory Returns and Reports.  The Company will cause to be prepared and 
submitted in a timely fashion all federal, state, and local income and other tax returns and 
regulatory reports for the Company.  Within 90 days after the end of a taxable year, the 
Company will deliver to each Interest Holder: 

(a) any financial statements of the Company for the taxable year; 

(b) a statement showing the share of Company income, gain, loss, credit, and deduction for 
income tax purposes allocated to each Interest Holder for the taxable year; and 

(c) any other information concerning the Company that the Interest Holder may require to 
complete the Interest Holder’s federal, state, and local income tax returns. 

14.5 Reporting.  Each Interest Holder will report the Interest Holder’s share of Company income, 
gain, loss, credit, and deduction for income tax purposes in a manner consistent with this 
Agreement. 

14.6 Tax Matters Member.  The Company will have a tax matters member who will have all of 
the powers and obligations of a “tax matters partner” under IRC § 6231(a)(7).  The tax 
matters member must be a Member, and must be designated or replaced by the Managers. 

14.7 Tax Elections.  The Managers may make all of the Company’s tax elections permitted under 
the Internal Revenue Code, including but not limited to elections under IRC § 754. 

SECTION 15 RECORDS AND REPORTS 

15.1 Company Records. 

(a) The Company will keep at its principal office or registered office the following: 

(1) a current list of the full name and last-known business, residence, or mailing 
address of each Interest Holder and Manager, both past and present; 

(2) a copy of the Articles of Organization and all amendments to the Articles of 
Organization, together with executed copies of any powers of attorney pursuant 
to which any amendment has been executed; 

99



(3) copies of the Company's federal, state and local income and other tax returns and 
regulatory reports, if any, for the three most recent years, or as otherwise required 
by law or regulation; and  

(4) a copy of this Agreement and all amendments to this Agreement, copies of any 
writings permitted or required under the Act, and copies of any financial 
statements of the Company for the three most recent years. 

(b) Any Company records are subject to inspection and copying at the reasonable request, 
and at the expense, of any Interest Holder during ordinary business hours. 

15.2 Scope of Inspection Right. 

(a) An Interest Holder’s agent or attorney has the same inspection and copying rights as 
the Interest Holder. 

(b) The right to copy records includes, if reasonable, the right to receive copies made by 
photographic, xerographic, or other means. 

(c) The Company may impose a reasonable charge, covering the costs of labor and 
material, for copies of any documents provided to the Interest Holder.  The charge may 
not exceed the estimated cost of production or reproduction of the records. 

(d) The Company may comply with an Interest Holder’s demand to inspect the record of 
Interest Holders by providing the Interest Holder with a list of Interest Holders that was 
compiled no earlier than the date of the Interest Holder’s demand. 

15.3 Certain Expense Reports to Interest Holders.  If the Company indemnifies or advances 
expenses to a Member or Manager in connection with a proceeding by or in the right of the 
Company, the Company will report the indemnification or advance in writing to the Interest 
Holders.  

SECTION 16 RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER 

16.1 Restriction.  No Transfer of Units may be made unless the Transfer is expressly permitted or 
required by this Agreement.   

16.2 Securities Laws.  No offer or Transfer of Units may be made unless pursuant to an effective 
registration statement filed under the Securities Act of 1933 and applicable state securities 
laws, or unless the Company receives an opinion of counsel, in form and from counsel 
satisfactory to the Company, that the offer or Transfer is exempt from the registration 
requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 and applicable state securities laws.   

16.3 Transferees.   

(a) No Transfer of Units may be made unless the transferee is a party to this Agreement, or 
becomes a party to this Agreement by signing a Joinder Agreement. 

(b) If a Transfer of Units expressly permitted or required by this Agreement is made to a 
person other than the Company: 

(1) the transferee will be an Assignee with respect to the Units if: 

100



(A) neither the transferee nor the transferor was a Member immediately before 
the Transfer occurred; or 

(B) the Transfer causes a cessation of membership under Section 10.1, and 
Section 10.2(b) does not apply; and 

(2) the transferee will be a Member with respect to the Units in all other cases. 

16.4 Consent.  Each party to this Agreement consents to a permitted transferee becoming a party 
to this Agreement if the permitted transferee signs a Joinder Agreement.   

16.5 Prohibited Transfers.  Any Transfer of Units that is not expressly permitted or required by 
this Agreement will be null and void and have no force or effect unless the Company is 
required by applicable law to recognize the Transfer or unless the Company and all of the 
Members elect to recognize the Transfer. 

16.6 Indemnification.  Each Interest Holder will defend and indemnify the Company and each 
present and future member, assignee, manager, officer, employee, and representative of the 
Company for, from, and against any and all claims, actions, proceedings, damages, liabilities, 
and expenses of every kind, whether known or unknown, including but not limited to 
reasonable attorney’s fees, resulting from or arising out of any Transfer of Units by the 
Interest Holder that is not expressly permitted or required by this Agreement. 

SECTION 17 PERMITTED TRANSFERS 

An Interest Holder may Transfer Units as follows, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in 
Section 16:  

17.1 Prior Consent.  An Interest Holder may Transfer Units with the prior written consent of all 
of the other Members, which the Members may withhold in their sole discretion.   

17.2 Merger or Conversion.  An Interest Holder may Transfer Units in accordance with a plan of 
merger or plan of conversion approved by the Company. 

17.3 Death.  Subject to Section 18, an Interest Holder may Transfer Units by devise, intestate 
succession, or operation of law upon the Interest Holder’s death. 

SECTION 18 CALL OPTION TRIGGERING EVENTS  

18.1 Call Option Triggering Events.  Each of the following is a Call Option Triggering Event: 

(a) the death of an Interest Holder; 

(b) the incompetency of an Interest Holder, if an entry of a judgment by a court of 
competent jurisdiction adjudicates the Interest Holder incompetent to manage the 
Interest Holder’s person or estate; 

(c) the Bankruptcy of an Interest Holder; 

(d) an Interest Holder materially breaches this Agreement and fails to cure the breach 
within 30 days after the Company or any other Interest Holder notifies the Interest 
Holder of the breach; and 

101



(e) an Interest Holder’s Transfer of Units, unless the Transfer is expressly permitted or 
required by this Agreement. 

(f) an Interest Holder becomes ineligible to be a marijuana establishment licensee, or 
becomes ineligible to hold a valid and current marijuana handler permit under the laws 
and regulations of the State of Alaska or under the Code of the Municipality of 
Anchorage. 

(g) Interest Holder takes actions that cause the Company substantial and material 
reputational damage – however, subtracted from the buyout amount shall be the 
estimated amount of damage caused to Company.  
 

18.2 Notice.   

(a) If the Company obtains actual knowledge that a Call Option Triggering Event has 
occurred with respect to an Interest Holder, the Company will promptly give each 
Interest Holder a notice stating that the Call Option Triggering Event has occurred. 

(b) If an Interest Holder obtains actual knowledge that a Call Option Triggering Event has 
occurred with respect to any Interest Holder, and if the Interest Holder knows or should 
know that the Company has not obtained such knowledge, the Interest Holder will 
promptly give the Company a notice stating that the Call Option Triggering Event has 
occurred.  

18.3 Company’s Option to Buy.   

(a) For 120 days after the delivery of the notice specified in Section 18.2(a), and subject to 
Section 18.3(b) and Section 18.3(c), the Company will have the option to buy some or 
all of the Call Option Units owned by the Interest Holder (including units subject to 
Section 18.1(e)) to whom the Call Option Triggering Event occurred, at the price 
determined in accordance with Section 19 and on the terms and conditions set forth in 
Section 20. 

(b) If a Call Option Event occurs to Mathew Chambers, and if Elizabeth Warren and 
Trisha Torborg are Members, then Elizabeth Warren and Trisha Torborg may cause the 
Company to assign the option in Section 18.3(a) to Elizabeth Warren and Trisha 
Torborg, with respect to some or all of the Call Option Units. 

(c) If a Call Option Event occurs to Elizabeth Warren and Trisha Torborg, and if Mathew 
Chambers is a Member, then Mathew Chambers may cause the Company to assign 
some or all of the option in Section 18.3(a) to Mathew Chambers, with respect to some 
or all of the Call Option Units. 

(d) The Company (or a permitted assignee under this Section 18.3) may exercise the option 
by delivering to the Interest Holder a notice stating that the option is exercised and 
specifying the number of Call Option Units for which the option is exercised. 

(e) If the Company (or a permitted assignee under this Section 18.3) does not exercise the 
option with respect to all of the Call Option Units owned by the Interest Holder within 
the 120-day period after the delivery of the notice specified in Section 18.2(a), the 
Company will promptly give the other Members a notice stating that fact and the 
number of Call Option Units for which the option was and was not exercised.  

102



18.4 Other Members’ Option to Buy. 

(a) For 60 days after the delivery of the notice specified in Section 18.3(e), each other 
Member will have the option to buy some or all of the Call Option Units owned by the 
Interest Holder for which the option was not exercised by the Company (or a permitted 
assignee under this Section 18.3), at the price determined in accordance with Section 
19 and on the terms and conditions set forth in Section 20. 

(b) An other Member may exercise the option by delivering to the Company and the 
Interest Holder to whom the Call Option Triggering Event occurred a notice stating that 
the option is exercised and specifying the number of Call Option Units for which the 
option is exercised. 

18.5 Sale to the Company and the other Members.  If one or more of the options under Section 
18.3 or Section 18.4 are exercised with respect to some or all of the Call Option Units owned 
by the Interest Holder: 

(a) the Company (or a permitted assignee under this Section 18.3) will buy from the 
Interest Holder – and the Interest Holder will sell to the Company (or the permitted 
assignee) – the number of Call Option Units for which the option was exercised by the 
Company (or the permitted assignee), subject to the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement; 

(b) each other Member who exercised an option will buy from the Interest Holder – and 
the Interest Holder will sell to each other Member who exercised an option – the 
number of Call Option Units for which the option was exercised by the other Member, 
subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement;  

(c) if more than one other Member exercised an option under Section 18.4, and if the 
aggregate number of Call Option Units specified in the other Members’ notices in 
Section 18.4(b) exceeds the aggregate number of Call Option Units available to be 
bought by the other Members, then: 

(1) each other Member who exercised an option will have the right to buy the 
number of Call Option Units equal to the lesser of:  

(A) the number of Call Option Units specified in the other Member’s notice in 
Section 18.4(b); and 

(B) such proportion of the aggregate number of Call Option Units available to 
be bought by the other Members as the number of Units owned by the 
other Member bears to the number of Units owned by all other Members 
who exercised the option; and 

(2) if the aggregate number of Call Option Units specified in the other Members’ 
notices in Section 18.4(b) exceeds the aggregate number of Call Option Units 
that the other Members have a right to buy under Section 18.5(c)(1), then each 
other Member who exercised an option to buy more Call Option Units than the 
other Member’s proportion under Section 18.5(c)(1)(B) will have the right to buy 
such proportion of such excess as:  

(A) the number of Call Option Units specified in the other Member’s notice in 
Section 18.4(b) minus the number of Call Option Units that the other 
Member has a right to buy under Section 18.5(c)(1); 

103



(B) the aggregate number of Call Option Units specified in the other Members’ 
notices in Section 18.4(b) minus the number of Call Option Units that the 
other Members have a right to buy under Section 18.5(c)(1); and  

(d) the sale will occur in accordance with Section 21. 

18.6 Continued Ownership.  If the options under Section 18.3 or Section 18.4 are not exercised 
with respect to all of the Call Option Units owned by the Interest Holder, the Interest Holder 
will continue to own the number of the Interest Holder’s Call Option Units for which no 
option was exercised, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 19 PRICE  

If the price of any Units is to be determined in accordance with this Section 19, the price will be 
determined as follows: 

19.1 Agreed Value.  If the seller and the buyers agree on a price of the Units within 30 days after 
the determination of the parties buying the Units and the number of Units being bought by 
each party, the price of the Units will be as agreed. 

19.2 Price Per Unit.  If the seller and the buyers cannot agree on the price of the Units within 30 
days after the determination of the parties buying the Units and the number of Units being 
bought by each party, then the price of the Units will be determined as follows:   

(a) the fair market value of the net assets of the Company as of the last day of the calendar 
month in which the event giving rise to the sale occurred will be determined by 
appraisal; 

(b) the Company, after consulting with its accountant and legal counsel, will determine the 
amount that the seller would have received if, on the last day of the calendar month in 
which the event giving rise to the sale occurred: 

(1) the liabilities of the Company had been satisfied, and the assets of the Company 
had been sold for the appraised fair market value of the net assets; 

(2) the Capital Accounts of the Interest Holders had been adjusted to reflect the 
Profits or Losses that would have been allocated to the Interest Holders after 
satisfying such liabilities and selling such assets; and 

(3) the appraised fair market value of the net assets had been distributed to the 
Interest Holders in accordance with Section 13.2(c); 

(c) the price of the Units will be the amount that the seller would have received under 
Section 19.2(b)(3); 

(d) no minority discount or lack of marketability discount will be applied. 

19.3 Appraisal.  If the fair market value of the net assets of the Company is to be determined by 
appraisal, the fair market value of the net assets of the Company will be determined in 
accordance with the following provisions:  

104



(a) if the seller and the buyers agree on and retain an appraiser within 30 days after the 
expiration of the period specified in Section 19.2, the fair market value of the net assets 
of the Company will be determined by the appraiser; 

(b) if the seller and the buyers cannot agree on and retain an appraiser within 30 days after 
the expiration of the period specified in Section 19.2: 

(1) each of the seller and the buyers will retain an appraiser within an additional 30 
days; 

(2) within an additional 30 days the appraisers will designate a third appraiser and 
the seller and the buyers will retain the third appraiser; and 

(3) the fair market value of the net assets of the Company will be determined by the 
third appraiser; 

(c) within 60 days after the appraiser who is to determine the fair market value of the net 
assets of the Company is retained, the appraiser will deliver to the seller and the buyers 
a written and signed document which sets forth the appraiser’s determination of the fair 
market value of the net assets of the Company, together with a discussion of the facts, 
considerations, and opinions on which the determination is based;  

(d) the appraiser’s determination of the fair market value of the net assets of the Company 
will be binding on the seller and the buyers; 

(e) each appraiser will be a practicing real estate appraiser;  

(f) each of the seller and the buyers may present facts and opinions to the appraisers, and 
the appraisers will consider all relevant facts and opinions presented by the seller and 
the buyers;  

(g) each of the seller and the buyers will pay all of the fees, costs, and expenses of any 
appraiser retained solely by them; and 

(h) each of the seller and the buyers will pay 50% of the fees, costs, and expenses of any 
appraiser retained by both of them.  

SECTION 20 PAYMENT TERMS  

If the terms and conditions of a sale of any Units are to be determined in accordance with this Section 
20, the terms and conditions will be determined as follows: 

20.1 Agreed Terms.  If the seller and the buyers agree on the terms and conditions of the sale of 
the Units within 30 days after the determination of the parties buying the Units and the 
number of Units being bought by each party, the terms and conditions of the sale of the Units 
will be as agreed.   

20.2 Payment Terms.  If the seller and the buyers cannot agree on the terms and conditions of the 
sale of the Units within 30 days after the determination of the parties buying the Units and the 
number of Units being bought by each party, the terms and conditions will be as follows: 

(a) 10% of the price of the Units will be paid on the date that the sale occurs; 

105



(b) the balance of the price of the Units, together with interest on the unpaid balance from 
the date of the sale of the Units, will be paid in 60 equal monthly installments of 
principal and interest; 

(c) the first installment will be due on the first day of the first calendar month after the date 
of the sale of the Units, and subsequent installments will be due on the same day of 
each following month;  

(d) the buyers will pay interest on the unpaid balance at the greater of: 

(1) an annual rate of 2.0%; or 

(2) the “applicable Federal rate” under IRC § 1274(d) as of the date of the sale of the 
Units;    

(e) if an Interest Holder is a buyer, the Interest Holder’s obligation to pay the balance of 
the price of the Units will be evidenced by a nonnegotiable promissory note, in form 
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the seller; and 

(f) if the Company is a buyer, the Company’s obligation to pay the balance of the price of 
the Units will be evidenced by a nonnegotiable promissory note, in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to the seller. 

SECTION 21 SALE OF UNITS 

If the sale of any Units is to occur in accordance with this Section 21, the sale will occur as follows: 

21.1 Sale.   

(a) The sale will occur at a time and date fixed by the seller and the buyers within 30 days 
after the final determination of the price of the Units, if the price of the Units is 
determined in accordance with Section 19. 

(b) The sale will take place at the Company’s principal office, or at a place fixed by the 
seller and the buyers. 

(c) All sales to all buyers will occur – and will be deemed to have occurred – 
simultaneously. 

21.2 Deliveries.   

(a) Each buyer will sign and deliver to the seller: 

(1) a certified check in the amount of the portion of the price of the Units that will be 
paid on the date that the sale occurs;    

(2) if the buyer is the Company, a redemption agreement that contains: 

(A) a representation and warranty by the Company that the Company can 
lawfully buy the Units under the Act; and 

(B) such other terms and conditions that are customarily included in a 
redemption agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the 
Company and the seller; 

106



(3) if the buyer is an Interest Holder, a unit purchase agreement that contains: 

(A) investment representations and warranties by the buyer to ensure 
compliance with all applicable securities laws, in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to the seller; and 

(B) such other terms and conditions that are customarily included in a unit 
purchase agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the 
buyer and the seller; and 

(4) any promissory note required by Section 20.2(e) or Section 20.2(f). 

(b) The seller will deliver to the buyers any certificates representing the Units, together 
with assignments endorsed to the appropriate buyers, in form and substance reasonably 
satisfactory to the buyers. 

(c) The seller will sign and deliver to each buyer: 

(1) if the buyer is the Company, a redemption agreement that contains: 

(A) representations and warranties by the seller that the seller is the sole owner 
of the Units and that the Units are free from any encumbrance, including 
but not limited to any security interest or lien; 

(B) investment representations and warranties by the seller to ensure 
compliance with all applicable securities laws, in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to the Company; and 

(C) such other terms and conditions that are customarily included in a 
redemption agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the 
Company and the seller; and 

(2) if the buyer is an Interest Holder, a unit purchase agreement that contains: 

(A) representations and warranties by the seller that the seller is the sole owner 
of the Units and that the Units are free from any encumbrance, including 
but not limited to any security interest or lien; 

(B) investment representations and warranties by the seller to ensure 
compliance with all applicable securities laws, in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to the buyer; and 

(C) such other terms and conditions that are customarily included in a unit 
purchase agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the 
buyer and the seller. 

(d) The seller, the buyers, and the Company will sign and deliver all other documents and 
take or cause to be taken all other acts that they deem necessary or appropriate to effect 
and carry out the sale of the Units. 

107



SECTION 22 Intentionally left blank. 

SECTION 23 Intentionally left blank. 

SECTION 24 NONDISCLOSURE  

24.1 Use Restrictions and Nondisclosure Obligations.  During an Interest Holder’s 
Nondisclosure Period: 

(a) the Interest Holder will not use Confidential Information for any purpose without the 
Company’s specific prior written authorization, except the Interest Holder may use 
Confidential Information to promote and effect the purposes of the Company; and 

(b) the Interest Holder will not disclose Confidential Information to any person without the 
Company’s specific prior written authorization, except the Interest Holder may disclose 
Confidential Information: 

(1) to the extent necessary to promote and effect the purposes of the Company, on a 
need-to-know basis, to persons who are informed by the Interest Holder of the 
confidential nature of the Confidential Information and the obligations of the 
Interest Holder under this Section 24; 

(2) on a need-to-know basis, to Representatives of the Company or the Interest 
Holder who are informed by the Interest Holder of the confidential nature of the 
Confidential Information and the obligations of the Interest Holder under this 
Section 24; or  

(3) in accordance with a judicial or other governmental order, but only if the Interest 
Holder promptly notifies the Company of the order and complies with any 
applicable protective or similar order. 

24.2 Notification and Assistance Obligations.  During an Interest Holder’s Nondisclosure 
Period, the Interest Holder will: 

(a) promptly notify the Company of any unauthorized use or disclosure of Confidential 
Information, or any other breach of this Section 24; and 

(b) assist the Company to retrieve any Confidential Information that was used or disclosed 
by the Interest Holder or the Interest Holder’s Representatives without the Company’s 
specific prior written authorization and to mitigate the harm caused by the unauthorized 
use or disclosure. 

24.3 Exceptions.  An Interest Holder will not breach Section 24.1 or Section 24.2 by using or 
disclosing Confidential Information if the Interest Holder demonstrates that the information 
used or disclosed: 

(a) is generally available to the public other than as a result of a disclosure by the Interest 
Holder or a Representative of the Interest Holder; or 

(b) was received by the Interest Holder from another person without any limitations on use 
or disclosure, but only if the Interest Holder had no reason to believe that the other 
person was prohibited from using or disclosing the information by a contractual or 
fiduciary obligation. 

108



24.4 Return of Confidential Information.  Upon the Company’s request, each Interest Holder 
will promptly return to the Company all materials containing Confidential Information, 
together with all copies and summaries of Confidential Information in the possession or under 
the control of the Interest Holder. 

SECTION 25 TERMINATION 

25.1 Agreement.  This Agreement will terminate with respect to all parties upon the earliest to 
occur of the following:  

(a) upon the written agreement of the parties; 

(b) upon the merger of the Company with another business entity, if the Company is not 
the surviving business entity; and 

(c) upon the conversion of the Company into another business entity. 

25.2 Interest Holder.    

(a) This Agreement will terminate with respect to an Interest Holder if the Interest Holder 
sells, exchanges, gifts, or otherwise liquidates all of the Interest Holder’s Units in 
accordance with this Agreement, other than by operation of law as a result of the 
Interest Holder’s death, incompetency, or Bankruptcy. 

(b) Each Interest Holder will sign a Joinder Agreement if the Interest Holder sells all of the 
Interest Holder’s Units in accordance with this Agreement, is granted a security interest 
in some or all of such Units, and subsequently forecloses the security interest and 
reacquires some or all of such Units. 

25.3 Effect of Termination.  The termination of this Agreement, regardless of how it occurs, will 
not relieve a party of obligations that have accrued before the termination.  All provisions of 
this Agreement that would reasonably be expected to survive the termination of this 
Agreement will do so.  

SECTION 26 EQUITABLE RELIEF 

The parties acknowledge that the remedies available at law for any breach of this Agreement may, by 
their nature, be inadequate.  Accordingly, and in addition to any other remedies available to the 
parties at law or in equity, each party may obtain injunctive relief or other equitable relief to restrain a 
breach or threatened breach of this Agreement or to specifically enforce this Agreement, without 
proving that any monetary damages have been sustained. 

SECTION 27 GENERAL 

27.1 No Assignment.  No party may assign or delegate any of the party’s rights or obligations 
under this Agreement to any person unless the assignment or delegation is expressly 
permitted by this Agreement.    

27.2 Binding Effect.  This Agreement will be binding on the parties and their respective heirs, 
personal representatives, successors, and permitted assigns, and will inure to their benefit. 

27.3 Notices.  All notices or other communications required or permitted by this Agreement: 

(a) must be in writing; 

109



(b) must be delivered to the parties at the addresses set forth on Schedule 2.1, or any other 
address that a party may designate by notice to the other parties; and 

(c) are considered delivered: 

(1) upon actual receipt if delivered personally or by a nationally recognized 
overnight delivery service; or 

(2) at the end of the third business day after the date of deposit, if deposited in the 
United States mail, postage pre-paid, certified, return receipt requested. 

27.4 Waiver.  No waiver will be binding on a party unless it is in writing and signed by the party 
making the waiver.  A party’s waiver of a breach of a provision of this Agreement will not be 
a waiver of any other provision or a waiver of a subsequent breach of the same provision. 

27.5 Severability.  If a provision of this Agreement is determined to be unenforceable in any 
respect, the enforceability of the provision in any other respect and of the remaining 
provisions of this Agreement will not be impaired.  

27.6 Further Assurances.  The parties will sign other documents and take other actions 
reasonably necessary to further effect and evidence this Agreement. 

27.7 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  Except for third parties entitled to indemnity under an 
indemnification provision in this Agreement, the parties do not intend to confer any right or 
remedy on any third party. 

27.8 Attachments.  Any exhibits, schedules, and other attachments referenced in this Agreement 
are part of this Agreement.    

27.9 Remedies.  The parties will have all remedies available to them at law or in equity.  All 
available remedies are cumulative and may be exercised singularly or concurrently. 

27.10 Governing Law.  This Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of Alaska, without 
giving effect to any conflict-of-law principle that would result in the laws of any other 
jurisdiction governing this Agreement.  

27.11 Arbitration. 

(a) Except as otherwise provided in Section 27.11(e), any dispute, controversy, or claim 
arising out of the subject matter of this Agreement will be settled by arbitration before 
a single arbitrator in Anchorage, Alaska. 

(b) If the parties agree on an arbitrator, the arbitration will be held before the arbitrator 
selected by the parties.  If the parties do not agree on an arbitrator, each party will 
designate an arbitrator and the arbitration will be held before a third arbitrator selected 
by the designated arbitrators.  Each arbitrator will be an attorney knowledgeable in the 
area of business law.  

(c) The arbitration will be conducted in accordance with the procedures set forth in AS 
09.43.300 through 09.43.595.  

(d) The resolution of any dispute, controversy, or claim as determined by the arbitrator will 
be binding on the parties.  Judgment on the award of the arbitrator may be entered by 
any party in any court having jurisdiction. 

110



(e) A party may seek from a court an order to compel arbitration, or any other interim 
relief or provisional remedies pending an arbitrator’s resolution of any dispute, 
controversy, or claim.  Any such action, suit, or proceeding – or any action, suit, or 
proceeding to confirm, vacate, modify, or correct the award of the arbitrator – will be 
litigated in courts located in Anchorage, Alaska. 

(f) For the purposes set forth in Section 27.11(e), each party consents and submits to the 
jurisdiction of any local, state, or federal court located in Anchorage, Alaska.   

27.12 Attorney’s Fees.  If any arbitration, action, suit, or proceeding is instituted to interpret, 
enforce, or rescind this Agreement, or otherwise in connection with the subject matter of this 
Agreement, including but not limited to any proceeding brought under the United States 
Bankruptcy Code, the prevailing party on a claim will be entitled to recover with respect to 
the claim, in addition to any other relief awarded, the prevailing party’s reasonable attorney's 
fees and other fees, costs, and expenses of every kind incurred in connection with the 
arbitration, action, suit, or proceeding, any appeal or petition for review, the collection of any 
award, or the enforcement of any order, as determined by the arbitrator or court.  

27.13 Entire Agreement.  Except for the Articles of Organization, this Agreement contains the 
entire understanding of the parties regarding the subject matter of this Agreement and 
supersedes all prior and contemporaneous negotiations and agreements, whether written or 
oral, between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement. 

27.14 Signatures.  This Agreement may be signed in counterparts.  An electronic transmission of a 
signature page will be considered an original signature page.  At the request of a party, each 
other party will confirm an electronically-transmitted signature page by delivering an original 
signature page to the requesting party. 

27.15 Attorneys.  JDW Counsel has prepared this Agreement as directed by 
Member/Manager Mathew Chambers. JDW Counsel does not represent the Company 
and is only preparing this Agreement on behalf of its client, Mathew Chambers. JDW 
Counsel only represents Mathew Chambers and hereby advises that all members and 
the Company seek independent counsel before executing this Agreement.  Each of the 
other parties to this Agreement acknowledges that the party has consulted with the 
party’s own legal counsel or has knowingly waived the party’s right to do so. 

[signature page to follow] 

111



112



APPENDIX A 

Definitions 

“Act” means the Alaska Revised Limited Liability Company Act, as amended from time to time. 

“Articles of Organization” means the Articles of Organization of the Company filed with the State 
of Alaska on October 23, 2020, as amended or restated from time to time, and including articles of 
conversion and articles of merger filed after the date of this Agreement.  

“Assignee” means a person with an ownership interest in the Company who is not a Member and who 
does not have any of the rights and obligations of a Member specified in the Act, the Articles of 
Organization, or this Agreement, except:  (a) the right to receive and retain Distributions, as and when 
made; (b) the right to allocations of Profits and Losses; and (c) the rights under Section 15. 

“Bankruptcy” means, with respect to a person:  (a) assignment by the person for the benefit of 
creditors; (b) commencement of a voluntary bankruptcy case by the person; (c) adjudication of the 
person as bankrupt or insolvent; (d) filing by the person of a petition or answer seeking for the person 
any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief 
under any statute, law, or rule; (e) filing by the person of an answer or other pleading admitting or 
failing to contest the material allegations of a petition filed against the person in any proceeding of 
this nature; (f) seeking, consenting to, or acquiescing in the appointment of a trustee, receiver, or 
liquidator of the person or of all or any substantial part of the person’s properties; (g) commencement 
of an involuntary bankruptcy case against the person that has not been dismissed on or before the 
120th day after the commencement of the case; or (h) appointment, without the person’s consent, of a 
trustee, receiver, or liquidator either of the person or of all or any substantial part of the person’s 
properties that is not:  (1) vacated or stayed on or before the 90th day after appointment; or (2) vacated 
on or before the 90th day after expiration of a stay. 

“Capital Account” means a capital account of an Interest Holder determined and maintained in 
accordance with Section 6.  

“Confidential Information” means information related to the Company or its business that is 
disclosed to or accessed by an Interest Holder if:  (a) the information is marked or designated – 
whether orally or in writing – by the Company or the disclosing person as confidential before, at, or 
promptly after the time of disclosure; or (b) the information is known or should have been known by 
the Interest Holder as being treated by the Company or the disclosing person as confidential.  

“Distribution” means:  (a) for purposes of Section 4.4(c), Section 4.18(b)(4), Section 6, and Section 
8.4, a direct or indirect transfer of money or other property other than Units, or an incurrence of 
indebtedness by the Company, to or for the benefit of the Interest Holders in respect of an Interest 
Holder’s Units, including but not limited to a purchase, redemption, or other acquisition of Units; and 
(b) for all other purposes, a direct or indirect transfer of money or other property other than Units, or 
an incurrence of indebtedness by the Company, to or for the benefit of the Interest Holders in respect 
of an Interest Holder’s Units, but not including a purchase, redemption, or other acquisition of Units. 

“Fair Market Value” means: The value as determined in accordance with Section 19. 

“Income Tax Distributions” means, for any calendar year:  (a) an amount sufficient to allow any 
federal and state taxes attributable to the income passed through the Company to the Interest Holders 
during the calendar year to be paid by the Interest Holders, assuming that all Interest Holders are 

113



taxed at the sum of the maximum federal and state income rates applicable to any Interest Holder, 
after taking into account the deductibility of state taxes for federal income tax purposes; minus (b) all 
cash Distributions made to the Interest Holders during the calendar year, other than Income Tax 
Distributions made to the Interest Holders during the calendar year for the previous calendar year; 
minus (c) the amount of any reserves which a Majority of Managers deems appropriate for any 
liabilities of the Company.  

“Interest Holder” means a person who is a Member or an Assignee. 

“Joinder Agreement” means a Joinder Agreement substantially in the form attached as Exhibit A. 

“Majority of Managers” means:  (a) the Manager, if the Company has one Manager; or (b) a 
majority of the Managers, if the Company has more than one Manager. 

“Majority of Units” means Members whose Units exceed 50% of the Units of all Members.  

“Manager” means a person, who need not be a Member, designated by the Members to manage the 
Company’s business and affairs. 

“Member” means a person with an ownership interest in the Company and all of the rights and 
obligations of a member specified in the Act, the Articles of Organization, and this Agreement. 

“Nondisclosure Period” means, with respect to an Interest Holder, the period beginning on the date 
of this Agreement and ending upon the earliest to occur of the following:  (a) two years after this 
Agreement terminates with respect to the Interest Holder; (b) the dissolution of the Company; and (c) 
the termination of this Agreement under Section 25.1.  

“Profit” and “Loss” means for each taxable year of the Company – or other period for which profits 
and losses must be computed – the Company’s taxable income or loss determined in accordance with 
IRC § 703(a), with the following adjustments:  (a) all items of income, gain, loss, deduction, or credit 
required to be stated separately under IRC § 703(a)(1) will be included; (b) any tax-exempt income of 
the Company not otherwise taken into account in this definition will be included; (c) any expenditures 
of the Company under IRC § 705(a)(2)(B) – or treated as such under Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(i) 
– not otherwise taken into account in this definition will be excluded; (d) gain or loss resulting from 
any taxable disposition of property will be computed by reference to the adjusted book value of the 
property disposed of, notwithstanding the fact that the adjusted book value of the property differs 
from the adjusted basis of the property for federal income tax purposes; (e) in lieu of the depreciation, 
amortization, or cost recovery deductions allowable in computing taxable income or loss, there will 
be taken into account the depreciation or amortization computed for book purposes; and (f) any items 
which are allocated under Schedule 7.1 will not be taken into account. 

“Representatives” means directors, officers, managers, members, employees, independent 
contractors, agents, consultants, advisors, and other representatives. 

“Transfer” means any transfer, including but not limited to any sale, exchange, gift, foreclosure of an 
encumbrance, or seizure to secure a judgment, regardless of whether the transfer occurs voluntarily or 
involuntarily, by operation of law, or because of any act or occurrence, but not including an 
encumbrance.  

“Units” means units that evidence an ownership interest in the Company.   

114



“Unreturned Capital Contribution” means, as of any day, the amount, if any, by which:  (a) the 
value of an Interest Holder’s aggregate contributions to the Company; exceeds (b) the value of all 
Distributions made to the Interest Holder under Section 8.1(b).  

115



SCHEDULE 2.1 

Company Information as of December, 2020 

Interest Holders: 

 
Interest Holder 

 
Status 

 
Units 

 
Contribution 

Date of 
Contribution 

Capital 
Account 

Mathew 
Chambers 

Manager, 
Member 

36 $18,750.00 + 
administrative sweat 
equity  

Nov. 5, 2020 $18,750.00 + 
sweat equity  

Trisha Torborg               Member  24 $18,750.00 Dec. 5, 2020 
& final 
contribution 
at Call of 
Manager  

$12,500.00 

Elizabeth Warren Member 40 $37,500.00 Nov. 5, 2020 
& final 
contribution 
at Call of 
Manager 

$15,750.00 

 
Managers: 

Mathew Chambers 
 

 
Tax Matters Member: 

Mathew Chambers 
 
Addresses: 

Company:   
 
The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC 
Attn: Managers 
10400 E Bradley Lake Ave 
Palmer, AK 99645 

 
Members/Interest Holders: 
 

Mathew Chambers 
10400 E. Bradley Lake Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 

 
Trisha Torborg 
10400 E. Bradley Lake Avenue 
Palmer, AK 99645 
 
Elizabeth Warren 

116



978 South Roskelley Circle 
Palmer, AK 99645 

 
 

SCHEDULE 7.1 

Allocation of Profits and Losses 

SECTION 1 DEFINITIONS 

“Adjusted Capital Account Deficit” means, with respect to an Interest Holder, the deficit balance, if 
any, in the Interest Holder’s Capital Account as of the end of any taxable year, after giving effect to 
the following adjustments:  (a) the Capital Account will be credited with:  (1) the amount which the 
Interest Holder is obligated by this Agreement to restore to the Interest Holder’s Capital Account, if 
any; and (2) the amount which the Interest Holder is deemed obligated to restore under Treas Reg 
§ 1.704-2(g)(1) and Treas Reg § 1.704-2(i)(5); and (b) the Capital Account will be debited with the 
amounts described in Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(5), and 
Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(6).   

“Company Minimum Gain” has the meaning ascribed to “partnership minimum gain” in 
Treas Reg § 1.704-2(b)(2). 

“Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain” has the meaning ascribed to “partner nonrecourse 
debt minimum gain” in Treas Reg § 1.704-2(i)(2). 

“Member Nonrecourse Deductions” has the meaning ascribed to “partner nonrecourse deductions” 
in Treas Reg § 1.704-2(i)(1). 

“Nonrecourse Deductions” has the meaning ascribed to it in Treas Reg § 1.704-2(b)(1). 

“Nonrecourse Liability” has the meaning ascribed to it in Treas Reg § 1.704-2(b)(3). 

SECTION 2 ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES 

2.1 Limitation on Allocation of Losses.   

(a) No Interest Holder will be allocated Losses if the allocation will cause the Interest 
Holder to have an Adjusted Capital Account Deficit. 

(b) Losses that are not allocated to an Interest Holder as a consequence of Section 2.1(a) of 
this Schedule 7.1 will be allocated among the other Interest Holders in proportion to 
their positive Capital Account balances, subject to Section 2.1(a) of this Schedule 7.1. 

2.2 Allocation of Profits to Offset Unrecovered Losses.   

(a) Before Profits are allocated among the Interests Holders under Section 7.1, Profits will 
be allocated among those Interest Holders who have been allocated Losses under 
Section 2.1(b) of this Schedule 7.1 that have not been fully offset by allocations of 
Profits under this Section 2.2.  

117



(b) An Interest Holder will be allocated Profits under this Section 2.2 only to the extent 
necessary to fully offset Losses that have been allocated to the Interest Holder under 
Section 2.1(b) of this Schedule 7.1. 

(c) Profits allocated under this Section 2.2 will be allocated among the appropriate Interest 
Holders in proportion to their Losses that have not been fully offset by allocations of 
Profits under this Section 2.2, subject to Section 2.2(b) of this Schedule 7.1. 

SECTION 3 QUALIFIED INCOME OFFSET 

An Interest Holder who unexpectedly receives an adjustment, allocation, or Distribution described in 
Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), Treas Reg § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(5), or Treas Reg § 1.704-
1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(6) which causes or increases an Adjusted Capital Account Deficit for the Interest 
Holder as of the end of the taxable year to which the allocation relates will be allocated items of 
income and gain – consisting of a pro rata portion of each item of Company income, including gross 
income, and gain for such year – in an amount and manner sufficient to eliminate the Adjusted 
Capital Account Deficit as quickly as possible.  

SECTION 4 ALLOCATIONS ATTRIBUTABLE TO NONRECOURSE LIABILITIES 

4.1 Nonrecourse Deductions.  Nonrecourse Deductions will be allocated among the Interest 
Holders in proportion to their Units. 

4.2 Minimum Gain Chargeback Requirement.  Except as otherwise provided in Treas 
Reg § 1.704-2(f), if there is a net decrease in Company Minimum Gain for a Company 
taxable year, each Interest Holder will be allocated items of Company income and gain for 
that year equal to that Interest Holder’s share of the net decrease in Company Minimum Gain 
– within the meaning of Treas Reg § 1.704-2(g)(2).  

4.3 Member Nonrecourse Deductions.  Member Nonrecourse Deductions will be allocated to 
the Interest Holder that bears the economic risk of loss for the liability in accordance with 
Treas Reg § 1.704-2(i). 

4.4 Chargeback of Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain.  Except as otherwise 
provided in Treas Reg § 1.704-2(i)(4), if during a Company taxable year there is a net 
decrease in Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain, any Interest Holder with a share of 
that Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain – determined under Treas Reg § 1.704-
2(i)(5) – as of the beginning of the year will be allocated items of income and gain for the 
year – and, if necessary, for succeeding years – equal to that Interest Holder’s share of the net 
decrease in the Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain.  An Interest Holder’s share of the 
net decrease in Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain will be determined in a manner 
consistent with the provisions of Treas Reg § 1.704-2(g). 

SECTION 5 CONTRIBUTED PROPERTY 

In accordance with IRC § 704(c), income, gain, loss, and deduction with respect to property 
contributed to the Company by an Interest Holder will be allocated among the Interest Holders so as 
to take account of the variation between the basis of the property to the Company and its fair market 
value at the time of contribution.  Such allocations will be made in accordance with the traditional 
method under Treas Reg § 1.704-3(b).  Allocations made under this Section 5 are solely for tax 
purposes and will not affect any Interest Holder’s Capital Account, share of Profits and Losses, or the 
right to receive Distributions of the Company’s assets. 

118



SECTION 6 GUARANTEED PAYMENTS   

To the extent that any compensation paid to an Interest Holder by the Company is determined by the 
Internal Revenue Service not to be a guaranteed payment under IRC § 707(c) or not to be a 
transaction between the Interest Holder and the Company under IRC § 707(a), the Interest Holder will 
be allocated income in an amount equal to the compensation payment and the Interest Holder’s 
Capital Account will be adjusted to treat the compensation payment as a Distribution.     

SECTION 7 RECAPTURE 

Upon a sale or other disposition of a Company asset, any ordinary income portion of any income or 
gain resulting from the recapture of cost recovery or other deductions will be allocated among those 
Interest Holders who were previously allocated – or whose predecessors-in-interest were previously 
allocated – the cost recovery or other deductions resulting in the recapture items, in proportion to the 
amount of the cost recovery or other deductions previously allocated to them. 

SECTION 8 WITHHOLDING 

All amounts required to be withheld under IRC § 1446 or any other provision of applicable federal, 
state, or local tax law will be treated as amounts actually Distributed to the affected Interest Holders.   

SECTION 9 OTHER ALLOCATIONS 

If this Agreement does not provide for the allocation of any items of Company income, gain, loss, 
credit, and deduction among the Interest Holders, the items will be allocated among the Interest 
Holders in the same proportions as they share Profits and Losses. 

119



EXHIBIT A 

Joinder Agreement 

______________________________  (“New Party”)  agrees to become a party to and be bound by 
the provisions of the Operating Agreement of The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC, an Alaska limited 
liability company (the “Company”), dated ____________________ among the Company and the 
Company’s interest holders.    

Dated effective:  ____________________  

[  Member:  ]  [  Assignee:  ] 
 
 
 
__________________________________   

 
 

 

120



121



122



5/27/22, 1:43 PMjdwcounsel.com Mail - Fwd: Receipt from Alaska DEC

Page 1 of 2https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=126f3ff497&view=pt&search=…=msg-f%3A1734017069033204769&simpl=msg-f%3A1734017069033204769

Brenda Butler <brenda@jdwcounsel.com>

Fwd: Receipt from Alaska DEC

Connoisseur Lounge <c.loungegm@gmail.com> Fri, May 27, 2022 at 1:38 PM
To: brenda@jdwcounsel.com

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: <dec.adec.userfees@alaska.gov>
Date: Wed, Feb 23, 2022 at 12:53 PM
Subject: Receipt from Alaska DEC
To: <dec.fsspermit@alaska.gov>, <CLoungeGM@gmail.com>, <krista.weydahl@alaska.gov>

Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation
Sale 506101

Items

Description Applicant Identifier Quantity
Unit

Price Total

FS:FM1 Convenience Store - 2022 Annual Fee Matthew Chambers 
The Connoisseur Lounge 
The Connoisseur Lounge, Facility
ID: 8684 

Program ID
11545

1 125.00 125.00

Payments

Receipt # Date Remitter Contact Method Amount

GDWGAFCU 2/23/2022 12:53 PM Matthew Chambers 
The Connoisseur Lounge 
10400 E Bradley Lake Ave 
Palmer, AK 99645 
USA

CLoungeGM@gmail.com 
907-746-4200, 907-244-8329

Credit Card (Terminal) 
Account ******3016 
Auth Code 025305 

125.00

Total

Items $ 125.00
Payments $ 125.00

Amount Due $ 0.00

Phone 1 (907) 269-0484
Fax 1 (907) 465-5070

TDD 1 (800) 770-8973

Mailing Address Department of Environmental Conservation 
P.O. Box 111800 
Juneau, AK 99811-1800

Website https://dec.alaska.gov/
Email dec.adec.userfees@alaska.gov

-- 
Katie Thomas
General Manager 

123

mailto:dec.adec.userfees@alaska.gov
mailto:dec.fsspermit@alaska.gov
mailto:CLoungeGM@gmail.com
mailto:krista.weydahl@alaska.gov
https://www.google.com/maps/search/10400+E+Bradley+Lake+Ave++%0D%0A%09%09%09%09%09++++++++++++Palmer,+AK++99645++%0D%0AUSA?entry=gmail&source=g
https://www.google.com/maps/search/10400+E+Bradley+Lake+Ave++%0D%0A%09%09%09%09%09++++++++++++Palmer,+AK++99645++%0D%0AUSA?entry=gmail&source=g
https://www.google.com/maps/search/10400+E+Bradley+Lake+Ave++%0D%0A%09%09%09%09%09++++++++++++Palmer,+AK++99645++%0D%0AUSA?entry=gmail&source=g
mailto:CLoungeGM@gmail.com
https://dec.alaska.gov/
mailto:dec.adec.userfees@alaska.gov


5/27/22, 1:43 PMjdwcounsel.com Mail - Fwd: Receipt from Alaska DEC

Page 2 of 2https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=126f3ff497&view=pt&search=…=msg-f%3A1734017069033204769&simpl=msg-f%3A1734017069033204769

The Connoisseur Lounge 

124



Domestic Limited Liability Company (AS 10.50) 

www.Corporations.Alaska.Gov Search
Corporations Database

COR

Corporations Section
State Office Building, 333 Willoughby Avenue, 9th Floor 
PO Box 110806, Juneau, AK  99811-0806 
Phone: (907) 465-2550 Fax: (907) 465-2974 
Email: corporations@alaska.gov
Website: Corporations.Alaska.Gov

Notice of Change of Officials

1. Important:

— AS 10.50.765

— AS 10.50.860-.870

2. Fee:

3. Entity Information:

THE STATE HE STATE

ALASKAof 

Department of Commerce, Community and Economic Development 
Division of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing 

The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC

10145944

125



4. REMOVE from Record:

5. ALL Current Officials:

— AS 10.50.155(b)
— AS 10.50.765 (b)

— AS 10.50.075(5) and AS 10.50.110(b)

List ALL officials and their current information to be on record.

BOLD fields are required.

%
 O

W
N

E
D

M
E

M
B

E
R

FULL LEGAL NAME COMPLETE MAILING ADDRESS

6. Required Signature:

If signing on behalf of a member or manager which is an entity, then identify the signer’s relationship and signing authority 
with the member entity.  For example: John Smith, President of XYZ Inc. the sole member of ABC LLC.

Elizabeth Warren

Mathew Chambers 10400 E. Bradley Lake Avenue, Palmer, Alaska 99645 66

Trisha Torborg 10400 E. Bradley Lake Avenue, Palmer, Alaska 99645 24

Sara Jean Berberich PO Box 733, Palmer, Alaska 99645 10

Mathew Chambers

126



If used, this supplement must be returned with Form 08-491

Notice of Change of Officials SUPPLEMENT

4. REMOVE from Record :

5. ALL Current Officials :

— AS 10.50.155(b)

— AS 10.50.765 (b)

— AS 10.50.075(5) and AS 10.50.110(b)

List ALL officials and their current information to be on record.

BOLD fields are required.

%
 O

W
N

E
D

M
E

M
B

E
R

FULL LEGAL NAME COMPLETE MAILING ADDRESS

AS 10.50.765(b)

The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC

10145944

127



COR 

Corporations Section  
State Office Building, 333 Willoughby Avenue, 9th Floor 
PO Box 110806, Juneau, AK  99811-0806 
Phone: (907) 465-2550    Fax: (907) 465-2974 
Email: corporations@alaska.gov 
Website: Corporations.Alaska.Gov

Contact Information 

Entity Information

Contact Person  

Document Return Address 

ABOVE

BELOW

THE STATE HE STATE

ALASKAof 

Department of Commerce, Community and Economic Development 
Division of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing 

The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC

10145944

JDW, LLC

Jana Weltzin

901 Photo Avenue, Second Floor

Anchorage AK 99503

9072313750

jana@jdwcounsel.com

JDW, LLC

Jana Weltzin

901 Photo Avenue, Second Floor

Anchorage AK 99503

128



129



Entity Name:  The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC

Entity Number:  10145944

Home Country:  UNITED STATES

Home State/Prov.:  ALASKA

Physical Address:  10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER,
AK 99645

Mailing Address:  10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER,
AK 99645

Registered Agent information cannot be changed on this form. Per
Alaska Statutes, to update or change the Registered Agent
information this entity must submit the Statement of Change form
for this entity type along with its filing fee.

Name:  Mathew Chambers

Physical Address:  10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER,
AK 99645

Mailing Address:  10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER,
AK 99645

Domestic Limited Liability Company

2022 Biennial Report
For the period ending December 31, 2021

Web-2/28/2022 6:52:45 AM

Due Date: This report along with its fees are due by January 2, 2022

Fees: If postmarked before February 2, 2022, the fee is $100.00. 
If postmarked on or after February 2, 2022 then this report is delinquent and the fee is $137.50.

Officials: The following is a complete list of officials who will be on record as a result of this filing.

Provide all officials and required information. Use only the titles provided.
Mandatory Members: this entity must have at least one (1) Member. A Member must own a %. In addition, this entity must provide
all Members who own 5% or more of the entity. A Member may be an individual or another entity.
Manager: If the entity is manager managed (per its articles or amendment) then there must be at least (1) Manager provided. A
Manager may be a Member if the Manager also owns a % of the entity.

Full Legal Name Complete Mailing Address % Owned

TRISHA TORBORG 10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER, AK 99645 24.00    X 

Sara Berberich 226 Evergreen Ave, Palmer, AK 99645 10.00    X 

Mathew Chambers 10400 E BRADLEY LAKE AVE, PALMER, AK 99645 66.00  X  X 

If necessary, attach a list of additional officers on a separate 8.5 X 11 sheet of paper.

Purpose:  To own and operate a specialized retail store and any lawful purpose

NAICS Code:  452990 - ALL OTHER GENERAL MERCHANDISE STORES

New NAICS Code (optional):  
 

Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development 
Division of Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing 
PO Box 110806, Juneau, AK 99811-0806 
(907) 465-2550 • Email: corporations@alaska.gov 
Website: corporations.alaska.gov

 COR
FOR DIVISION USE ONLY

M
an

ag
er

M
em

be
r

Entity #: 10145944 Page 1 of 2

AK Entity #: 10145944
Date Filed: 02/28/2022

State of Alaska, DCCED

130



This form is for use by the named entity only. Only persons who are authorized by the above Official(s) of the named entity may make
changes to it. If you proceed to make changes to this form or any information on it, you will be certifying under penalty of perjury that you
are authorized to make those changes, and that everything on the form is true and correct. In addition, persons who file documents with
the commissioner that are known to the person to be false in material respects are guilty of a class A misdemeanor. Continuation means
you have read this and understand it.

Name:  JOSEPH SAUNDERS

Entity #: 10145944 Page 2 of 2
131



AK Entity #: 10145944
Date Filed: 11/23/2020

State of Alaska, DCCED

132



133



LEASE 

PARTIES This Lease(this "Lease"), date<
L 
for reference purposes only, is made by and 

between Kendra Nugent an Alaska resident is ("Landlord") and, The Connoisseur 
Lounge, LLC whose address is 10400 E. Bradley Lake Ave, Palmer, Alaska 99645 
(Tenant). 

1. PREMISES. Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases
from Landlord, for the term, at the rental and upon all the conditions set forth
herein, that certain space (the "Premises") containing approximately Two
Thousand Three Hundred Eighty square feet (2,380). Tenant is renting the
building located on a portion of Lot 7, Block 2, M.D. SNODGRASS
ADDITION TO THE PALMER TOWNSITE, plate filed in Book 14 at Page
350A,, Palmer Recording District, State of Alaska, with a street address of
226 West Evergreen, Palmer, Alaska.

2.1 INITIAL TERM. The Lease term shall commence on 
November 1, 2020 and shall continue for a term of three years until November 1, 
2023, unless sooner terminated pursuant to any provision hereof. 

3. RENT/DAMAGE DEPOSIT.

3 .1 Minimum Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord as minimum rent 
for the Premises monthly installments as follows: 

(a) Monthly rent lease rate will be THREE THOUSAND AND
00/100 ($3,000.00) per month on the first of the month. 

(b) Tenant shall pay the first months rent upon execution of this
agreement. Landlord shall be under no obligation to keep the last months rent or 
damage deposit in a segregated account. 

( c) Tenant shall pay a damage deposit to be applied to any damages
to the premises in the amount of$2,200.00 

3 .2.Late Charge. If any payment is not paid within five ( 5) days of the 
due date, then there shall be added as additional rent an amount equal to 
TWENTY-FIVE percent (25%) of the delinquent payment for the month or 

134



3. RENT/DAMAGE DEPOSIT.

3. I .Minimum Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord as minimum rent
for the Premises monthly installments as follows: 

(a) Monthly rent lease rate will be TWO THOUSAND EIGHT Y
TWO AND 50/100 Dollars ($2,082.50 ) PER MONTH. Rent will be prorated for the 
month ofNovemeber for the sum of SIXTY NINE AND 42/100 ($69.42) PER DAY 
for the month ofNovemeber only. 

(b) Tenant shall pay the first month's rent upon execution of this
agreement. Landlord shall be under no obligation to keep the last month's rent or 
damage deposit in a segregated account. 

( c) Tenant shall pay a damage deposit to be applied to any damages
to the premises in the amount of $2,082.50 

3 .2.Late Charge. If any payment is not paid with.in five ( 5) days of the 
due date, then there shall be added as additional rent an amount equal to

TWENTY-FIVE percent (25%) of the delinquent payment for the month or 
portion thereof after the· date it was due, provided, however, if such sum and late 
charges are not paid in full on or before the tenth (10th) day of the month, such sum 
shall commence to bear interest at the rate of 50 percent (50%) per annum until paid 
in full. 

3.3. Lease Amendment. On January 1, 2021 tenant shall amend the 
lease to renting the entire building at $1. 7 5 per square feet with the intent to purchase 
the building at fair market value. Tenant will have first right of refusal to purchase 
the entire building. 

4. CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS. Tenant shall be responsible
for the design, construction, payment and installation of Tenant's own leasehold 
improvements and trade fixtures, including, but not limited to, salon chairs, 
washing bowls, lights, branch wiring beyond the panel, floor coverings, interior 
partitioning, decor, shelves, racks and cm1:nters; provided that the design and decor 
shall be subject to the reasonable prior written approval of Landlord, and Tenant 
shall provide Landlord with appropriate design drawings for approval prior 
improvements must meet current municipal code and Tenant must obtain all 
necessary permits for constructing and installation of Tenants leasehold 
improvements. The Landlord shall not be responsible for Code upgrade and is not 
responsible to pay any costs associated or related to the Tenant Improvements. 

Tenant shall not do or directly contract for anything to be done causing the 

21 ·- . 

135



Premises to be encumbered by liens of any nature, and shall, whenever and as often 
as any lien is recorded against said property, purporting to be for labor or materials 
furnished or to be furnished to Tenant, discharge the same of record within 10 days of 
the date the lien is recorded by recording the bond contemplated is A.S. 34.35.072 or 
otherwise appropriately satisfy the subject lien in full. 

Tenant shall obtain waivers of lien rights and releases of claims from 
contractors, subcontractors, and suppliers- in connection with Tenant's leasehold 
improvements and shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from the same. 

Landlord shall n,ot be liable for any labor or materials furnished or to be 
furnished to Tenant upon credit. Tenant shall have no authority, express or implied, 
to create or place any lien or encumbrance ·of any kind or nature whatsoever upon, or 
in any manner to bind, the interest of Landlord in the Premises or to charge the 
rentals payable hereunder for any claim in favor of any person dealing with Tenant, 
including, but not limited to, those who may furnish materials or perform labor for 
any construction or repairs, and each such claim shall affect and each such lien shall 
attach to, if at all, only the leasehold interest granted to Tenant by this instrument. At. 
least ten (10) days before commencing or causing to be commenced any work that is 
or may be the subject of a lien for work done or materials furnished to �e Premises, 
Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing thereof, to allow Landlord, if it desires, to 
post and record notices of non-responsibility or to take any other steps the Landlord 
deems appropriate to protect its interest. 

Upon completion of construction the Tenant shall provide to Landlord valid 
lien releases and satisfactory proof of payment of all liens, claims based on notices 
of right to lien, and other claims against the Premises, and a Certificate of 
Occupancy for the Premises. If the Tenant's improvements are less than $5,000 
Landlord shall not require a Certificate of· Occupancy. 

5. UTILITIES. Tenant shall contract directly with provider and pay for all,
internet services and telephone service, utilities, together with any taxes thereon. 

6. USE. The Premises shall be used and occupied only for State of Alaska

Marijuana Retail Establishment and no other use without the prior written consent 

of Landlord. No act shall be done in or about the Premises that is unlawful or that 

will increase the rate of insurance on the building. Tenant will not commit or allow 

to be committed any waste upon the premises or any public, private, or mixed 

nuisance or other act or thing which disturbs the quiet enjoyment of the Landlord's 

136



business. Tenant shall comply with all laws relating to its use of the Premises. No 
illegal drugs that are illegal under Alaska Law, or alcohol shall be allowed on the 
premises. Tenant shall · use all commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the 
necessary approvals and licenses to operate a Marijuana Retail Establishment. 

This agreement does not create an employee/employer relationship. In 
consideration of the matters described above, and of the mutual benefits and 
obligations set forth in this agreement. 

7. ACKNOWLEDGErvIBNT AND MARIWANA SPECIFIC LAW. The

Lessor hereby acknowledges that the Leased Property will be used as a Marijuana 
Cultivation Facility. Tenant hereby warrants that the operation of its business shall 
be conducted in strict compliance with all applicable governmental laws relating to 
the regulation and legalization of marijuana and marijuana establishments. 
Landlord and Tenant recognize marijuana remains an illegal substance under the 
federal Controlled Substances Act and both the Tenant expressly agrees to 
indemnify, <;Iefend and hold harmless Landlord from and against any claim, 
liability, expense, lawsuit, loss or other damage, including reasonable attorneys' 
fees, arising from or relating to Tenant's use of the Premises or Assignee's activities 

or any violations of federal law, at Tenant's sole cost and expense. Should Tenant's 
use of the Premises endanger in any way the Landlord's ownership, title, or right to 
possess the Premises, including through official warnings to cease and desist, 
warnings by Lenders, or the threat of seizure, Lessor shall be entitled to terminate 
this Lease, in its sole discretion, effectively immediately upon notice to the Tenant. 
Landlord may, in its sole discretion, elect not to terminate the Lease and instead 
permit Tenant to remain in possession. 

8. CHANGE IN INDUSTRY. Th� Tenant recognizes that the marijuana
industry is a highly regulated industry, subject to change; in the event that 
regulatory law requires the Leased Property be altered for compliance purposes, 
Tenant agrees to make all Alterations at its own cost and subject to the provisions 
of contained above. If Tenant cannot make sufficient Alterations to the Property to 
achieve complianc�, Landlord, in its sole discretion, may elect to terminate the 
Lease. 

137



9. DISPOSITION OF MARIJUANA. The Landlord recognizes it has 

certain responsibilities because it is leasing to a Tenant in the marijuana industry, 

which is a highly regulated industry, and hereby acknowledges that the event of a 

default or abandonment or otherwise, Landlord shall not take possession of or 

remove marijuana from the Property, and Landlord shall contact the Alcohol 

Marijuana Control Office (AMCO) enforcement to facilitate disposal of any left 

behind marijuana. 

7. MAINTENANCE, REPAIRS AND ALTERATIONS.

7. I .Landlord's Obligations. Except for damage caused by the 

negligence or intentional act of Tenant or Tenant's agents, employees or invitees, 
Landlord, at Landlord's expense, shall keep in good order, condition and repair the. 

foundations and structural portions of the exterior walls and exterior roof of the 
Building. Landlord shall have no obligation to make repairs under this Section 7 .1 
until a reasonable time after the receipt of written notice of the need for such repairs. 

7 .2.Tennant's Obligations. Subject to the provisions of Section 7 .1, 
Tenant, at Tenant's expense, shall keep in good order, condition and repair the 

Premises and every part thereof, including but not limited to plumbing, any 

mechanical or electrical apparatus, plumbing, doors, window frames, hardware, glass 
and nonstructural ceilings, entrance door, walls, the light fixture, outside sign, and 
ballasts for the lights. Tenant shall, at the expiration or termination of this Lease, 
surrender and deliver up the Premises to Landlord in as good condition as when 

received by Tenant from Landlord or as thereafter improved, reasonable use, wear 
and tear excepted. Tenant shall repair any damage to the Premises or the Building 
occasioned by its use thereof or by the removal of Tenant's trade fixtures, furnishings 
and equipment, which repair shall include, but not be limited to, the patching and 

filling of holes and repair of structural damage. Tenant shall be responsible for 

plumbing, heater, and its ventilation· system. 

7.3 Landlord's Rights. If Tenant fails to perform Tenant's obligations 
under this Article 7, Landlord may (but shall not be required to) enter upon the 
Premises after ten (10) days' prior written notice to Tenant and put the same in good 
order, condition and repair or otherwise cure the default, and the cost of such action 
plus :fifteen percent (15%) thereof shall become due and payable as additional rent to 
Landlord together with Tenant's next rental installment. Notwithstanding the 
forgoing, Landlord shall comply with the AMCO required Visitor Policy imposed on 
all State of Alaska Marijuana Establishments. The Visitor Policy requires any 

5 I · · ·

138



persons who enter a restricted access area of a marijuana establishment to sign into a 
visitor log kept by the Tenant, show identification to Tenant or Tenant's agents 
verifying that the person gaining access is 21 years of age or older, wear a Visitor 
Badge, and remain in eyesight of Tenant or Tenant's agents at all times. 

7 .4 Alterations and Additions. Tenant �hall not, without Landlord's 
prior written consent, make any alterations, additions or improvements in the 
Premises. All work on the Premises shall be done in compliance with all applicable 
governmental codes and regulations. At Landlord's option, all alterations, 
improvements or additions which may be made on the Premises shall become the 
property of Landlord and remain upon and be surrendered with the Premises at the 
expiration of the term. Tenant's machinery, equipment and trade fixtures other than 
those which are affixed to the Premises so that they cannot be removed without 
material damage to the Premises shall remain the property of Tenant and may be 
removed by Tenant. 

8. INSURANCE: INDEMNITY.

8.1.Liability Insurance. Tenant shall maintain in force during the 
term of this Lease a policy of comprehensive public liability insurance issued by a 
company acceptable to Landlord and insuring Tenant and Landlord against any 
liability, including without limitation damage to other portions of the Building, 
arising out of the ownership, use, occupancy or maintenance of the Premises and all 
areas appurtenant thereto, such insurance shall be in an amount of not less than One 
Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00). The limits of said insurance shall not, however, 
limit the liability of Tenant hereunder. Such policies shall name Landlord and 
Landlord's agents as additional insureds and shall provide that they may not be 
canceled without thirty (30) days' prior written notice to Landlord. Landlord shall be 
furnished with a certificate evidencing issuance of such policy of liability insurance, 
and such certificate shall recite that said policy may not be canceled without thirty 
(30) days' prior written notice to Landlord. If Tenant shall fail to maintain said
insurance, Landlord may but shall not be required to procure and maintain the same,
at the expense of Tenant.

8.2.Property Insurance. Landlord shall maintain in force during the· 
term of this Lease a policy of insurance issued by a company authorized to engage in 
the insurance business in the State of Alaska, insuring the Building against damage 
or destruction by fire and/or by perils covered by the standard form of extended 
coverage· endorsements to fire insurance policies in the State of Alaska in effect at 
the time when the policies are obtained. 

139



8.3.Waiver of Subrogation. As long as their respective insurers so 
permit, Landlord and Tenant hereby mutually waive their respective rights of 
recovery against each other for any loss insured by fire, extended coverage and other 
property insurance policies existing for the benefit of the respective parties. Each 
party shall apply to its insurers to obtain said waivers. Each party shall obtain any 
special endorsements, if required by its insurer, to evidence compliance with the 
aforementioned waiver. 

8.4.Hold Harmless. Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold 
Landlord harmless from and against any and all claims arising from Tenant's use of 
the Premises or from the conduct of its business or from any activity, work or thing 
which may be permitted or suffered by Tenant in or about the Premises and shall 
·further indemnify, defend and hold Landlord harmless from and against any and all
claims arising from any breach or default in the performance of any obligation on
Tenant's part to be performed under the provisions of this Lease or arising from any
negligence of Tenant or any of its agents, contractors, employees or invitees and
from any and all costs, attorneys' fees, expenses and liabilities incurred in the
defense of any such claim or any action or proceeding brought thereon. Tenant
hereby assumes all risk of damage to property or injury to persons in or about the
Premises from any cause, and Tenant hereby waives all claims in respect thereof
against Landlord, excepting where said damage arises solely out of the negligence of
Landlord.

8.5 .Exemption of Landlord from Liability. Landlord shall not be 
liable for injury to Tenant's business or any loss of income there from or for damage 
to the goods, wares, merchandise or other property of Tenant, Tenant's employees, 
invitees or customers or any other person in or about the Premises; nor, unless 
caused by its negligence, shall Landlord be liable for personal injury to Tenant or 
Tenant's employees, agents, contractors and invitees, whether said damage or injury 
results from conditions arising upon the Premises or upon other portions of the 
Building of which the Premises are a part or from other sources or places, and 
regardless of whether the cause of such damage or injury or the means of repairing 
the same is inaccessible to Landlord or Tenant. Landlord shall not be liable for any 
damages arising from any act or neglect of any other tenant, if any, of the Building in 
which the Premises are located. 

9. DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION. In the event the Premises are damaged
to such an extent as to render the same untenantable in whole or in a substantial 

140



part thereof or are destroyed, it shall be optional with Landlord to repair or rebuild 

the same; and after the happening of any such event, Tenant shall give Landlord or 

Landlord's agent immediate written notice thereof. Landlord shall have not more 

than thirty (30) days after date of such notification to notify Tenant in writing of 

Landlord's intentions to repair or rebuild said Premises or the part so damaged as 

aforesaid, and if Landlord elects to repair or rebuild said Premises, Landlord shall 

prosecute the work of such repairing or rebuilding without unn�cessary delay, and 

during such period the rent of said Premises shall be abated in the same ratio that 

that portion of the Premises rendered for the time being _unfit for occupancy shall 

bear to the whole of the Premises. If Landlord shall fail to give the notice aforesaid, 

Tenant shall have the right to declare this Lease tenninated by written notice served 

upon Landlord. 

In the event the Building in which the Premises are located shall be damaged 

( even though the Premises hereby leased shall not be damaged thereby) to such 
extent that, in the opinion of Landlord, it shall not be practicable to repair or rebuild, 

or is destroyed, then it shall be optional with Landlord to terminate this Lease by 

written notice served on Tenant within thirty (30) days after such damage or 

destruction. 

10. PERSONAL PROPERTY TAXES. Tenant shall pay or cause to be paid

before delinquency any and all taxes, including any imposed marijuana sales taxes, 

levied or assessed, and which become payable during the term hereof upon all 

Tenant's leasehold improvements, equipment, furniture, fixtures and any other 

personal property located in .the Premises. In the event any or all of Tenant's 

leasehold improvements, equipment, furniture, fixtures and other personal property 

shall be assessed and taxed with the real property, Tenant shall pay to Landlord its 

share of such taxes within ten (10) days after delivery to Tenant by Landlord of a 
statement in writing setting forth the amount of such taxes applicable to Tenant's 

property. 

11. INSOLVENCY. If Tenant b,ecomes insolvent or voluntarily or

involuntarily bankrupt or if a receiver, assignee or other liquidating officer is 

appointed for the business of Tenant and. if the receivership, assignment or other 

liquidating action is not terminated within thirty (30) days of any such appointment, 

then Landlord may terminate this Lease and Tenant's right of possession under this 

Lease, at Landlord's option. 

12. DEFAULTS. The occurrence of any one or more or the following events

shall constitute a default and breach of this Lease by Tenant: 

141



12.1.Vacation of Premises. The vacating or abandonment of 
Premises by Tenant; 

12.2.Failure to Provide Rent. The failure by Tenant to provide rent 
as described in Section 3 .1 or any other payment required to be made by Tenant 
hereunder as and when due; 

12.3.Failure to Perform Covenants. The failure by Tenant to observe 
or perform any of the covenants, conditions, or provisions of this Lease . to be 
observed or performed by Tenant where such failure shall continue for a period of 
ten (10) days after written notice thereof by Landlord to Tenant; provided, however, 
that if the nature of Tenant's default is such that more than ten (10) days are 
reasonably required for its cure, then Tenant shall not be deemed to be in default if 
Tenant commences such cure within said ten ( 10) day period and thereafter diligently 
prosecutes such cure to completion; and 

13. REiviEDIES IN DEFAULT. In the event of any such default or breach by
Tenant, Landlord may, at any time thereafter, in its sole discretion, with or without 
notice or demand and without limiting Landlord in the exercise of a right or remedy 
which Landlord may have by reason of such default or breach: 

13.1.Termination. Terminate Tenant's right to possession of the 
Premises by any lawful means, in which case this Lease shall terminate, and Tenant 
shall immediately surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord. In such event, 
Landlord shall be entitled to recover from Tenant all damages .incurred by Landlord 
by reason of Tenant's default, including but not limited to the cost of recovering 
possession of the Premises; expenses of reletting, including, but not limited to, 
necessary renovation and alteration of the Premises; reasonable attorneys' fees; the 
worth at the time of award by the court having jurisdiction thereof of the amount by 
which the unpaid rent and other charges and Additional Charges called for herein for 
the balance of the term after the time of su�h award exceeds the amount of such loss 
for the same period that Tenant proves could be reasonably avoided; and that portion 
of any leasing commission paid by Landlord and applicable to the unexpired term of 
.this Lease. In this event, Landlord shall contact .AMCO Enforcement Division to 
ensure that AMCO is notified that Tenant has lost possession of the Property and 
have AMCO Enforcement come and remove any marijuana or marijuana products 
from the facility prior to retaking possession of the Property. Unpaid installments of 
rent or other sums shall bear interest from the date due at the maximum legal rate; 

9 I ·l; /I '. -�. .. - ... 

142



13.2.Enforce Rights. Maintain Tenant's right to possession, in which 
case this Lease shall continue in effect whether or not Tenant shall have abandoned 
the Premises. In such event, Landlord shall be entitled to enforce all of Landlord's 
rights and remedies under this Lease, including, but not limited to, the right to 
recover the rent and any other charges and Additional Charges as ·may become due 
hereunder; or 

13.3.0ther Remedies. Pursue any other remedy now or hereafter 
available to Landlord under the laws or judicial decisions of the state in which the 
Premises are located. 

14. PRIORITY. Tenant agrees that this Lease shall be subor4inate to any 
mortgages or deeds of trust now or at any time hereafter constituting a lien upon the 
Premises or the Building containing the same, to any and all advances to be made 
there under, and to the interest thereon, and to all renewals, replacements and 
extensions thereof; provided that the mortgagees or the beneficiaries named in said 
mortgages or deeds of trust shall agree to recognize this Lease in the event of 
foreclosure if Tenant is not in default hereunder and if Tenant attoms to the 
mortgagee. Within ten (10) days after written request from Landlord, Tenant shall 
execute any documents that may be necessary or desirable to effectuate the 
subordination of this Lease to any such mortgages or deeds of trust and shall 
execute Estoppel Certificates as requested by Landlord from time to time in the 
standard form of any such mortgagee or beneficiary. 

15. CONDEMNATION. If all of the Premises or any portion of the Building
as may be required for the reasonable use of the Premises shall be taken by eminent 
domain ( or by a voluntary conveyance made in lieu of a taking by eminent 
domain), this Lease shall automatically terminate as of the date Tenant is required 
to vacate or will be deprived of the reasonable use of the Premises, and all rentals 
shall be paid to that date. In the case of a taking of a part of the Premises, Tenant 
may, at its election, terminate this Lease by notice in writing to Landlord within ten 
(10) days after the receipt by Tenant of written notice of the proposed taking, and
with any such notice by Tenant to Landlord to be effective on a date which shall be
specified by Tenant in the notice but shall be no later than thirty (30) days after the
date of the giving of notice. If within said thirty (30) day period Tenant does not
exercise its right to terminate this Lease because of a taking of a part of the
Premises, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, and the rental shall be
equitably reduced based on the proportion by which the floor area of the Premises
is reduced, such rent reduction to be effective as of the date when possession of
such portion is delivered to the condemning authority. Landlord reserves all rights

143



to damages to the Premises for any taking by eminent domain, and Tenant hereby 
assigns to Landlord any right Tenant may have to such damages or award, and 
Tenant shall make no claim against Landlord for damages for termination of the 
leasehold interest or for interference with Tenant's business. Tenant shall have the 
right, however, to claim and recover from the condemning authority compensation 
for any loss to which Tenant may be put for Tenant's moving expenses and for the 
interruption of or damage to Tenant's business; provided that such damages may be 
claimed only if they are awarded separately in the eminent domain proceeding and 
not as part of the damages recoverable by Landlord. 

16. PARKING AND COMMON AREAS.

· 16.1.Landlord's Obligations and Rights. Landlord covenants that 
there shall be an area for common and parking areas for the nonexclusive use of 
Tenant (provided that Tenant has access to the required amount of parking spots per 
�alrner land use code) during the full term of this Lease; provided that the 
condemnation or other taking by any public authority or sale in lieu of condemnation 
of any or all of such common and parking areas shall not constitute a violation of this 
covenant. 

16.2.Tenant's Rights. Tenant, for the use and benefit of itself and its 
agents, employees, customers, and licensees, shall have the nonexclusive right in 
common with Landlord and other present and future owners and tenants and their 
agents, employees, customers, and licensees to use said common and parking areas 
during the entire term of this Lease for ingress, egress �d automobile parking. 

16.3.Rules and Regulations. Tenant, in the use of said common and 
parking areas, agrees to comply with such reasonable rules, regulations and charges 
for parking as Landlord and Tenant shall agree upon from time to time for the 
orderly and proper operation of said common and parking areas. Such rules may 
include but shall not be limited to the following: (1) the restricting of employee 
parking to a limited, designated area or areas; and (2) the regulation of the removal, 
storage and disposal of Tenant's refuse and other rubbish. 

17. NONWAIVER. Waiver by Landlord of any breach of any term, covenant
or cond�tion herein contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such term, 
covenant or condition or of any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, 
covenant or condition herein contained. The subsequent acceptance of rent 
hereunder by Landlord shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding breach 
by Tenant of any term, covenant or condition of this Lease, other than the failure of 

144



Tenant to pay the particular rental so accepted, regardless of Landlord's knowledge 
of such preceding breach at the time of acceptance of such rent. 

18. SURRENDER OF POSSESSION. Upon expiration of the term of this
Lease, whether by lapse of time of otherwise, Tenant shall promptly and peacefully 
surrender the Premises to Landlord. 

19. HOLDING OVER. If Tenant shall, without the written consent of
Landlord, hold over after the expiration of the term of this Lease, such tenancy 
shall be for an indefinite period of time on a month-to-month tenancy, which 
tenancy may be terminated as provided by the laws of the State of Alaska. During 
such tenancy, Tenant agrees to pay Landlord rent at the rate of Two Hundred 
percent (200%) of the rental as set forth herein, unless a different rate shall be 
agreed upon, and to be bound by all of the· terms, covenants and conditions herein 

specified, so far as applicable. 

20. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. Tenant shall not assign this Lease
nor sublet the whole or any part of the Premises to any person or entity
without the written approval of the Landlord, which shall not be unreasonably
withheld. As used herein the term "Assignment" includes without limitation
transfers to a subsidiary or affiliated entity, the restructuring of a limited
partnership, transfers of interest by or between individual partners if Tenant is
a partnership, transfers of stock by stockholders if Tenant is a corporation, and
any assignment in connection with any corporate merger or consolidation

21. NOTICES. All notices under this Lease shall be in writing and deliyered
in person or sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, to 
Landlord at the same place rent payments are made and to Tenant at the Premises or 
to such other respective addresses as may hereafter be designated by either party in 
writing. Notices mailed as aforesaid shall be deemed given on the date of such 
mailing. 

22. COSTS AND ATTORNEYS' FEES. If by reason or any default on the
part of Tenant it becomes necessary for Landlord to employ an attorney, or in case 
Landlord shall bring suit to recover any rent due hereunder or for breach of any 
provision of this Lease or to recover possession of the Premises, or if Landlord 
shall bring an action for any relief against Tenant, declaratory or otherwise, arising 
out of this Lease, and Landlord shall prevail in such action, then and in any of such 
events Tenant shall pay Landlord a reasonable attorneys' fee and all costs and 
expenses expended or incurred by Landlord in connection with such default or 

145



action. 

23. LANDLORD'S ACCESS. Landlord and its agents shall have the right to
enter the Premises at reasonable times, provided Landlord and its agents follow the 
required Visitor Policy, for the purpose of inspecting it, showing it to prospective 
purchasers or lenders and making such repairs as Landlord may deem necessary or 
desirable. Landlord may, at any time, place on or about the Premises any ordinary 
"For Lease" signs and may, during the last ninety (90) days of the term of this 
Lease, place on or about the Premises any ordinary "For Sale or Lease"· signs, 
without rebate of rent or liability to Tenant. 

24. CAPTIONS AND CONSTRUCTION. The titles to the sections of this
Lease are not a part of this Lease and shall have no effect upon the construction or 
interpretation of any part hereof. 

25. REMOVAL OF PROPERTY. At the end of the term or Second Term, if
Tenant shall fail to remove any of its property of any nature whatsoever from the 
Premises at the termination of this Lease or when Landlord has the right of reentry, 
Landlord may, after notifying AMCO Enforcement of Tenant's departure and 
AMCO Enforcement's removal of any marijuana or marijuana product, at its 
option, remove and store said property without liability for loss thereof or damage 
thereto, such storage to be for the account and at the expense of Tenant. If Tenant 
shall not pay the cost of storing any such property after it has been stored for a 
period of ten (10) days or more, Landlord may, at its option, sell or permit to be 

. sold any or all of such property at public or private sale, in such manner and at such 
times and places as Landlord in its sole discretion may deem proper, without notice 
to Tenant, and shall apply the proceeds of such sales as follows: first, to the cost 
and expense of such sale, including reasonable attorneys' fees actually incurred; 
second, to the payment of the costs or charges for storing any such property; third, 
to the payment of any other sums of money which may then be or thereafter 
become due Landlord from Tenant under any of the terms hereof; and fourth, the 
balance, if any, to Tenant. 

26. SUCCESSORS. All of the covenants, agreements, terms and conditions
contained in this Lease shall apply to and be binding upon Landlord and Tenant and 
their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, except as 
expressly limited herein. 

27. ACCEPTANCE OF PREMISES.- Tenant shall accept the Premises "as
is II at the commencement of the term of this Lease and in their then present 

146



condition and subject to all applicable zoning, municipal, county, borough, and 
state laws, ordinances and regulations governing and regulating the use of the 
Premises and accept this Lease subject thereto and all matters disclosed thereby and 
by any exhibits attached hereto. Tenant acknowledges that neither Landlord nor 
Landlord's agents have made any representation or warranty as to the s�itability of 
the Premises for the conduct of Tenant's business. 

28. SALE OF PREMISES BY LANDLORD. In the event of any sale of the
Premises by Landlord, Landlord shall be and hereby is entirely freed and relieved 
of all liability under any and all of its covenants and obligations contained in or 
derived from this Lease arising out of any act, occurrence or omission occurring 
after the consummation of such sale; and the purchaser at such sale or any 
subsequent sale of the Premises shall be deemed, without any further agreement 
between the parties or their successors in interest or between the parties and any 
such purchaser, to have assumed and agreed to carry out any and all of the 
c_ovenants and obligations of Landlord under this Lease and any renewal terms. 

29. TENANT'S STATEMENT. Tenant shall, at any time and from time to
time, upon not less than five (5) days' prior written notice from Landlord, execute, 
acknowledge and deliver to Landlord a statement in writing: (a) certifying that this 
Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect ( or, if modified, stating the nature 
of such modification and certifying that this Lease as so modified is in full force 
and effect) and the date to which the rental and other charges are paid in advance, if 
any; (b) acknowledging that there are not, to Tenant's knowledge, any uncured 
defaults on the part of Landlord hereunder or specifying that such defaults, if any, 
are claimed; .and ( c) setting forth the date of commencement of rents and expiration 
of the term hereof. The prospective purchaser or encumbrancer of all or ariy portion 
of the real property of which the Premises are a part may rely upon any such 
statement. 

30. SUBORDINATION BY TENANT. Landlord shall have the right to
unilaterally subject and subordinate Tenant's rights and remedies under this 
Agreement and Tenant's right, title and interest in and to the Premises to the lien of 
any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest that Landlord may elect to grant in, 
to or against the Premises without the necessity of Tenant joining in any such 
subordination, provided that Landlord protects Tenant's right, title and interest in 
and to the Premises under this Agreements with an appropriate non-disturbance 
agreement approved by Tenant, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld 
by Tenant. Tenant shall, within ten (10) days after being requested by Landlord: 
(a) execute and deliver such approval and such other and further instruments which

147



evidence and approve such subordination in recordable form as Landlord or 
Landlord's mortgagee, beneficiary or secured party may request; and (b) attom to 
such mortgagee, beneficiary and/or secured party as the Landlord under this 
agreement if and when it succeeds to any of Landlord's right, title or interest in or 
·to all or any part of the Premises. Tenant hereby appoints Landlord as its attomey-
in-fact only to execute and deliver any and all such instruments on behalf of Tenant
that Tenant fails or refuses to execute and deliver, which appointment is
irrevocable, shall survive the death, dissolution, incapacity or dissolution of Tenant
and is coupled with an interest in Landlord.

31. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Lease sets forth the entire understanding
and agreement of Landlord and Tenant with respect to the Premises and the Lease 
thereof, and all prior understandings or agreements are merged herein. This Lease 
may be amended or modified only in writing signed by both parties. 

32. BROKERS COMMISSION. Tenant represents and warrants that it has
incurred no liabilities or claims for brokerage commissions or finder's fees in 
connection with the execution of this Lease, and that it has neither dealt with nor 
has it had any knowledge of any real estate broker, agent or sales person in 
connection with this Lease except NI A . Tenant agrees to 
indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from all such liabilities or claims including, 
without limitation, attorney's fees and costs. 

33. SECURITY AGREEMENT. Tenant grants to Landlord a security interest
in all fixtures, trade fixtures and personal property located on the premises, except 
for any marijuana or marijuana products, which are not subject to any Landlord 
security interest, pursuant to AS §45.29.et seq. The grant of security interest is for 
any obligation that will become due and is due under the lease. 

34. RECORDING. Tenant shall not record this Lease without ·the prior
written consent of Landlord. However, upon request of either p�Ity, }:,0th !-'�rti':'-� 
shall execute a memorandum or "short _form" of this Lease for the purposes of 
r�('<JTn::ltion in a f'0T'm .-:-11�t0m�riJy used for such purposes. Said memorandum or 
short form of this Lease shall describe the parties, the Premises and the Lease term, 
and shall incorporate this Lease by refer':'��':'. 

35. LEASE NOT AN OFFER. The submission of this Lease to Tenant shall
:-::::� �-:- -:--:--�'..'.t:"_�::-� �� �� c,ff�r, �0!' shall Tenant have any rights with respect thereto 
unless and until Landlord executes a copy of this Lease and delivers the same to 
1enan1. 

151 n . ..j. u �..;

148



36. HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE DISCLOSURE. Tenant shall promptly
disclose to Landlord, in writing, if Tenant knows, or has reasonable cause to 
believe, that any toxic dangerous, or hazardous substance, as those terms are 
defined under federal, state, or local law, has come to be located in, on, about, over, 
or beneath the premises. In addition, Tenant shall execute a written statement to 
Landlord no later than thirty (30) days after the end of each lease year describing 
in detail any and all toxic, dangerous, or hazardous substances, as those terms are 
defined under federal, state, or local law, which Tenant knows, or has reasonable 
cause to believe, have come to be located in, on, about, over, or beneath their 
premises, or that there are no toxic, dangerous, or hazardous substances in� on 
about, over, or beneath the premises. 

37. FORUM SELECTION. This Lease shall be construed in accordance
with the laws of the State of Alaska. Should any legal proceeding be necessary 
under this Lease, the same shall be commenced in the Superior Court for the State 
of Alaska, Third Judicial District at Palmer, Alaska. Tenants agree speci.fical.ly that 
venue and jurisdiction in that court is proper, and further agree to submit 
themselves to the jurisdiction of that court. Tenants shall not claim that said forum 
is an inconvenient forum. 

IN WIT
N

ESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Lease on the dates 
set forth below their respective signatures. 

L�trestments, LLC
By: Kendra Nugent, Sole Member 

EXECUTED on Mt'i h O lb .l?;;..--

/JP�I� 
9 

9 , joi). \ ��

onnoisseur Lounge, LLC

-L:,+L.L.;-1.L..W..-......... '-'-'-"-�· � 

EXECUTED on � 
A-'P<l.l l. 9

1 
�OJ..\ rf (_ 

161Pagc 

149



What is this form? 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Phone: 907.269.0350 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-00: Application Certifications 

This application certifications form is required for all marijuana establishment license applications. Each person signing an 

application for a marijuana establishment license must declare that he/she has read and is familiar with AS 17.38 and 3 AAC 306. 

This form must be completed and submitted to AMCO's main office by each proposed licensee (as defined in 

3 AAC 306.020(b)(2}} before any license application will be considered complete. 

Section 1 - Establishment Information 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed, as identified on the license application. 

Licensee: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC I License Number: I 27522 

License Type: Retail Marijuana Store 
Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 
Premises Address: 226 W. Evergreen Avenue 
City: Palmer I State: I Alaska I ZIP:

Section 2 - Individual Information 

Enter information for the individual licensee. 

Name: Mathew Chambers 
Title: Manager, Member 

Section 3 - Other Licenses 

Ownership and financial interest in other licenses: 

Do you currently have or plan to have an ownership interest in, or a direct or indirect financial interest in 

another marijuana establishment license? 

If ''Yes", which license numbers (for existing licenses) and license types do you own or plan to own? 

I
Cultivation License 13487 

[Form MJ-00) (rev 09/27/2018) 

199645 

Yes No 

0D 

Page lof 3 

150



Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 

550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 

ma riiuana. lice nsi ng@a la ska .gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 

Phone: 907.269.0350 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-00: Application Certifications 

Section 4 - Certifications 

Read each line below, and then sign your initials in the box to the right of each statement: 

I certify that I have not been convicted of a felony in any state or the United States, including a suspended imposition of 

sentence, for which less than five years have elapsed from the time of the conviction to the date of this application. 

I certify that I am not currently on felony probation or felony parole. 

I certify that I have not been found guilty of selling alcohol without a license in violation of AS 04.11.010. 

I certify that I have not been found guilty of selling alcohol to an individual under 21 years of age in violation of 04.16.051 

or AS 04.16.052. 

I certify that I have not been convicted of a misdemeanor crime involving a controlled substance, violence against a 

person, use of a weapon, or dishonesty within the five years preceding this application. 

I certify that I have not been convicted of a class A misdemeanor relating to selling, furnishing, or distributing marijuana 

or operating an establishment where marijuana is consumed within the two years preceding this application. 

I certify that my proposed premises is not within 500 feet of a school ground, recreation or youth center, a building in 

which religious services are regularly conducted, or a correctional facility, as set forth in 3 AAC 306.0lO(a). 

I certify that my proposed premises is not located in a liquor licensed premises. 

I certify that I meet the residency requirement under AS 43.23 for a permanent fund dividend in the calendar year in 

which I am initiating this application. 

I certify that all proposed licensees (as defined in 3 AAC 306.020(b)(2)) have been listed on my on line marijuana 

establishment license application. Additionally, if applicable, all proposed licensees have been listed on my 

application with the Division of Corporations. 

I certify that I understand that providing a false statement on this form, the on line application, or any other form provided 

by AMCO is grounds for denial of my application. 

[Form MJ-00) (rev 09/27/2018) 

Initials 

Page 2of3 

151



Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 

550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 

marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https ://www .commerce .a la ska .gov /web/a mco 

Phone: 907.269.0350 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-00: Application Certifications 

Read each line below, and then sign your initials in the box to the right of each statement: 

I certify and understand that I must operate in compliance with the Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce 

Development's laws and requirements pertaining to employees. 

I certify and understand that I must operate in compliance with each applicable public health, fire, safety, and tax code 

and ordinance of this state and the local government in which my premises is located. 

Read each line below, and then sign your initials in the box to the right of only the applicable statement: 

Initials 

� 

MU 

Initials 

Only initial next to the following statement if this form is accompanying an application for a marijuana testing facility license: 

I certify that I do not have an ownership in, or a direct or indirect financial interest in a retail marijuana store, a marijuana 

cultivation facility, or a marijuana products manufacturing facility. □ 

Only initial next to the following statement if this form is accompanying an application for a retail marijuana store, a marijuana 

cultivation facility, or a marijuana products manufacturing facility license: 

I certify that I do not have an ownership in, or a direct or indirect financial interest in a marijuana testing facility license. 

All marijuana establishment license applicants: 

As an applicant for a marijuana establishment license, I declare under penalty of unsworn falsification that I have read and am familiar 

with AS 17.38 and 3 AA 306, and that the online application and this form, including all accompanying schedules and statements, is 

let . 

Si 

Mathew Chambers 

Printed name of licensee 

[Form MJ-00] (rev 09/27/2018) Page3 of3 

152



Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 

550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99S01 

marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 

Phone: 907.269.0350 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-00: Application Certifications 

What is this form? 

This application certifications form is required for all marijuana establishment license applications. Each person signing an 

application for a marijuana establishment license must declare that he/she has read and is familiar with AS 17.38 and 3 AAC 306. 

This form must be completed and submitted to AMCO's main office by each proposed licensee (as defined in 
3 AAC 306.020(b)(2}) before any license application will be considered complete. 

Section 1 - Establishment Information 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed, as identified on the license application. 

Licensee: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC j License Number: I 27522

License Type: Retail Marijuana Store 
Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 
Premises Address: 226 W. Evergreen Avenue 
City: Palmer j State: I Alaska I ZIP: 

Section 2 - Individual Information 

Enter information for the individual licensee. I Name: I Sara Jean Berberich 
Member 

Section 3 - Other Licenses 

Ownership and financial interest in other licenses: 

Do you currently have or plan to have an ownership interest in, or a direct or indirect financial interest in 

another marijuana establishment license? 

If "Yes", which license numbers {for existing licenses) and license types do you own or plan to own? 

[Form MJ-00] (rev 09/27/2018) 

199645 

Yes No 

□ 0

Page 1 of 3 

153



ol> & M,4-(il 
0� ✓l,-

� 'it 
� ' 7 

AMCO, 
� 

. , 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 

550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 

marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska,gov/web/amco 

Phone: 907.269.0350 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-00: Application Certifications 

Section 4 - Certifications 

Read each line below, and then sign your initials in the box to the right of each statement: 

I certify that I have not been convicted of a felony in any state or the United States, including a suspended imposition of 

sentence, for which less than five years have elapsed from the time of the conviction to the date of this application. 

I certify that I am not currently on felony probation or felony parole. 

I certify that I have not been found guilty of selling alcohol without a license in violation of AS 04.11.010. 

I certify that I have not been found guilty of selling alcohol to an individual under 21 years of age in violation of 04.16.051 

or AS 04.16.052. 

I certify that I have not been convicted of a misdemeanor crime involving a controlled substance, violence against a 

person, use of a weapon, or dishonesty within the five years preceding this application. 

I certify that I have not been convicted of a class A misdemeanor relating to selling, furnishing, or distributing marijuana 

or operating an establishment where marijuana is consumed within the two years preceding this application. 

I certify that my proposed premises is not within 500 feet of a school ground, recreation or youth center, a building in 

which religious services are regularly conducted, or a correctional facility, as set forth in 3 AAC 306.0lO(a). 

I certify that my proposed premises is not located in a liquor licensed premises. 

I certify that I meet the residency requirement under AS 43.23 for a permanent fund dividend in the calendar year in 

which I am initiating this application. 

I certify that all proposed licensees (as defined in 3 AAC 306.020(b)(2)) have been listed on my online marijuana 

establishment license application. Additionally, if applicable, all proposed licensees have been listed on my 

application with the Division of Corporations. 

I certify that I understand that providing a false statement on this form, the on line application, or any other form provided 

by AMCO is grounds for denial of my application. 

[Form MJ-00] (rev 09/27/2018) 

Initials 

Page2of3 

154



Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 

550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 

marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 

Phone: 907.269.0350 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-00: Application Certifications 

Read each line below, and then sign your initials in the box to the right of each statement: 

I certify and understand that I must operate in compliance with the Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce 
Development's laws and requirements pertaining to employees. 

I certify and understand that I must operate in compliance with each applicable public health, fire, safety, and tax code 
and ordinance of this state and the local government in which my premises is located. 

Read each line below, and then sign your initials in the box to the right of only the applicable statement: 

Initials 

Initials 

Only initial next to the following statement if this form is accompanying an application for a marijuana testing facility license: 

I certify that I do not have an ownership in, or a direct or indirect financial interest in a retail marijuana store, a marijuana 
cultivation facility, or a marijuana products manufacturing facility. I □

Only initial next to the following statement if this form is accompanying an application for a retail marijuana store, a marijuana 

cultivation facility. or a marijuana products manufacturing facility license: 

I certify that I do not have an ownership in, or a direct or indirect financial interest in a marijuana testing facility license. 

All marijuana establishment license applicants: 

As an applicant for a marijuana establishment license, I declare under penalty of unsworn falsification that I have read and am familiar 
with AS 17.38 and 3 AAC 306, and that the on line application and this form, including all accompanying schedules and statements, is 
true, correct, and complete. 

Signature of licensee 

Sara Jean Berberich 

Printed name of licensee 

[Form MJ-00] (rev 09/27/2018) 

STATE 

,NllllyPi"11!1 
Ma,yA.HutcllinlOft 

ee-,. No,: 1111.., 
1 

My commission expires: 

Submibed and swom to befo,e me this JJ!!a,y of � (,L5'-: , 20.c2l 

Page 3 of3 

155



[Form MJ-00] (rev 09/27/2018)  Page 1 of 3 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-00: Application Certifications 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Phone: 907.269.0350 

What is this form? 

This application certifications form is required for all marijuana establishment license applications. Each person signing an 
application for a marijuana establishment license must declare that he/she has read and is familiar with AS 17.38 and 3 AAC 306.  

This form must be completed and submitted to AMCO’s main office by each proposed licensee (as defined in  
3 AAC 306.020(b)(2)) before any license application will be considered complete. 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed, as identified on the license application. 

Licensee:  License Number:  

License Type:  

Doing Business As:  

Premises Address: 

City:  State:  ZIP:  

Enter information for the individual licensee. 

Name: 

Title: 

Ownership and financial interest in other licenses: Yes No

Do you currently have or plan to have an ownership interest in, or a direct or indirect financial interest in 
another marijuana establishment license? 

If “Yes”, which license numbers (for existing licenses) and license types do you own or plan to own? 

Section 1 – Establishment Information

Section 2 – Individual Information

Section 3 – Other Licenses

The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC 27522

Retail Marijuana Store

The Connoisseur Lounge
 226 W. Evergreen Avenue

Palmer Alaska 99645

Trisha Torborg

Member

✔

156



157



158



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7'h Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.llcensing@alaska.gov 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Phone: 907.269.0350 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

What is this form? 

An operating plan is required for all marijuana establishment license applications. Applicants should review Title 17.38 of Alaska 

Statutes and Chapter 306 of the Alaska Administrative Code. This form will be used to document how an applicant intends to meet 

the requirements of those statutes and regulations. If your business has a formal operating plan, you may include a copy of that 

operating plan with your application, but all fields of this form must still be completed per 3 AAC 306.020(c). 

What must be covered in an operating plan? 

Applicants must identify how the proposed premises will comply with applicable statutes and regulations regarding the following: 

• Control plan for persons under the age of 21
• Security

• Business records

• Inventory tracking of all marijuana and marijuana product on the premises
• Employee qualification and training

• Health and safety standards

• Transportation and delivery of marijuana and marijuana products

• Signage and advertising

App Ii cants must also complete the corresponding operating plan supplemental forms (Form MJ-03, Form MJ-04, Form MJ-05, or 

Form MJ.-06) to meet the additional operating plan requirements for each license type. 

Section 1 - Establishment & Contact Information 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed as identified on the license application. 
' 

Licensee: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC I MJ License #: 127522 
License Type: Retail Marijuana Store 
Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 
Premises Address: 226 W Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2 
City: Palmer I State: l Alaska l ZJP: 

199645

Mailing Address: 10400 E Bradley Lake Avenue 
City: Palmer I State: I Alaska I ZJP: 199645

Designated Licensee: Mathew Chambers 
Main Phone: 907-244-8329 I Cell Phone: I 907-244-8329 
Email: matt.theconnoisseur@gmail.com 

[Form MJ-01] (rev4/3/2019) Page 1 ofll 

159



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

[Form MJ-01] (rev 4/3/2019)  Page 2 of 11 
License #___________________ 

2.1. Describe how the marijuana establishment will prevent persons under the age of 21 from gaining access to any portion of the 
licensed premises and marijuana items: 

Restricted Access Areas (3 AAC 306.710): 

3.1. Describe how you will prevent unescorted members of the public from entering restricted access areas: 

3.2. Describe your recordkeeping and processes for admitting visitors into and escorting them through restricted access areas: 

Section 2 – Control Plan for Persons Under the Age of 21 

Section 3 – Security 

At the entrance to the store, a sign shall be displayed stating that "No one under 21 years of age allowed". The sign shall be 
larger than 12"x12" with letters at least one-half inch in height and in high contrast to the background of the sign. All restricted 
access areas will have signs that read "Restricted Access Area. Visitors Must be Escorted". The Connoisseur Lounge will 
refuse entrance to any person who does not produce a form of valid photo identification (ID) showing that person is twenty-
one (21) years of age or older. All visitors and customers will be greeted by an employee once they enter the retail sales area 
where they will be asked to provide their ID. A Valid form of ID will include; an unexpired, unaltered passport; an unexpired, 
unaltered driver's license; or identification card of any state or territory of the United States, the District of Columbia, or a 
province of Canada. If at any time an employee suspects that a visitor is under twenty-one (21) the employee will refuse 
access and will ensure the individual is escorted off the premises. Employees will be trained to spot inconsistencies and signs 
of forgery in IDs. All IDs will be thoroughly examined before entrance to the retail store is granted.

Every entry point to a restricted access area will be covered by security cameras and locked (except 
for the store entrance during normal business hours) and will have the required signs stating
"Restricted Access Area, Visitors Must be Escorted". All entry points will be equipped with entry 
sensors and connected to the security system. Only the licensees or employees will have the keys or 
access codes to unlock the commercial grade, non-residential entryway doors/door locks. All 
windows shall remain locked and broken glass sensors shall be installed. The Connoisseur Lounge 
will have at least one employee behind the retail sales counter at all times to assist in deterring 
unauthorized access. Any visitor who is allowed access to the restricted access areas of the facility 
must check in at the front entrance and follow the visitor procedures outlined in Section 3.2.

The Connoisseur Lounge has a strict visitor policy. All visitors who wish to take a tour of the retail
store in its entirety must be pre-scheduled by a licensee. AMCO, AMCO Enforcement and duly
authorized law enforcement agents are exempt from The Connoisseur Lounge visitor policy. Each
visitor must sign into the visitor's log indicating their name, the date, time in and out of the restricted
access area and, if needed, the purpose of the visit. Upon sign in, the visitor must produce valid
government issued photo ID. After ID verification, the visitor will be handed a visitor badge that must
be visibly worn at all times throughout the tour. A licensee or designated employee will escort and
actively supervise the visitor(s) during the entire visit. At no time will there be more than 5 visitors
per supervising licensee or designated employee. Once the visit/tour has concluded, all visitors will
be required to return their visitor badge, enter the time out on the visitor log and exit the facility. The
supervising licensee or designated employee will report any irregular behavior or activity that
occurred during the visit/tour on the visitor logs. Visitor logs will be kept as an official business
record and will be made readily available to an agent of AMCO upon request.

27522
160



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

[Form MJ-01] (rev 4/3/2019)  Page 3 of 11 
License #___________________ 

3.3. Provide samples of licensee-produced identification badges that will be displayed by each licensee, employee, or agent while 
on the premises, and of visitor identification badges that will be worn by all visitors while in restricted access areas: 

Security Alarm Systems and Lock Standards (3 AAC 306.715): 

3.4. Exterior lighting is required to facilitate surveillance. Describe how the exterior lighting will meet this requirement: 

All areas outside the restricted access area where video surveillance is required, will be illuminated
by photo cell light fixtures to cover a minimum of twenty (20) feet from the retail store's entrances
and exits. The exterior lighting fixtures of the retail store will be designed and installed to deter
nuisance activity and enhance surveillance, while minimizing any sort of neighborhood nuisance.
Further lighting will be used to increase picture quality and brightness for security related
documentation. The camera system and lighting will be constantly calibrated to maximize the quality
of any recorded images, and to also discourage theft and/or trespassing. The lighting fixtures will be
installed to ensure there are no dark spots around the perimeter, or any of the entrances to the
facility. All outdoor lighting will be weather proof and vandal proof.

27522
161



... �,o,a._..,
(,,

, 
->' ,, 

AMCO 
Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

3.5. An alarm system is required for all license types that must be activated on all exterior doors and windows when the licensed
premises is closed for business. Describe the security alarm system for the proposed premises, explain how it will meet all 
regulatory requirements, and outline your policies and procedures regarding the actions to be taken by a licensee, employee, or 
agent when the alarm system alerts of an unauthorized breach: 

The alarm system for the licensed premises will consist of entry sensors on all doors and windows. 
Broken glass sensors will also be used near the windows. The security system is monitored 24 
hours/day and the local law enforcement will be contacted if any of the sensors are triggered once 
the system is armed. The system will be armed after business hours by using the system's keypad 
or the key chain remote. The security system has a panic function installed and once activated, a 
siren will sound and law enforcement will be contacted. If an unauthorized breach does occur, a 
licensee and/or an employee will immediately call the local enforcement to ensure the security 
system representative has relayed the alarm to them. Also, in the event of an unauthorized breach 
during operating hours, a licensee or an employee will instruct all employees, customers and visitors 
to vacate the premises to a pre-determined safe location, take a head-count of all known persons 
that were in the retail store and await law enforcement. The Connoisseur Lounge will comply with all 
law enforcement directives. Once determined safe to do so, a licensee or an employee will re-enter 
the store, take inventory of all marijuana and marijuana products, cash etc and ensure that there is 
nothing missing. AMCO will be notified electronically as soon as possible and, in any case, not more 
than 24 hours of any unauthorized access to the premises and any theft or diversion of money, 
marijuana or marijuana products. 

3.6. Describe vour oolicies and procedures for preventing diversion of marijuana or marijuana product, including by employees: 

Employees will be aware that any diversion or inversion of marijuana will result in an immediate termination of employment. 
Employees will log their time daily while working in the licensed premises and will be trained on inversion and diversion methods 
and how to detect them along with The Connoisseur Lounge's standard operating procedures for handling marijuana and 

o

marijuana prducts including, but not limited to; label tags placed on every package of marijuana and how to ensure they are in 
the database inventory. Inventory will be checked regularly and cross-checked with Metrc to determine if diversion or inversion of 
marijuana is an issue. The interior and exterior of the licensed premises will be covered by video surveillance 24 hours per day 
and closely monitored. Video surveillance records will be kept for a minimum of 40 days or longer if requested by AMCO or Law 
Enforcement for investigatory reasons . The video recordings and inventory checks will help prevent the diversion of marijuana. 

3.7. Descnbe vour policies and procedures for preventing loitering: 

The Connoisseur Lounge's retail store is located on private property. A sign will be posted at the 
entrance to the facility stating "No Loitering" is permitted on the premises. A licensee or an employee will 
be instructed to randomly perform a walk around of the retail store to ensure that there are no persons 
loitering around the premises. Employees will be instructed to kindly tell any persons loitering to leave the 
premises. If a person loitering refuses to leave, the employee will call for a licensee. If the person still 
refuses to leave a licensee will contact local law enforcement. Loitering policies will also include when the 
business is closed after hours and this will be enforced by a 24 hour surveillance system. 

You must be able to certify the statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the box to the right: 

3.8. I certify that if any additional security devices are used, such as a motion detector, pressure switch, and duress, 

panic, or hokk.ip alarm, to enhance security of the licensed premises, I will have written policies and procedures 

describing their use. 

[Form MJ-01) (rev 4/3/2019) 

License# 
27 522 

Initials 

Page4of ll 

162



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

Video Surveillance (3 AAC 306.no}: 

You must be able to certify each statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the corresponding box: 

3.9. The video surveillance and camera recording system for the licensed premises covers each restricted access area, 

and both the interior and exterior of each entrance to the facility. 

3.10. Each video suNeillance recording: is preserved for a minimum of 40 days, in a format that can be easily accessed 

for viewing (consistent with the Alcohol & Marijuana Control Office's approved format list); clearly and accurately 

displays the time and date; and is archived in a format that does not permit alteration of the recorded image. 

3.11. The surveillance room or area is clearly defined on the Form MJ-02: Premises Diagram that is submitted with this 
application. 

3.12. SuNeillance recording equipment and video surveillance records are housed in a designated, locked, and secure 

area or in a lock box, cabinet, closet or other secure area where access is limited to the licensee(s), an authorized 

employee, and law enforcement personnel (including an agent of the Marijuana Control Board). 

Initials 

3.13. Describe how the video cameras will be placed to produce a clear view adequate to identify any individual inside the licensed 

premises, or within 20 feet of each entrance to the licensed premises: 

The Connoisseur Lounge will install a video surveillance system which will cover each restricted 
access area and each entrance to a restricted access area within the licensed premises. The 
System will also cover each exit to the exterior of the premises and each point-of-sale area. The 
surveillance system will be placed in a way that produces a clear view adequate to identify any 
individual inside the licensed premises, and within 20 feet of each entrance to the premises. Both 
the interior and exterior of each entrance to the facility will be recorded by a video camera. Camera 
systems will be placed so that there is a clear, unobstructed view of day to day activity without 
blockage from any equipment in the facility in order to assure a clear view of persons entering and 
exiting the facility. Surveillance recording equipment and surveillance records will be kept in a 
locked area that is accessible only to the licensees, authorized employees, AMCO or local law 
enforcement personnel. 

3.14. Describe the locked and secure area where video suNeillance recording equipment and original copies of surveillance records 

will be housed and stored, and how you will ensure the area is accessible only to authorized personnel, law enforcement, or an 

agent of the Marijuana Control Board. If you will be using an offsite monitoring service_and offsite storage of video SUNeillance 

records, your response must include how the offsite facility will meet these security requirements: 

The Connoisseur Lounge will house and maintain surveillance recording equipment on-site inside a 
steel cabinet in the office/storage area of the licensed premises. The cabinet doors will be locked 
and only the licensees will hold a key which will be clearly marked "DO NOT DUPLICATE". This 
area will only be accessed by licensees or authorized employee(s) to ensure that there is no 
unauthorized access or tampering. The security system will be password protected for added 
security. All recorded data will be stored for a minimum of forty (40) days as an official business 
record. All surveillance footage will be accessible for upload to a separate hard drive in the event 
that it must be stored for longer for criminal, civil, or administrative investigations. All recordings will 
be time and date stamped, and archived in a format that prevents alteration of the recorded image. 
Law enforcement and Marijuana Control Board agents will have access, if requested, to recordings 
and surveillance data. 

[Form MJ-01) (rev 4/3/2019) 

Ucense # 
27 522 PageSofll 

163



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

Section 4 - Business Records 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306. 755. All licensed marijuana establishments must maintain, in a format that is readily 
understood by a reasonably prudent business person, certain business records. 

4.1. I certify that the following business records will be maintained and kept on the licensed premises: 

a. all books and records necessary to fully account for each business transaction conducted under my license for the

current year and three preceding calendar years (records for the last six months must be maintained on the licensed

premises; older records may be archived on or off-premises);

b. a current employee list setting out the full name and marijuana handler permit number of each licensee,
employee, and agent who works at the marijuana establishment;

c. the business contact information for vendors that maintain video surveillance systems and security alarm
systems for the licensed premises;

d. records related to advertising and marketing;

e. a current diagram of the licensed premises, including each restricted access area;

f. a log recording the name, and date and time of entry of each visitor permitted into a restricted access area; 

g. all records normally retained for tax purposes;

h. accurate and comprehensive inventory tracking records that account for all marijuana inventory activity from
seed or immature plant stage until the retail marijuana or retail marijuana product is sold to a consumer, to
another marijuana establishment, or destroyed;

i. transportation records for marijuana and marijuana product, as required by 3 AAC 306.7S0(f); and

J. registration and inspection reports of scales registered under the Weights and Measures Act, as required
by 3 AAC 306.745.

Initials 

4.2. A marijuana establishment is required to exercise due diligence in preserving and maintaining all required records. Describe 
how you will prevent records and data, including electronically maintained records, from being lost or destroyed: 

All required six (6) month business records will be kept on the business computer's hard drive in the 
office/storage area. An external hard drive will be used to back-up all files on a regular basis. The 
external hard drive will be kept in a fire proof safe. 

All physical records and electronic records required under 3 AAC 306. 755 will be kept onsite for the 
current year and the three (3) previous years in a format that is readily understood by a reasonably 

prudent business person. 

Physical records will be kept in binders in the office area. Some may also be scanned and stored 

digitally as described above. 

[Form MJ--01) (rev 4/3/2019)
Ucense/127522 Page 6of 11 

164



. Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

Section 5 - Inventory Tracking of All Marijuana and Marijuana Product 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306. 730. All licensed marijuana establishments must use a marijuana inventory tracking 

system capable of sharing information with Metre to ensure all marijuana cultivated and sold in the state, and each marijuana 

product processed and sold in the state, is identified and tracked from the time the marijuana is propagated from seed or cutting, 

through transfer to another licensed marijuana establishment, or use in manufacturing a marijuana product, to a completed sale of 

marijuana or marijuana product, or disposal of the harvest batch of marijuana or production lot of marijuana product. 

You must be able to certify each statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the corresponding box: 

5.1. My marijuana establishment will be using Metre, and if any other tracking software is used, it will be capable of 
sharing information with Metre. 

5.2. All marijuana delivered to a marijuana establishment will be weighed on a scale registered in compliance with 
3 MC306.745. 

5.3. My marijuana establishment will use registered scales in compliance with AS 45.75.080 (Weights and Measures 
Act), as required by 3 MC 306.745. 

Section 6 - Employee Qualification and Training 

Initials 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.700. All licensees, and every employee or agent of the marijuana establishment who 

sells, cultivates, manufactures, tests, or transports marijuana or a marijuana product, or who checks the identification of a 
consumer or visitor, must obtain a marijuana handler permit from the board before being licensed or beginning employment at a 

marijuana establishment. 

You must be able to certify each statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the corresponding box: 

6.1. All licensees, and each employee or agent of the marijuana establishment who sells, OJltivates, manufactures, 

tests, or transports marijuana or marijuana product, or who checks the identification of a consumer or visitor, 

shall obtain a marijuana handler permit from the board before being licensed or beginning employment at the 

marijuana establishment. 

6.2. Each licensee, employee, or agent who is required to have a marijuana handler permit shall keep that person's 

marijuana handler permit card in that person's immediate possession (or a valid copy on file on the licensed 

premises) when on the licensed premises. 

6.3. Each licensee, employee, or agent who is required to have a marijuana handler permit shall ensure that that 

person's marijuana handler permit card is valid and has not expired. 

Initials 

6.4. Describe any in-house training that will be provided to employees and agents (apart from a marijuana handler course): 

All employees will be trained by a licensee in-house in regards to their responsibilities, which will include the 
opening/closing of the store, characteristics of the different strains in stock, packaging of products, packaging 
placement on displays, housekeeping, currency handling, operation of the security system and how to react in 
emergencies, proper health and safety regulations regarding to handling marijuana and marijuana products and legal 
issues, both State and Federal. 

The licensees and all employees will complete a state approved course and obtain their marijuana handler permits 
prior to starting employment. The permits will be kept in their immediate possession at all times when on the licensed 
premises. Copies of all handler permits will kept on file at the licensed premises as well. The licensees and all 
employees shall ensure their card has not expired. 

Training updates will be made readily available throughout the year or when the licensees deem necessary. 

[Fonn MJ-01) (rev 4/3/2019) 

Lla!nse # 
27 522 

Page7of 11 

165



�,. .. ('ll, ....... t., .. 
1. ,�

AMCO 
Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

Section 7 - Health and Safety Standards 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.735. 

You must be able to certify each statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the corresponding box: 

7.1. I understand that a marijuana establishment is subject to inspection by the local fire department, building 
inspector, or code enforcement officer to confirm that health or safety concerns are not present. 

7.2. I have policies regarding health and safety standards (including: ensuring a person with an illness or infection 
does not come into contact with marijuana or marijuana product; good hygienic practices; cleaning and 
maintenance of equipment and the premises; pest deterrence; chemical storage; sanitation principles; and 
proper handling of marijuana and marijuana product) and will take all reasonable measures and precautions to 
ensure that they are met or exceeded. 

7.3. I have policies to ensure that any marijuana or marijuana product that has been stored beyond its usable life, or 
was stored improperly, is not salvaged and returned to the marketplace. 

7.4. I have policies to ensure that in the event information about the age or storage conditions of marijuana or 
marijuana product is unreliable, the marijuana or marijuana product will be handled in accordance with 
3 AAC 306.735(d). 

Answer "Yes" or "No" to each of the following questions: 

7.5. Adequate and readily accessible toilet facilities that are maintained and in good repair and sanitary conditioi:i 
are clearty indicated on my Form MJ-02: Premises Diagram. 

7.6. Convenient handwashing facilities with running water at a suitable temperature are clearly indicated on my 
Form MJ-02: Premises Diagram. 

Yes 

E] 

Initials 

No 

□ 

□ 

7 .7. If you answered "No" to either 7 .5 or 7.6 above, describe how toilet and/or handwashing facilities are made accessible, as 

Section 8 - Transportation and Delivery of Marijuana and Marijuana Products 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306. 750. 

8.1. Describe how marijuana or marijuana product will be prepared, packaged, and secured for shipment. Include a description of 
the type of locked, safe, and secure storage compartments to be used in vehicles transporting marijuana or marijuana product: 

In the event that The Connoisseur Lounge transports any marijuana or marijuana product from the 
retrul store to a different retail license (which is unlikely to occur), a trip manifest will be printed from 
Metre to accompany the shipment. A copy of the trip manifest will also be maintained on the licensed 
premises as a business record. Any marijuana or marijuana product to be transported will be placed 
within a sealed package or container up to 1 O pounds and then into a secure storage compartment 
within the transport vehicle or in the bed of a truck. Any individuals involved in the transport will have 
a valid, marijuana handler permit and be trained to travel directly to the destination without any 
unnecessary stops and without opening packages of marijuana or marijuana product. Continued .. 

(Form MJ-01) (rev4/3/2019) Page8ofll 
l.la!nse# 27522 

166



��IJA.·"'-<,,. 

-> �, 

AMCO 
Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

You must be able to certify each statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the corresponding box: 

8.2. The marijuana establishment from which a shipment of marijuana or marijuana product originates will ensure 
that any individual transporting marijuana shall have a marijuana handler permit required under 3 AAC 306.700. 

8.3. The marijuana establishment that originates the transport of any marijuana or marijuana product will use the 
marijuana inventory tracking system to record the type, amount, and weight of marijuana or marijuana product 
being transported, the name of the transporter, the time of departure and expected delivery, and the make, 
model, and license plate number of the transporting vehicle. 

8.4. The marijuana establishment that originates the transport of any marijuana or marijuana product will ensure that 
a complete printed transport manifest on a forrn prescribed by the board must be kept with the marijuana or 
marijuana product at all times during transport. 

8.5. During transport, any marijuana or marijuana product will be in a sealed package or container in a locked, safe, 
and secure storage compartment in the vehicle transporting the marijuana or marijuana product, and the sealed 
package will not be opened during transport. 

8.6. Any vehicle transporting marijuana or marijuana product will travel directly from the shipping marijuana 
establishment to the receiving marijuana establishment, and will not make any unnecessary stops in between 
except to deliver or pick up marijuana or marijuana product at any other licensed marijuana establishment. 

8.7. When the marijuana establishment receives marijuana or marijuana product from another licensed marijuana 
establishment, the recipient of the shipment will use the marijuana inventory tracking system to report the type, 
amount, and weight of marijuana or marijuana product received. 

8.8. The marijuana establishment will refuse to accept any shipment of marijuana or marijuana product that is not 
accompanied by the transport manifest. 

Section 9 - Signage and Advertising 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.770. 

Initials 

f[J 

rill 

9.1. Describe any signs that you intend to post on your establishment, including quantity, dimensions, graphics, and location on your 
establishment ( photos or drawings may be attached): 

The Connoisseur Lounge may have up to three signs on the facility, two signs affixed to the building 
and one free standing. The Connoisseur lounge will begin with one sign on the North side of the 
building, which will be a 48"x48" sign and will be attached to the exterior wall. 

[Form MJ-01] (rev 4/3/2019) 

Ucense#27522 
Page9ofll 

167



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 
9.2. Describe any advertising you intend to distribute for your establishment. Include medium types and business logos (photos or 

drawings may be attached): 

The Connoisseur Lounge may utilize the following advertising mediums: 
local Alaska Leaf magazine, trade magazines, radio, temporary banners, flyers and signs, social 
media, lighters, direct text messaging with opt out, clothing items or other items of permissible 
branding, website, business cards, stickers, and/or in collaboration with local and state wide 
retailers. It would reflect the name of the business, address, phone number, email address, and 
license#. 
The Connoisseur Lounge will ensure that all advertisements contain all AMCO regulatory warning 
statements verbatim. 

f unsworn falsification that this form, induding all accompanying schedules and statements · t , 1s rue, correct,

[Form MJ-01] (rev 4/3/2019) 

Ucense 11 27 522 
Page to of U 

168



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan 

[Form MJ-01] (rev 4/3/2019)  Page 11 of 11 
License #___________________ 

(Additional Space as Needed): 

8.1 Continued: Labels will be affixed to the packaging including all information originally
provided by the cultivation or manufacturing facility such as; (1) testing facility and license
number (2) testing date and results (3) name and license number of cultivation facility (4)
name and license number of manufacturing facility if applicable (for concentrates and
products) (5) harvest batch number or production lot number (6) date of packaging (7) net
marijuana weight (8) expiration date if applicable. When receiving product from a transport into
The Connoisseur Lounge, employees will be trained to first inspect product/packaging/quality,
weigh product and then formally accept product into the Metrc inventory tracking system after
confirming the validity of the transportation manifest.

27522
169



170



171



172



173



174



-

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7'" Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov 

What is this form? 

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco 
Alaska Marijuana Control Board Phone: 907.269.0350 

Operating Plan Supplemental 

Form MJ-03: Retail Marijuana Store 

This operating plan supplemental form is required for all applicants seeking a retail marijuana store license and must accompany Form 
MJ-01: Marijuana Establishment Operating Plan, per 3 AAC 306.020(b)(ll). Applicants should review Chapter 306: Article 3 of the 

Alaska Administrative Code. This form will be used to document how an applicant intends to meet the requirements of the statutes 
and regulations. 

If your business has a formal operating plan, you may in dude a copy of that operating plan with your application, but all fields of this 

form must still be completed per 3 AAC 306.020 and 3 AAC 306.315(2). 

What additional information is required for retail stores? 

Applicants must identify how the proposed establishment will comply with applicable regulations regarding the following: 

• Prohibitions

• Signage and advertising

• Displays and sales 

• Exit packaging and labeling

• Security

• Waste disposal

This form must be completed and submitted to AMCO's main office before any new or transfer application for a 
retail marijuana store license will be considered complete. 

Section 1 - Establishment Information 

Enter informabon or e usrness se , 

127522 Licensee: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC I MJ License #:
eking to be licensed as identified on the license application 

License Type: Retail Marijuana Store 
Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 
Premises Address: 226 W Evergreen Avenue, Suite 2 
City: Palmer I State: I Alaska I ZIP: 199645

175



"'.,,,. "'�v, 
$ ,, 

AMCO, Alaska Marijuana Control Board

Form MJ-03: Retail Marijuana Store Operating Plan Supplemental 

Section 2 - Overview of Operations 

2-1- Provide an overview of your proposed facility's operations. Include information regarding the intake and flow of marijuana and
marijuana product at your premises, and a description of what a standard customer visit to your establishment would entail:

Each _shipment of marij_uana and marijuana product that arrives at The Connoisseur Lounge's retail store will be inspected
by a hc_ense� or authorized employee before it is accepted and added to the store's inventory. The shipment will be 
reC?nc1led with the transport manifest, shipment labels and packaging labels to ensure consistency. All product will be 
weighed an� reconciled with the weight listed on the manifest and labels. Any shipments with discrepancies will be 
reiected. Shipments that pass initial inspection will be accepted into the facility, entered into Metre and the point of sale 
software and added to the store's inventory storage or display cases. At the end of each business day, The Connoisseur 
Lounge will reconcile the sale's transactions from the point of sale software with the inventory on hand and with Metre to 
ensure consistency and that any discrepancies are immediately addressed. The licensed premises will consist of a retail 
area (where marijuana transactions will occur) and an office/processing area (restricted to the licensee and employees) 
where bulk marijuana will be stored and packaged. Wholesale transactions will occur in the retail area and then moved to 
the office area. Once packaged in the office area, small amounts of packages will be moved to the retail area prior to 
opening for the day (store will not be open between Sam and 8am). Customers will enter the store and samples will be 
available for inspection on the counter tops. These samples will be in secure containers and tethered to the counter top. 
Packages for sale will be on shelves within the counters and behind locked doors or on shelving located behind the 
cashier. The customer can then purchase the product of their choice with the assistance of an employee (Budtender) who 
will ensure that all sales are within the regulatory limits on quantity sold per transaction and exit packaging requirements. 

Section 3 - Prohibitions 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.310. 

3.1. Describe how you will ensure that the retail marijuana store will not sell, give, distribute, or deliver marijuana or marijuana 
product to a person who is under the influence of an alcoholic beverage, inhalant, or controlled substance: 

The Connoisseur Lounge will not sell, offer to sell, give, distribute, or deliver marijuana or marijuana products to any consumers who 
are:(1) not physically present on the licensed premises; (2) under the influence of alcohol, inhalants or controlled substances (all 
employees will be trained to recognize signs of impairment); or (3) not at least twenty-one (21) years of age at the time of purchase, 
as evidenced by valid government issued photo identification. All customers will enter one main door into our retail store where they will 
be greeted by an employee who will then check their ID. If a person seems to be under the influence, they will not be allowed inside the 
store. 

3.2. I certify that the retail marijuana store will not: 

a. sell, give, distribute, deliver, or offer to sell, give, distribute, or deliver marijuana or marijuana product in a
quantity exceeding the limit set out in 3 AAC 306.355; 

b. sell, give, distribute, deliver, or offer to sell, give, distribute, or deliver marijuana or marijuana product over the 
internet;

C. 
offer or deliver to a oonsumer, as a marketing promotion or for any other reason, free marijuana or marijuana
product, including a sample;

d. offer or deliver to a consumer, as a marketing promotion or for any other reason, alcoholic beverages, free or for
compensation; or

e. allow a person to oonsume marijuana or a marijuana product on the licensed premises.

Answer "Yes" or "No" to the following question: 

Initials 

Yes No 

3.3. Do you plan to request Mure approval of the Marijuana Control Board to permit consumption of marijuana 
or marijuana product in a designated area on the proposed premises? 

□ 

fl'nnn MJ.031 (rev 11/07/2017) 
Page2of6 

•

176



AJVICO 
Alaska Marijuana Control Board

Form MJ-03: Retail Marijuana Store Operating Plan Supplemental

Section 4 - Signage and Advertising 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.360 and 3 AAC 306.365. All licensed retail marijuana stores must meet minimum standards 
for signage and advertising. 

You must be able to certify each statement below. Read the following and then sign your ini tials in the corresponding box: 

4.1. l understand and agree to follow the limitations regarding the number, placement, and size of signs on my proposed 
establishment, set forth in 3 AAC 306.360(a). 

4.2. The retail marijuana store will not use giveaway coupons as promotional materials, or conduct promotional 
activities such as games or competitions to encourage the sale of marijuana or marijuana products. 

4.3. All advertising for marijuana or marijuana product will contain the warnings required under 3 AAC 306.360(e). 

4.4. I understand and agree to post, in a conspicuous location visible to customers, the notification signs required under 
3 AAC 306.365. 

4.5. I certify that no advertisement for marijuana or marijuana product will contain any statement or illustration that: 
a. is false or misleading;

b. promotes excessive consumption; 

c. represents that the use of marijuana has curative or therapeutic effects; 

d. depicts a person under the age of 21 consuming marijuana; or 

e. includes an object or character, including a toy, a cartoon character, or any other depiction designed to 
appeal to a child or other person under the age of 21, that promotes consumption of marijuana. 

4.6. I certify that no advertisement for marijuana or marijuana product will be placed: 
a. within 1,000 feet of the perimeter of any child-centered facility, including a school, childcare facility, or

other facility providing services to children, a playground or recreation center, a public park, a library, or a
game arcade that is open to persons under the age of 21;

b. 

C. 

d. 

e. 

on or in a public transit vehicle or public transit shelter;

on or in a publicly owned or operated property; 

within 1,000 feet of a substance abuse or treatment facility; or 

on a campus for postsecondary education.

Section 5 - Displays and Sales 

Initials 

5_1_ Describe how marijuana and marijuana products at the retail marijuana store will be displayed and sold: 

•· d arijuana products will be displayed and dispensed for sales within t he designat� restricted access area, .All mariJuana an m 
s· e stating "Restricted Access Area: Visitors Must Be Escorted: will be posted at the access points unreachable �o customers. igna� 

na and mari·uana roducts will be displayed in locked, glass display cases/point of sale oounterthat !ead be�1nd
b 

th
h
�

��t�is
�

=�J�:se/point of dale co�nter. Product displays will be in full view of a working video surveilla�ce and tn a coo er e tn e .. .. d t • t r d in the display Marijuana and Marijuana products will be camera system at all times that _marijuana or �an�t:fi
1 
�� t��

n
:

d 

s
a

�: 
regularly monit�red to ensure compliance with the displa� and sec�red in/. locked

d 
c:�� !

1
\ ;�;:�t;t��:!���

d accounted for at all times. Samples of mar(juana strains !or customer in:�c�oncl?sing_ po ,aes, an 
t . 

nd tethered to the counter tops Packaged marijuana for res ale will be on s helving located behtn t e will be 1n secure con a,ners a · . 
cashier or in locked shelving areas ins ide the counter tops. Continued on Page 6. •·

Page3of6 

177



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-03: Retail Marijuana Store Operating Plan Supplemental 

[Form MJ-03] (rev 11/07/2017)  Page 4 of 6 
License #___________________ 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.345. 

6.1. Describe how the retail marijuana store will ensure that marijuana and marijuana products sold on its licensed premises will meet 
the packaging and labeling requirements set forth in 3 AAC 306.345(a): 

6.2. Provide a sample label that the retail marijuana store will use to meet the labeling requirements set forth in 3 AAC 306.345(b): 

Section 6 – Exit Packaging and Labeling 

All shipments arriving at The Connoisseur Lounge will be inspected by a licensee or an authorized employee.
Shipments will be inspected for quality and consistency with the transport manifest and shipment labels and
for regulatory compliance. Labels will be checked for: (1) name and license number of the manufacturing or
cultivation facility; (2) production lot and/or batch number; (3) strain information; (4) strain and batch
information; (5) delivery driver name and handler's card verification; (6) the weight of the products transferred;
and (7) testing information. Once a delivery is approved by a licensee or authorized employee, the inventory
will be accepted into the retail store and entered into Metrc with all mandatory information designated by
AMCO. The shipment information will be both recorded in Metrc and stored on-site as official business
records. Both the transporting agent and a licensee or an authorized employee will sign all paperwork and
documents expressing that all information is deemed correct and the transfer took place. If any of the above
information is missing or inaccurate, a licensee or an authorized employee will refuse the transfer.

27522
178



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-03: Retail Marijuana Store Operating Plan Supplemental 

Section 7 - Security 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.350 and 3 AAC 306. 720. 

7.1. Describe the retail man}uana store's procedures for ensuring a form of valid photographic identification has been produced 

before selling marijuana or marijuana product to a person, as required by 3 MC 306.350(a):

The Connoisseur Lounge will not sell, offer to sell, give. distribute, or deliver marijuana or marijuana products to any consumers who 
are: (1} not physically present on the licensed premises; (2) under the influence of an alcoholic beverage, inhalant, or controlled 
substance; or (3) not at least twenty-one (21) years of age at the time of purchase, as evidenced by a valid, government-issued 
photo identification. Employees of The Connoisseur Lounge will greet customers near the entry of the retail store and check 
identifications. No individual will be allowed to to browse the retail floor without their photo identification being verified. Continued on 
Page 6 ... 

You must be able to certify the statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the box to the right: 

7 .2. The video surveillance and camera recording system for the licensed premises covers each point-of-sale area. 

Section 8 - Waste Disposal 

Review the requirements under 3 AAC 306.740. 

Initials 

8.1. Describe how you will store, manage, and dispose of any marijuana waste, including expired marijuana or marijuana products, 
in compliance with any applicable laws. Include details about the material(s) you will mix with ground marijuana waste and the 
processes that you will use to make the marijuana waste unusable for any purpose for which it was grown or produced: 

The Connoisseur Lounge will be disposing of: (1) marijuana that is identified as contaminated, infected or is otherwise 
rejected for quality; (2) marijuana and marijuana products that reach their expiration date; (3) any other materials or 
containers in contact with marijuana products that risk contamination; (4) any other marijuana or marijuana product 
deemed as waste by the licensees or an authorized employee, MCB, AMCO Enforcement or AMCO Director. 
Marijuana waste will be stored away from all other products in a locked container on the premises, and will be rendered 
unusable prior to leaving the store for disposal. A notice, via email, will be sent to AMCO enforcement not later than 
three days prior to rendering waste unusable. Marijuana waste will be rendered unusable by grinding the materials and 
mixing with other compostable and non-compostable non-marijuana material such as; food waste, cardboard, paper 
and yard waste; until the resulting mixture is no more than fifty percent (50%) marijuana waste. Licensees or an 
authorized employee will maintain a log on the status of all marijuana waste, tracking the type, date of disposal, date it 
was rendered unusable, the reason it's being wasted and the final destination. 

You must be able to certify the statement below. Read the following and then sign your initials in the box to the right: Initials 

8.2. The retail marijuana store shall give the board at least three days written notice required under 3 MC 306.740(c) 
before making marijuana waste unusable and disposing of it. 

I declare under penalty of unsworn fal.sification that this form, including all accompanying schedules and statements, is true, correct, 
and complete. ,,,,11111,,,,, 

,,,,, e'< Ros.,,,.,

Printed name of licensee 

[Form MJ-03) (rev 11/07/2017) 

' �\. ....... ('-✓,: ,,, 
.... , � .··· '•,. r';-"'� 

� �...... ··· ... _\fl-=--:. 
�OTl\f?

;, _ - Notary Public in an i the State of Alaska 
'°UBL\Ci -

\ l 
'1.,...,

\ \fl;·... / , f My commission expires: '1__,, l �L--
., ;1 •• ,• .i,; ' \ 
,.,, ';>-1:····~····•' r,.'? ,,' '1,,1 OF f\\. ,,,' 1l111111111\ y� r\,1f0L L •• , /17\ Subscribed and sworn to before me this day of_\µ.,..,..__�.....:;..:....;..VVO"'-'-'_..;._T __ __,, 20.:......tM,. 

·- 27522
l.bnse# ______ _ 

Pages of 6 

179



Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-03: Retail Marijuana Store Operating Plan Supplemental 

[Form MJ-03] (rev 11/07/2017)  Page 6 of 6 
License #___________________ 

(Additional Space as Needed): 

5.1 Continued: Budtenders will take the customer order and dispense for sales from behind
the counter. Concentrates and edibles will all be pre-packaged and labeled. Flower will be sold
either pre-packaged or "Deli style". "Deli" style flower will be displayed in large glass jars
(behind the point of sale counter) with batch labeled strains. Employees will take customer
orders at the point of sale counter and weigh the flower using a certified scale. Once weighed
to the desired amount, the employee will register the purchase in the POS system which
integrates with Metrc, seal the product into a child-resistant container, and print the packaging
label. The pre-packaged products will be displayed in the glass display cases located within
the restricted access area. The store will also buy bulk marijuana and roll their own pre-roll
marijuana joints and package them in accordance with the regulations and place into
re-labeled mylar bags, j-tubes, joint boxes etc. Any edibles requiring refrigeration will be stored
in a refrigerator behind the point of sale counter in the restricted access area. Employees will
ensure that each marijuana product is in fully opaque and child-resistant packaging before a
customer exits the store with it.

7.1 Continued: Employees will be trained to identify forgeries and inconsistencies of ID's and
will utilize an ID guide to help recognize ID's from other states and countries. A licensee or
authorized employee will be on hand to help manage customer ingress and egress on the
sales floor. If an ID is not in compliance for any reason, the customer will be asked to leave
and law enforcement will be contacted if necessary.

27522
180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



What is this form? 

Alcohol and Marijuana Control Office 
550 W 7th Avenue, Suite 1600 

Anchorage, AK 99501 
marijuana.licensing@alaska.gov

https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/amco
Phone: 907.269.0350 

Alaska Marijuana Control Board 

Form MJ-08: Local Government Notice Affidavit 

A local government notice affidavit is required for all marijuana establishment license applications with a proposed premises that is 
located within a local government, per 3 AAC 306.02S(b)(3). As soon as practical after initiating a marijuana establishment license 
application, an applicant must give notice of the application to the public by submitting a copy of the application to each local 
government and any community council in the area of the proposed licensed premises. For an establishment located inside the 
boundaries of city that is within a borough, both the city and the borough must be notified. 

This form must be completed and submitted to AMCO's main office before any new or transfer license application will be 

considered complete. 

Section 1 - Establishment Information 

Enter information for the business seeking to be licensed, as identified on the license application. 

Licensee: The Connoisseur Lounge, LLC j License Number: I 27522

License Type: Retail Marijuana Store 
Doing Business As: The Connoisseur Lounge 
Premises Address: 226 W. Evergreen Avenue 
City: Palmer j State: j Alaska j ZIP: j99645 

Section 2 - Certification 

I certify that I have met the local government notice requirement set forth under 3 AAC 306.02S(b)(3) by submitting a copy of my 
application to the following local government (LG) official(s) and community council (if applicable): 

Local Government(s): City of Palmer Date Submitted: o912312021

Name/Title of LG Official 1: Norma Alley/City Clerk ----------

Community Council: N/ A Date Submitted: ______ _ 
(Municipality of Anchorage and Matanuska-Susitna Borough only) 

unsworn falsification that this f��\\\IMIUl�til accompanying schedules and statements, is true, correct,
� ��:?.� .. �u � 

� .·,.P "�·.'\"�� 
�<Q�---·rr,miss;0'• •• �_:'� � d � y 

---------� /·� �\
1)

� �\J}l1J lJ..�A 
� 1 NOTARY� ;; Notary Public in and for the State of Alaska 

%-¥--\PUBLIC/ j Mathew Chambers �c.fl...,...,-1... ··•� 
� -1/'!!'_21.�.-1�� Printed name of licensee . . ¾ f" OF .. A\..�S ,#-

Q-.}h r,ft11fti11U1\\\\\\� 
Subscribed and sworn to before me this / J day of UU:1\)TJ:VI 

[Form MJ-08] (rev 01/10/2018) 

l,n" ..&1 (\], ?,,·::-:.rMy commission expires: .... Yl�,+-1:, .... 'Lo�v:+--'d=--I-'+-_._LJ....,_,_ ci.......,..)__,,_ 

,2o_H)_. 

Page 1 of 1 

Lonnie McKenchnie/Borough Clerk Name/Title of LG Official 2: -
5.27.2022

190


	01 2022-06 14 Agenda Regular
	02 AM 22-033 Cooperative Agreement Fire Department (002)
	03 AM 22-0036 Tudor Resignation
	04 ORD 22-003 Leave Cancellation
	06 5.24.22 Draft Minutes
	07 Mayor Report 20220614
	08 Felton Street Traffic Light
	09 Res 22-0019 Governor Dunleavy
	10 AM 22-034 Fred Meyer Package Store License Renewal
	11 AM 22-035 IT Support Services RFP Award
	12 AM 22-037 Connoisseur Lounge



